
 
 

TOWN OF ZEBULON 

JOINT PUBLIC HEARING 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

6:00 PM 

 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

III. NEW BUSINESS 

a. RZ 2024-02 - 1616 Mack Todd Rd: Request from Seth Huntsinger, for a 

rezoning to the Residential Suburban (R2) zoning district from Wake County 

zoning R-40. 

b. RZ 2024-03 – 545 W Barbee St: A request by CSD Engineering on behalf of 

Ralph Rojas, for a rezoning to the Heavy Industrial (HI) zoning district from 

Residential Suburban (R2) zoning. 

c. PD 2024-03 – 1800 Shepards School Rd: A request by Longleaf Law Partners, 

for a rezoning to a Planned Development (PD) zoning district for the use of an 

RV Campground. 

d. TA 2024-05 – Legislative Update Text Amendment Package: A text 

amendment package in response to various updates Chapter 160D of the North 

Carolina General Statue. The updates include changes to the following: 

Triplex/Quadplex Standards, Sewer and Water Connection Requirements, Parking 

Space Size Requirement Reduction, and Addition of Sports Wagering as an 

accessory use. 

 

IV. ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

 

 

Page 1



Page 2



  
STAFF REPORT 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 2024-02 
1616 MACK TODD RD 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 
  

 

Topic:   RZ 2024-02 – 1616 Mack Todd Rd 
Speaker:  Catherine Farrell, Planner II 
From:   Catherine Farrell, Planner II 
Prepared by:  Catherine Farrell, Planner II 
 
Executive Summary: 
The Board of Commissioners will consider a Zoning Map Amendment for 1616 Mack 
Todd Rd (PIN# 1794572709). This is a legislative case. 

 
Background:  
The Applicant, Seth Huntsinger requests rezoning a 2.78-acre parcel from Wake County 
R-40 Zoning District to Residential Suburban (R2) District. The property is located on 
Mack Todd Rd.  
 
The applicant is not proposing any conditions and if approved, all uses permitted within 
the R2-Residential Suburban Zoning District would be permitted at the subject property. 
 
Discussion: 
Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Section 2.2.25.J provides the following standards 
for the Board to base their decision on the rezoning request: 

1. Whether the proposed rezoning advances the public health, safety, or welfare; 
2. Whether, and the extent to which the proposed rezoning is appropriate for its 

proposed location, and is consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and 
policies of the Town’s adopted policy guidance; 

3. Whether an approval of the rezoning is reasonable and in the public interest; 
4. Any other factors as the Board of Commissioners may determine to be relevant. 
 

Policy Analysis:  
Comprehensive Land Use Plan: 
The Future Land Use and Character Map designates the future use of the property as 
Rural Conservation. The RC designation is for scattered residential homesteads(re. Grow 
Zebulon: Comprehensive Land Use Plan (Land Use and Development section pg.11)). 
Primary land use types within this designation include agricultural and residential use 
types. 
 
Unified Development Ordinance: 
The applicant proposes no changes to the site as part of this Zoning Map Amendment. 
Any modifications to the site must adhere to Town regulations in accordance with the 
Unified Development Ordinance.  
 
  

Page 3



  
STAFF REPORT 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 2024-02 
1616 MACK TODD RD 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 
  

 

Financial Analysis: 
Amendment to the zoning map at the requested subject property to R2 will allow for the 
lot to continue to serve as a residential use.  
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends seeking public input during a joint public hearing and referring the 
matter to the Planning Board for recommendation. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Application 
2. Future Land Use Map 
3. Aerial Map 
4. Zoning Map 
5. Labeled Site Photos 
6. Public Hearing Notification Affidavit 
7. Principle Use Table Excerpt 

Page 4



Page 5

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 6

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 7

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 8

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 9

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 10

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 11

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 12

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 13

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 14

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 15

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 16

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 17

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 18

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 19

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 20

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 21

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 22

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 23

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 24

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 25

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 26

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 27

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 28

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 29

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 30

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 31

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 32

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 33

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 34

cfarrell
Stamp



±
Future Land Use

W
en

de
ll

Bl
vd

Old Zebulon Rd
M

ac
k 

To
dd

 R
d

NC CGIA, Maxar, Microsoft

1616 Mack Todd

Parcels

Streets

Zebulon_FutureLandUse
Land Use/Character

Rural Residential (RR)

Suburban Residential (SR)

Industrial Heavy (IH)

0 0.15 0.30.07 Miles

Page 35

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 36



±
Aerial Map

W
en

de
ll

Bl
vd

Old Zebulon Rd
M

ac
k 

To
dd

 R
d

NC CGIA, Maxar, Microsoft

1616 Mack Todd

Parcels

Streets

0 0.15 0.30.07 Miles

Page 37

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 38



±
Zoning Map

W
en

de
ll

Bl
vd

Old Zebulon Rd

M
ac

k 
To

dd
 R

d

NC CGIA, Maxar, Microsoft

1616 Mack Todd

Parcels

Streets

  Zoning Districts
R2, Residential Suburban

HI, Heavy Industrial

MHO, Manufactured Home Overlay

0 0.15 0.30.07 Miles

Page 39

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 40



 

1616 Mack Todd Rd 

Page 41

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 42



Page 43

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 44

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 45

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 46

cfarrell
Stamp



TABLE4.2.3: PRINCIPAL USE TABLE 
A=Allowed (if listed in a PD master plan); P=Permitted subject to applicable use-specific standards; S=Requires 

approval of a special use permit and compliance with applicable use-specific standards; “·”=Prohibited 

USE TYPE 

[1] 

RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL MIXED USE 

U
S
E
-S

P
E
C

IF
IC

 

S
TA

N
D

A
R

D
S
 

[2
] 

R
1
 

R
2
 

R
4
 

R
6
 

R
M

F
 

N
C

 

G
C

 

H
C

 

LI
 

C
I 

H
I 

O
I 

D
TC

 

D
TP

 

P
D

 

RESIDENTIAL USE CLASSIFICATION 

Boarding/ Rooming 

House 
· S S S P P · · · · · S  P A 4.3.3.B 

Bungalow Court · P P P P P · · · · · S · P A 4.3.3.C 

Duplex Dwelling · S S P P P S · · · · P  P A  

Family Care Home P P P P P P P · · · · P  P A 4.3.3.E  

Pocket Neighborhood · P P P P P · · · · · P · P A 4.3.3.N 

Single-family Detached 

Dwelling 
P P P P P P P · · · · P  P A 4.3.3.P 

INSTITUTIONAL USE CLASSIFICATION 

Antenna Collocation, 

Major 
S S S S P P P P P P P P P P A 4.3.4.B 

Antenna Collocation, 

Minor 
P P P P P P P P P P P P P P A  

Arboretum or Formal 

Garden 
P P P P P P P · · · · P P P A  

Cemetery, 

Columbarium, or 

Mausoleum 

· S · · · · S S S · S S · · A 4.3.4.E 

Child Day Care Center · S S S P P P P · · · P P P A 4.3.4.F  

Community Garden P P P P P P · · · · · · · P A  

Fraternal Club or Lodge · S S P P S P P · · · P · S A 4.3.4.J 

Indoor Private 

Recreation 
· P P P P P P · · · · P · P A  

Outdoor Private 

Recreation 
· S S P P P P · · · · P · S A  

Park (public or private) P P P P P P P P P P · P P P A  

Religious Institution · S S P P S P P · · · P · S A 4.3.4.M 

School, Elementary · S S P P S P P · · · P · S A  

School, High/Middle · S · · · S P P · · · P · S A 4.3.4.N 

Small Wireless Facility S S S S P P P P P P P P P P A 
4.3.4.P; 

4.3.4.S 

Temporary Wireless 

Facility 
· S S S S S P P P P P P S S A 

4.3.4.R; 

4.3.4.S 

Utility, Minor P P P P P P P P P P P P P P A 4.3.4.T 

COMMERCIAL USE CLASSIFICATION 

Bed and Breakfast S S S S P P P P · · · P P P A 4.3.5.K 

Page 47

cfarrell
Stamp



TABLE4.2.3: PRINCIPAL USE TABLE 
A=Allowed (if listed in a PD master plan); P=Permitted subject to applicable use-specific standards; S=Requires 

approval of a special use permit and compliance with applicable use-specific standards; “·”=Prohibited 

USE TYPE 

[1] 

RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL MIXED USE 

U
S
E
-S

P
E
C

IF
IC

 

S
TA

N
D

A
R

D
S
 

[2
] 

R
1
 

R
2
 

R
4
 

R
6
 

R
M

F
 

N
C

 

G
C

 

H
C

 

LI
 

C
I 

H
I 

O
I 

D
TC

 

D
TP

 

P
D

 

Golf Course or Driving 

Range 
· S S · · · · P · · · · · · A 

4.3.5.X;  

4.3.5.Y 

INDUSTRIAL USE CLASSIFICATION 

Solar Farm · S · · · · · · S · P · · · A 4.3.6.L  

Wind Energy 

Conversion 
· S · · · · · S S S S · · · A 4.3.6.P 

AGRICULTURAL USE CLASSIFICATION 

Agriculture and 

Horticulture 
P P · · · · · · P · P · · · A 4.3.7.A  

Animal Husbandry P S · · · · · · · · S · · · A 4.3.7.C 

Plant Nursery · S · · · · P P · · · · · · A  

 

Page 48

cfarrell
Stamp



  
STAFF REPORT 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 2024-03 
ROJAS ZEBULON 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 
  

 

Topic:   RZ 2024-03 – Rojas Zebulon 
Speaker:  Catherine Farrell, Planner II 
From:   Catherine Farrell, Planner II 
Prepared by:  Catherine Farrell, Planner II 
 
Executive Summary: 
The Board of Commissioners will consider a Zoning Map Amendment for a portion of 545 
W Barbee St (PIN# 2705108929). This is a legislative case. 

 
Background:  
The Applicant, CDS requests rezoning a 0.341-acre parcel from Residential Suburban 
(R2) District to Heavy Industrial (HI). The property is located on W Barbee St.  
 
The applicant is not proposing any conditions and if approved, all uses permitted within 
the HI-Heavy Industrial Zoning District would be permitted at the subject property. 
 
Discussion: 
Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Section 2.2.25.J provides the following standards 
for the Board to base their decision on the rezoning request: 

1. Whether the proposed rezoning advances the public health, safety, or welfare; 
2. Whether, and the extent to which the proposed rezoning is appropriate for its 

proposed location, and is consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and 
policies of the Town’s adopted policy guidance; 

3. Whether an approval of the rezoning is reasonable and in the public interest; 
4. Any other factors as the Board of Commissioners may determine to be relevant. 
 

Policy Analysis:  
Comprehensive Land Use Plan: 
The Future Land Use and Character Map designates the future use of the property as 
Suburban Residential. The SR designation is for single family residential dwellings and 
subdivisions (re. Grow Zebulon: Comprehensive Land Use Plan (Land Use and 
Development section pg.13)). Primary land use types within this designation include 
residential use types. 
 
Unified Development Ordinance: 
The applicant proposes no changes to the site as part of this Zoning Map Amendment. 
Any modifications to the site must adhere to Town regulations in accordance with the 
Unified Development Ordinance.  
 
  

Page 49



  
STAFF REPORT 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 2024-03 
ROJAS ZEBULON 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 
  

 

Financial Analysis: 
Amendment to the zoning map at the requested subject property to HI will allow for 
industrial uses listed in the UDO to occur. The economic impact can vary depending on 
the use.  
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends seeking public input during a joint public hearing and referring the 
matter to the Planning Board for recommendation. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Application 
2. Future Land Use Map 
3. Aerial Map 
4. Zoning Map 
5. Labeled Site Photos 
6. Public Hearing Notification Affidavit 
7. Principle Use Table Excerpt 

Page 50



Page 51

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 52

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 53

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 54

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 55

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 56

cfarrell
Stamp



Feet

1" = 80'

160800

40

SITE

ZEBULON

64
264

97

96

64

BUS

64

BUS

97

Page 57

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
LITTLE RIVER TOWNSHIP - TOWN OF ZEUBLON, NC 27597

AutoCAD SHX Text
REZONING & ANNEXATION EXHIBIT FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROJAS ZEBULON

AutoCAD SHX Text
545 W. BARBEE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA TO BE REZONED & ANNEXED

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARBEE STREET 60' PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROJOS, RALPH ANTONIO, ONIS E  PIN: 2705108929 ZONING: R2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEARCE, TRACY B BROWN-PEARCE, AMY PIN: 2705018318 ZONING: OI

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAY FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP II PIN: 2705024079 ZONING: MHO

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERTON, ORVILLE WRIGHT JR PIN: 2705017797 ZONING: MHO

AutoCAD SHX Text
GERINGER, STEVEN TRUSTEE THE GERINGER INVESTMENT TRUST PIN: 2705019953 ZONING: HI

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK EAST VENTURES INC PIN: 2705121186 ZONING: HI

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROWN, BRENDA MARILYN PIN: 2705110320 ZONING: R2

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROWN, LINDA SHARON PIN: 2705110636 ZONING: R2

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK EAST VENTURES INC PIN: 2705123506 ZONING: HI

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK EAST VENTURES INC  PIN: 2705126802 ZONING: HI

AutoCAD SHX Text
MR ON TIME CONSTRUCTION INC  PIN: 2705115915 ZONING: HI

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAGE,KATELYN E GAGE, TREVOR A PIN: 2705014532 ZONING: MHO

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROWN, LARRY G  BROWN, MARY J PIN: 1795919652 ZONING: R2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
GONZALEZ,EUSTILIO M  GONZALEZ,ZOSIMA N  PIN: 2705013084 PIN: 2705013084 ZONING: R2

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRADY,WILLIE GLEN TRUSTEE BRADY,JANET SILER TRUSTEE PIN: 2705006819 ZONING: R2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEARCE, AMY BROWN, TRACY B PIN: 2705100745 ZONING: R2

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOSCUE, JULIA MCNABB  PIN: 2705221024 ZONING: R4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROWN, LARRY G  PIN: 2705013435 ZONING: HC

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. BARBEE ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO WENDELL

cfarrell
Stamp



N/F

M R ON TIME CONSTRUCTION, INC

DB 17386 PG 1119

BM 2008 PG 589

LOT 1

PIN# 2705115915

BARN

N/F

RALPH A ROJAS ET AL

DB 17769 PG 385

BM 2010 PG 1006

LOT 3

PIN# 2705108929

N/F

LINDA S BROWN

DB 18067 PG 1530

BM 2010 PG 1006

LOT 1

PIN# 2705110636

N/F

BRENDA M BROWN

DB 14232 PG 2375

BM 2010 PG 1006

LOT 2

PIN# 2705110320

AREA TO BE REZONED (INCLUDING R/W):

17,066 SQ FT / 0.392 AC

AREA TO BE ANNEXED (EXCLUDING R/W):

14,842 SQ FT / 0.341 AC

ANNEXATION AND REZONING MAP

EOSPAIAL

ALLOWAY PLLC

INFORMATICS & SURVEYING
463 SECOND ST - ADYDEN - NC - 28513

252-565-2657 - NC FIRM # P-2153

CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY AND ACCURACY
I CERTIFY THAT THIS MAP WAS DRAWN UNDER MY SUPERVISION FROM AN ACTUAL FIELD

SURVEY UNDER MY SUPERVISION (DEED AND PLAT DESCRIPTIONS AS SHOWN ON THE FACE OF

THIS PLAT); THAT THE BOUNDARIES NOT SURVEYED ARE INDICATED BY DASHED LINES AS

DRAWN FROM INFORMATION AS SHOWN ON THE FACE OF THIS PLAT; THAT THE RATIO OF

PRECISION OR POSITIONAL ACCURACY IS 1:20,000+; THAT THIS PLAT WAS PREPARED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH G.S. 47-30 AS AMENDED.

I, FURTHER, CERTIFY THIS IS A SURVEY OF AN EXISTING PARCEL OR PARCELS OF LAND OR ONE

OR MORE EXISTING EASEMENTS AND DOES NOT CREATE A NEW STREET OR CHANGE AN

EXISTING STREET.  WITNESS MY HAND AND SEAL AS DATED.

   07/31/2024

CALE R. GALLOWAY, PLS #L-5352           DATE

545 WEST BARBEE ST

ZEBULON, NORTH CAROLINA

LITTLE RIVER TOWNSHIP, WAKE COUNTY

RALPH A. & ONIS E. ROJAS

LEGEND

GENERAL NOTES:
1. BASIS OF BEARINGS: NAD 83 (2011), NORTH CAROLINA

STATE PLANE COORDINATES FOR THIS PROJECT WERE

ESTABLISHED BY THE VIRTUAL REFERENCING STATION

(VRS) IN NOVEMBER 2021.  THE INITIAL STATE PLANE

COORDINATES WERE SCALED FROM A CONTROL POINT

HAVING GRID COORDINATES OF N: 752098.83', E:

2201286.05', ELEV: 323.69' AND HAVING A COMBINED GRID

TO GROUND SCALE FACTOR OF 1.00008941.

2. ALL DISTANCES SHOWN HEREON ARE HORIZONTAL

GROUND MEASUREMENTS IN US SURVEY FEET, UNLESS

OTHERWISE NOTED.  AREAS ARE BY COORDINATE

COMPUTATION.

3. REFERENCES ON THE FACE OF THE MAP WERE ACQUIRED

FROM THE WAKE COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS.

4. THE SUBJECT PARCEL SHOWN HEREON LIES IN FLOOD

ZONE X (MINIMAL FLOOD RISK) PER FEMA FIRM PANEL

3720270500J, EFFECTIVE DATE 05/02/2006.

5. THE SUBJECT PARCEL IS UNDER JURISDICTION OF THE

TOWN OF ZEBULON, CURRENTLY ZONED R2 PER WAKE

COUNTY GIS.

6. THE LOCATION OF THE UTILITIES AS SHOWN HEREON HAVE

BEEN COMPILED FROM VISIBLE STRUCTURES . THE

LOCATIONS OF ALL UTILITIES SHALL BE CONSIDERED

APPROXIMATE AND SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE OWNER

PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.   PRIOR TO EXCAVATION,

UNDERGROUND UTILITY LOCATIONS SHOULD BE

REQUESTED BY CALLING THE NORTH CAROLINA 811.

7. THIS SURVEY WAS PERFORMED WITHOUT THE BENEFIT OF

A TITLE REPORT AND IS SUBJECT TO ANY MATTERS A FULL

TITLE SEARCH MAY DISCLOSE.

8. THE SUBJECT AREAS (AS SHOWN ON THE FACE OF THE

MAP) ARE PROPOSED NEW CORPORATE LIMITS TO BE

ANNEXED AND REZONED FROM R2 TO HI, BEING A PORTION

OF THAT PROPERTY IDENTIFIED AS PIN# 2705108929.

Page 58

AutoCAD SHX Text
S Wakefield St

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bullhardt Dr

AutoCAD SHX Text
Westside Cir

AutoCAD SHX Text
W Horton St

AutoCAD SHX Text
W Sycamore St

AutoCAD SHX Text
W Barbee St

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MARKER UTILITY POLE LINE SURVEYED LINE NOT SURVEYED JUDICIAL BOUNDARY OVERHEAD WIRE EXISTING IRON PIPE   EIP EIP EXISTING IRON STAKE  EIS EIS 0.75" SET IRON PIPE FLUSH SIP SIP BELOW GRADE    BG BG ABOVE GRADE    AG AG DEED BOOK    DB DB PAGE      PG PG BOOK OF MAPS    BM BM RIGHT-OF-WAY    R/W R/W NORTHING     N N EASTING     E E 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING: INSIDE CORPORATE LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING:OUTSIDE ZEBULON CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ZONING: ZEBULON R2

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ZONING: ZEBULON HI

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING: INSIDE CORPORATE LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING:OUTSIDE CORPORATE LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ZONING: ZEBULON HI

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ZONING: ZEBULON R2

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING:OUTSIDE ZEBULON CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING: INSIDE CORPORATE LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ZONING: ZEBULON HI

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ZONING: ZEBULON R2

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTERLINE OF ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED: NEW CORPORATE LIMITS &  ZEBULON ZONING HI

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED: NEW CORPORATE LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED: NEW ZEBULON ZONING HI

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED: NEW ZEBULON ZONING HI

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTERLINE OF ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST BARBEE STREET (SR2348) VARIABLE WIDTH PUBLIC R/W BM 2008 PG 589 (50') BM 2010 PG 1006 (60')

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
VICINITY MAP (NOT TO SCALE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASIS OF BEARINGS NC GRID NAD83 (NSRS 2011)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Surveyed By

AutoCAD SHX Text
GFS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Title Search

AutoCAD SHX Text
Survey Date(s)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Field Book

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
GFS02

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOV 2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
20240729

AutoCAD SHX Text
JULY 31, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 OF 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
Proj. ID

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED FOR:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE        DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
--

AutoCAD SHX Text
--

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
200

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE LOCATION:

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-5352

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

cfarrell
Stamp



A LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR THE REZONING OF A PORTION OF PROPERTY LOCATED AT 
545 WEST BARBEE STREET, FURTHER IDENTIFIED AS WAKE COUNTY PIN 2705108929, 
PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN DEED BOOK 17769 PAGE 385, AND SHOWN AS LOT 3 IN BOOK 
OF MAPS 2010 PAGE 1006 IN THE WAKE COUNTY REGISTRY.  THE PORTION OF PROPERTY 
TO BE ANNEXED IS MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
STARTING AT AN EXISTING IRON PIPE HAVING NC GRID COORDINATES (NAD’83/2011 IN 
US SURVEY FEET) OF N:751533.56’ AND E: 2201120.91’ AND BEING THE PLACE AND 
POINT OF BEGINNING; 
THENCE, S 89° 54' 12" W FOR A DISTANCE OF 45.05 FEET TO AN EXISTING IRON PIPE; 
THENCE, N 00° 33' 02" E FOR A DISTANCE OF 133.09 FEET TO A POINT; 
THENCE N 00° 32' 32" E A DISTANCE OF 169.57 FEET TO AN EXISTING IRON PIPE ALONG 
THE WEST BARBEE STREET (SR-2348) VARIABLE WIDTH RIGHT-OF-WAY (R/W); 
THENCE CONTINUING THENCE N 00° 32' 32" E A DISTANCE OF 49.76 FEET TO THE 
CENTERLINE OF SAID STREET; 
THENCE ALONG THE CENTERLINE  N 38° 56' 21" E FOR A DISTANCE OF 71.94 FEET TO A 
POINT; 
THENCE LEAVING SAID CENTERLINE TO A JOG IN THE R/W S 00° 30' 04" W FOR A 
DISTANCE OF 40.21 FEET TO AN EXISTING IRON PIPE; 
THENCE FOLLOWING THE JOG IN THE R/W S 00° 30' 04" W FOR A DISTANCE OF 9.50 FEET 
TO AN EXISTING IRONT STAKE; 
THENCE LEAVING SAID R/W, S 00° 29' 31" W FOR A DISTANCE OF 358.58 FEET TO THE 
PLACE AND POINT OF BEGINNING; 
ENCOMPASSING AN AREA OF 17,066 SQUARE FEET / 0.392 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 
 

Page 59

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 1 of 8

INSTRUCTION PACKET AND AFFIDAVIT FOR
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

GENERAL INFORMATION:
In accordance with Section 2.3.4 of the Unified Development Ordinance, the purpose of the neighborhood 
meeting is to inform landowners and occupants of nearby lands about a development application that is going to 
be reviewed under this Ordinance, and to provide the applicant an opportunity to hear comments and concerns 
about the development proposal prior to the public hearing process. The neighborhood meeting is proposed as a 
means of resolving potential conflicts and outstanding issues with nearby landowners, where possible, in a more 
informal context.

WHEN IS A NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING REQUIRED? 
Conditional Rezonings 
Planned Developments
Site Plans in the Downtown Core or Downtown Periphery Zoning Districts
Special Use Permits; or 
Zoning Map Amendments that establish a more dense or intense zoning district. 

INSTRUCTIONS 
Prior to submitting an application for the applications listed above the applicant must conduct at least one (1) 
Neighborhood Meeting. The applicant shall submit all forms included in this packet with the initial application 
submittal in accordance with Section 2.3.4 of the Town of Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance. 

The Neighborhood Meeting must be held in accordance with the following rules: 
These groups and individuals must be invited to the meeting: 
The applicant is required to notify the Planning Department, all property owners within 750 feet of the 
subject property, and any neighborhood association that represents citizens in the area via first class mail 
a minimum of 10 days in advance of the neighborhood meeting, not including the day of mailing. The 
applicant shall use their own return address on the envelopes as the meeting is a private meeting 
between the applicant and the neighbors. 

The applicant shall include with the meeting notice a vicinity map in addition to either the existing zoning map 
of the area or preliminary plans of the proposed development (see Handout requirements below). 

The meeting must be held within specific timeframes and meet certain requirements: 
The meeting must be held for a minimum of two (2) hours, Monday through Thursday, during the 5:00 
p.m. - 9:00 p.m. time period. The meeting cannot be held on a Town recognized holiday (which coincide 
with the State of North Carolina recognized holidays). 
The meeting shall be held at a place that is generally accessible to neighbors that reside in close 
proximity to the land subject to the application. 
A sign-in sheet must be used in order to verify attendance. Ensure each attendee signs in. Please note if 
any person(s) refuses to sign in. Note if no one attended. 

Town of Zebulon
Planning Department

1003 N. Arendell Avenue, Zebulon, NC  27597
Phone: (919) 823-1810     Fax: (919) 887-2824

www.townofzebulon.org

Page 60

cfarrell
Stamp



INFORMATION PACKET FOR
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

Page 2 of 8

HANDOUT REQUIREMENTS: 
For any process requiring a legislative or quasi-judicial hearing, preliminary plans of the proposed development 
must be available at the meeting to help facilitate discussion. Neighbors may request emailed/mailed copies of 
the maps or plans from the applicant by checking the “send plans” box on the sign-in sheet; applicant shall provide 
reduced copies upon request. 
Printed copies must equal the number of notices required to be sent. 
Contact information for the applicant’s representative must be provided on the attached “Project Contact 
Information” form. 
“Common Construction Issues & Who to Call” sheet (attached) must be included as part of the handout. 
A copy of the handout must be included as part of the Neighborhood Meeting report. 
The agenda of the meeting shall include: 
Explanation of all processes the meeting is being held for (rezoning, subdivision, etc.). 
Explanation of future meetings (additional neighborhood meetings, Planning Board, Board of Commissioners, 
etc.). 
Explanation of development proposal – uses and conditions for rezonings, layout for subdivision and site plans, 
and builder/end user if known/public knowledge. 
Questions or concerns by attendees, and responses by the applicant, if any, must be noted. Provide blank comment 
sheets or notecards for neighbors to submit written comments. The applicant shall also include any questions and 
concerns received via written correspondence (such as email) or phone call along with responses provided by the 
applicant. 
The applicant shall be responsible for notifying any neighbors who check the “Send Plans & Updates” box on the 
sign-in sheet of any additional neighborhood meetings and the actual submittal date to the Town with a link to 
the Town of Zebulon’s Interactive Development Map. 

For accountability purposes, please submit the following with your application: 
A copy of the letter mailed to neighbors and neighborhood organizations (use attached invitation
template);
A list of those persons and neighborhood organizations invited to the meeting;
A copy of the sign-in sheet (use attached sign-in sheet template);
A summary of the meeting and a list of any changes made to the project as a result of the neighborhood
comments (use attached meeting summary template);
The affidavit, signed, dated, and notarized (use attached affidavit template); and
One reduced copy of the maps and/or plans presented to the neighbors at the Neighborhood Meeting.

Page 61

cfarrell
Stamp



INFORMATION PACKET FOR
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

Page 3 of 8

NOTICE OF NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING 
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the 
Town’s website or disclosed to third parties. 

Dear Neighbor:
You are invited to a neighborhood meeting to review and discuss the development proposal at: 

________________________________________________  _________________________________________
(Address)        (Pin Numbers)

in accordance with the Town of Zebulon Neighborhood Meeting procedures. This meeting is intended to be a 
way for the applicant to discuss the project and review the proposed plans with adjacent neighbors and 
neighborhood organizations before the submittal of an application to the Town. This provides neighbors an 
opportunity to raise questions and discuss any concerns about the impacts of the project before it is officially 
submitted. Once an application has been submitted to the Town, it may be tracked using the Interactive 
Development Map located on the Town of Zebulon website at https://www.townofzebulon.org/services/planning. 

A Neighborhood Meeting is requested because this project will include:
□ Conditional Rezoning
□ Planned Unit Development
□ Site Plan within the Downtown Core or Downtown Periphery Zoning Districts
□ Zoning Map Amendment (results in more intensive uses or increased density)
□ Special Use Permit (Quasi-Judicial Hearing)

*Quasi-Judicial Hearing: The Board of Commissioners cannot discuss the project prior to the public hearing.

The following is a description of the proposed (also see attached map(s) and/or plan sheet(s)):
________________________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________________________

Estimated Submittal Date: ___________________________

MEETING INFORMATION: 
Property Owner(s) Name(s) _________________________________________________________________

Applicant(s) _____________________________________________________________________________

Contact Information (e-mail/phone) __________________________________________________________

Meeting Address: _________________________________________________________________________

Date of Meeting: _________________________________________________________________________

Time of Meeting: _________________________________________________________________________

**Meetings shall occur between 5:00 p.m.-9:00 p.m. on a Monday through Thursday (excluding Town recognized holidays). If you have questions 
about the general process for this application, please contact the Planning Department at 919-823-1809. You may also find information about the 
Zebulon Planning Department and on-going planning efforts at https://www.townofzebulon.org/services/planning

545 W. Barbee St, Zebulon, NC 27597 2705108929

The land owner is requesting amendment of the zoning map for a small portion of a larger tract that connects to a public right-of-way and adjoins a heavy

industrial parcel. This small portion is proposed to be combined with said adjoining parcel (PIN: 2705115915) that is within the town's city limits.
The recombination will include dedication of a public right-of-way for a proposed street to access the remaining parcel. The combination of the adjoining

parcel within the city limits with a portion of the subject parcel within R2 zoning will require rezoning of 0.31 acres of the subject parcel to HI zoning.

July 26, 2024

Ralph A. and Onis E. Rojos

Ralph A. and Onis Rojos

mrontimeconstruction@gmail.com/ (919) 754-7086

Zebulon United Methodist Church - 121 W. Gannon Ave, Zebulon, NC 27597

July 24, 2024

6:00pm

✔

Page 62

cfarrell
Stamp



INFORMATION PACKET FOR
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

Page 4 of 8

PROJECT CONTACT INFORMATION
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third 
parties. 

Development Contacts: 
Project Name: Zoning: 
Location: 
Property PIN(s): Acreage/Square Feet: 

Property Owner: 
Address: 
City: State: Zip: 
Phone: Email: 

Developer: 
Address: 
City: State: Zip: 
Phone: Fax: Email: 

Engineer: 
Address: 
City: State: Zip: 
Phone: Fax: Email: 

Builder (if known): 
Address: 
City: State: Zip: 
Phone: Fax: Email: 

Steve Rojos
 Rojas - Zebulon R2

545 W. Barbee St
2705108929 31.27 Ac

Ralph A. and Onis E. Rojas
3008 NC HWY 97

Wendell NC 27591
(919) 754-7086 mrontimeconstruction@gmail.com

Ralph Rojas
1120 Edgemont Rd

Wendell NC 27691
(919) 754-7086 mrontimeconstruction@gmail.com

John F. Oglesby, PE
115 E. Third St

Wendell NC 27591
(919) 624-0997 john@csd-engineering.com

Page 63

cfarrell
Stamp



INFORMATION PACKET FOR
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

Page 5 of 8

PROVIDING INPUT TO THE PLANNING BOARD OR BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS: 
Each Board of Commissioners meeting agenda includes a Public Forum time when anyone is permitted to speak 
for three (3) minutes on any topic with the exception of items listed as Public Hearings for that meeting. The 
Board of Commissioners meets on the 1st Monday of each month at 7:00 p.m. and Joint Public Hearings are 
scheduled for the 2nd Monday of every Month. (except for holidays, see schedule of meetings at 
https://www.townofzebulon.org/agendas-minutes. You may also contact Board of Commissioners at 
https://www.townofzebulon.org/government/board-commissioners. 

PRIVATE AGREEMENTS AND EASEMENT NEGOTIATION: 
The Town of Zebulon cannot enforce private agreements between developers and neighbors and is not a party 
to the easement and right-of-way negotiation that occurs between developers and neighboring property owners 
for easements or rights-of-way that are necessary to build the project.  

It is recommended that all private agreements be made in writing and that if a property owner feels it necessary, 
they should obtain private legal counsel in order to protect their interests in both private agreements and during 
easement negotiations. The only conditions that the Town of Zebulon can enforce are those conditions that are 
made a part of the conditional zoning of the property by agreement of the developer and the Town. 
As an example, if a developer offers to build a fence for a neighbor to mitigate some impact, the Town can only 
enforce the construction of the fence if the fence becomes a condition of the rezoning. This would occur by the 
developer offering the condition as part of their conditional zoning application package or at the Joint Public 
Hearing on the conditional zoning and the Town accepting it as a condition. Private agreements regarding a 
fence being constructed will not be enforced by the Town. 

To request that any agreement with a developer is made a part of the conditional zoning at the time of approval, 
you may ask at the public hearing if the agreement is included in the conditions. If it is not, you may request that 
the Board of Commissioners not approve the rezoning without the agreement being included in the conditions 
(note that it is up to Board of Commissioners whether to approve or deny the rezoning but they cannot impose 
conditions that the applicant does not agree to add). The developer’s proposed conditions can be viewed any time 
after a rezoning is submitted on the Town of Zebulon Interactive Development Map which can be found at:
https://www.townofzebulon.org/services/planning/whats-coming-zebulon. 

DOCUMENTATION: 
Neighbors to a requested new development and/or rezoning are strongly encouraged to fully document (such as 
through dated photographs) the condition of their property before any work is initiated for the new development. 
Stormwater controls installed on developed property are not designed to and will likely not remove 100% of the 
soil particles transported by stormwater runoff. As a result, creeks and ponds could become cloudy for a period 
of time after rain events.

Page 64

cfarrell
Stamp



INFORMATION PACKET FOR
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

Page 6 of 8

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING SIGN-IN SHEET:
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third 
parties.

Project Name: ____________________________________________________________________________________

Meeting Address: _________________________________________________________________________________

Date of Meeting: __________________________________________________      Time of Meeting: ____________  

Property Owner(s) Names: _________________________________________________________________________

Applicants: _______________________________________________________________________________________

Please print your name below, state your address and/or affiliation with a neighborhood group, and provide your phone 
number and email address. Providing your name below does not represent support or opposition to the project; it is for 
documentation purposes only.

Name/ Organization Address Phone# E-mail
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
Attach Additional Sheets If Necessary. 

Rojas Zebulon
121 W. Gannon Ave, Zebulon, NC 27597

July 24, 2024 6:00pm
Ralph A. and Onis E. Rojos

Ralph A. and Onis E. Rojos

John Oglesby / CSD Eng 115 E. Third Street, Wendell 919-624-0997 john@csd-engineering.com
Robert Sanders / CSD Eng 115 E. Third Street, Wendell 919-414-2705 robert@csd-engineering.com

Page 65

cfarrell
Stamp



INFORMATION PACKET FOR
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

Page 7 of 8

SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION FROM THE NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING 
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third 
parties.
Project Name: ____________________________________________________________________________________

Meeting Address: _________________________________________________________________________________

Date of Meeting: __________________________________________________      Time of Meeting: ____________  

Property Owner(s) Names: _________________________________________________________________________

Applicants: _______________________________________________________________________________________

Please summarize the questions/comments and your response from the Neighborhood Meeting in the spaces below (attach 
additional sheets, if necessary). Please state if/how the project has been modified in response to any concerns. The response
should not be “Noted” or “No Response”. There has to be documentation of what consideration the neighbor’s concern was 
given and justification for why no change was deemed warranted.

Question/ Concern #1 _____________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

Applicant Response: ______________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

Question/ Concern #2 ______________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

Applicant Response: ______________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

Question/ Concern #3 ______________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

Applicant Response: ______________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

Question/ Concern #4 ______________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

Applicant Response: ______________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________

Rojas Zebulon
121 W. Gannon Ave, Zebulon, NC 27597

July 24, 2024 6:00pm
Ralph A. and Onis E. Rojos

Ralph A. and Onis E. Rojos

See summary

Page 66

cfarrell
Stamp



Summary of Neighborhood Meeting 
Project Name: Rojas Zebulon 

Meeting Address: 121 W. Gannon Avenue, Zebulon, NC 27597 

Date of Meeting: July 24, 2024 

Time of Meeting: 6:00 PM 

Property Owners/Applicants: Ralph A. & Onis E. Rojas 

Summary 
The meeting was held on the day and time listed above in the Fellowship Hall of The Zebulon United 
Methodist Church. John F. Oglesby of CSD Engineering (the Consultant) and Robert B. Sanders of 
CSD Engineering organized and were present at the meeting. The Neighborhood Meeting notices 
were mailed on July 12, 2024. None of the property owners listed on the certified list attended the 
meeting. The applicant’s project manager, Steve Rojas, was contacted by the Consultant to let him 
know that the meeting was conducted and that none of the neighbors attended. Mr. Rojas stated 
that he was contacted by phone by some of the neighbors prior to the meeting to ask what he was 
doing to the property. He told them that only a small portion of the property would be rezoned to 
allow for better access to the property owned by Mr. On Time Construction. Mr. Rojas told his 
neighbors that he planned to build a shop and o ice on the adjacent property but had no 
immediate plans to develop the subject property. Mr. Rojas stated that none of the neighbors that 
called him were against the rezoning. 

Page 67

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 68

cfarrell
Stamp



±
Future Land Use

W Barb
ee 

St

Si
r D

avi
d

Dr

W
es

ts
id

e
Ci

r

Westside
Cir

Westsid
e Cir

W
estside

C
ir

West
side C

ir

M
os

s 
R
d Bu

llh
ar

dt
Dr

NC CGIA, Maxar, Microsoft

545 W Barbee St

Parcels

Streets

Zebulon_FutureLandUse
Land Use/Character

Suburban Residential (SR)

General Residential (GR)

Urban Residential (UR)

Industrial Light (IL)

Industrial Heavy (IH)

0 0.1 0.20.05 Miles

Page 69

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 70



±
Aerial Map

W Barb
ee 

St

Si
r D

avi
d

Dr

W
es

ts
id

e
Ci

r

Westside
Cir

Westsid
e Cir

W
estside

C
ir

West
side C

ir

M
os

s 
R
d Bu

llh
ar

dt
Dr

NC CGIA, Maxar, Microsoft

545 W Barbee St

Parcels

Streets

0 0.1 0.20.05 Miles

Page 71

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 72



±
Zoning Map

W
 B

ar
be

e 
St

Si
r D

avi
d

Dr

W
es

ts
id

e
Ci

r

Westside
Cir

Westsid
e Cir

W
estside

C
ir

West
side C

ir

M
os

s 
R
d Bu

llh
ar

dt
Dr

NC CGIA, Maxar, Microsoft

545 W Barbee St

Parcels

Streets

  Zoning Districts
R2, Residential Suburban

R4, Residential Neighborhood

R6, Residential Urban

HC, Heavy Commercial

LI, Light Industrial

HI, Heavy Industrial

OI, Office and Institutional

MHO, Manufactured Home Overlay

0 0.1 0.20.05 Miles

Page 73

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 74



 

545 W Barbee St 

Page 75

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 76



Page 77

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 78

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 79

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 80

cfarrell
Stamp



PRINCIPAL USE TABLE 

TABLE4.2.3: PRINCIPAL USE TABLE 
A=Allowed (if listed in a PD master plan); P=Permitted subject to applicable use-specific standards; S=Requires 

approval of a special use permit and compliance with applicable use-specific standards; “·”=Prohibited 

USE TYPE 

[1] 

RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL MIXED USE 

U
S
E
-S

P
E
C

IF
IC

 

S
TA

N
D

A
R

D
S
 

[2
] 

R
1
 

R
2
 

R
4
 

R
6
 

R
M

F
 

N
C

 

G
C

 

H
C

 

LI
 

C
I 

H
I 

O
I 

D
TC

 

D
TP

 

P
D

 

RESIDENTIAL USE CLASSIFICATION 

INSTITUTIONAL USE CLASSIFICATION 

Airport & Related 

Facilities 
· · · · · · · · S S S · · · A  

Antenna Collocation, 

Major 
S S S S P P P P P P P P P P A 4.3.4.B 

Antenna Collocation, 

Minor 
P P P P P P P P P P P P P P A  

Cemetery, 

Columbarium, or 

Mausoleum 

· S · · · · S S S · S S · · A 4.3.4.E 

Fire/EMS/Police 

Station 
· · · P P P P P P P P P P P A  

Government 

Maintenance, 

Storage, Distribution 

· · · · · · · P P P P · · · ·  

Helicopter Landing 

Pad 
· · · · · · · · P P P S · · A 4.3.4.K 

Passenger Terminal · · · · · P P P P P P P P P A  

School, Vocational · · · · · · · P P P P P · P A 4.3.4.O 

Small Wireless Facility S S S S P P P P P P P P P P A 
4.3.4.P; 

4.3.4.S 

Telecommunications 

Tower, Major 
· · · · · · · S S · P · · · · 

4.3.4.Q; 

4.3.4.S 

Telecommunications 

Tower, Minor or 

Concealed 

· · S S S S S S P P P S · · A 
4.3.4.Q; 

4.3.4.S 

Temporary Wireless 

Facility 
· S S S S S P P P P P P S S A 

4.3.4.R; 

4.3.4.S 

Utility, Major · · · · · · P P P P P P · P A 4.3.4.T 

Utility, Minor P P P P P P P P P P P P P P A 4.3.4.T 

COMMERCIAL USE CLASSIFICATION 

Aircraft Parts, Sales, 

and Maintenance 
· · · · · · · · P P P · · · A  

Animal Day Care / 

Grooming 
· · · · · P P P P · P · · P A 4.3.5.B 

Animal Shelter · · · · · · · · S · S · · · · 4.3.5.C 

Auction House · · · · · · P P P · P · · P A  

Page 81

file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Antenna_Collocation_(Major
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Cemetery,_Columbarium,_or
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Helicopter_Landing_Pad
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_School,_Vocational
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Small_Wireless_Facility
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Wireless_Telecommunication_Faciliti
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Telecommunications_Tower,_Major,
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Wireless_Telecommunication_Faciliti
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Telecommunications_Tower,_Major,
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Wireless_Telecommunication_Faciliti
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Temporary_Wireless_Facility
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Wireless_Telecommunication_Faciliti
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Utilities
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Utilities
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Animal_Day_Care/Grooming
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Animal_Shelter
cfarrell
Stamp



TABLE4.2.3: PRINCIPAL USE TABLE 
A=Allowed (if listed in a PD master plan); P=Permitted subject to applicable use-specific standards; S=Requires 

approval of a special use permit and compliance with applicable use-specific standards; “·”=Prohibited 

USE TYPE 

[1] 

RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL MIXED USE 

U
S
E
-S

P
E
C

IF
IC

 

S
TA

N
D

A
R

D
S
 

[2
] 

R
1
 

R
2
 

R
4
 

R
6
 

R
M

F
 

N
C

 

G
C

 

H
C

 

LI
 

C
I 

H
I 

O
I 

D
TC

 

D
TP

 

P
D

 

Automotive Repair 

and Servicing 

(without painting/ 

bodywork) 

· · · · · · P P P · P · · S · 4.3.5.F 

Automotive Sales 

and Rentals 
· · · · · · P P P · P · · P A 4.3.5.G 

Automotive 

Painting/Body Shop 
· · · · · · · P P · P · · · · 4.3.5.H 

Automotive Wrecker 

Yard 
· · · · · · · · P · P · · · · 4.3.5.I 

Boat and Marine 

Rental, Sales, and 

Service 

· · · · · · P P P · P · · · A  

Catering 

Establishment 
· · · · · · P P P · P · P P A  

Crematorium · · · · · · · S S · S · · · ·  

Equipment and Tool 

Rental 
· · · · · · · P P · P · · · A  

Fairgrounds · · · · · · · S S · S · · · ·  

Heavy Equipment, 

Sales, Rental, and 

Repair 

· · · · · · · · P · P · · · A 4.3.5.AA 

Microbrewery, 

Microwinery, or 

Microdistillery 

· · · · · S P P P · P · P P A 4.3.5.DD 

Outdoor Commercial 

Recreation 
· · · · · · · P S · S · · · A 4.3.5.FF 

Outdoor Storage · · · · · · · · P · P · · · · 4.3.5.GG  

Park and Ride Facility · · · · P P P P P P P P P P A  

Parking Lot · · · · P P P P P P P P P P A 4.3.5.HH 

Parking Structure · · · · S S P P P P P P P P A 4.3.5.II 

Racetrack · · · · · · · · S · S · · · ·  

Recreational Vehicle 

Park 
· · · · S · · · S · S · · · A 4.3.5.LL 

Self Service Storage, 

External Access Only 
· · · · · · · S P · P · · · A 4.3.5.QQ 

Self Service Storage, 

Internal Access Only 
· · · · · · S S P · P · · P A 4.3.5.QQ 

Truck Stop · · · · · · · P P · P · · · · 4.3.5.TT 

INDUSTRIAL USE CLASSIFICATION 

Asphalt or Concrete 

Plant 
· · · · · · · · S · S · · · · 4.3.6.A  

Page 82

file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Automotive_Repair_and
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Automotive_Sales_or
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Automotive_Painting/Body_Shop
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Automotive_Wrecker_Yard
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Heavy_Equipment_Sales,
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Microbrewery,_Microwinery,_or
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Outdoor_Commercial_Recreation
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Outdoor_Storage
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Parking_Lot
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Parking_Structure
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Recreational_Vehicle_Park
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Self_Service_Storage,
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Self_Service_Storage,
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Truck_Stop
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Asphalt_or_Concrete
cfarrell
Stamp



TABLE4.2.3: PRINCIPAL USE TABLE 
A=Allowed (if listed in a PD master plan); P=Permitted subject to applicable use-specific standards; S=Requires 

approval of a special use permit and compliance with applicable use-specific standards; “·”=Prohibited 

USE TYPE 

[1] 

RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL MIXED USE 

U
S
E
-S

P
E
C

IF
IC

 

S
TA

N
D

A
R

D
S
 

[2
] 

R
1
 

R
2
 

R
4
 

R
6
 

R
M

F
 

N
C

 

G
C

 

H
C

 

LI
 

C
I 

H
I 

O
I 

D
TC

 

D
TP

 

P
D

 

Contractor 

Services/Yard 
· · · · · · · P P · P · · · · 4.3.6.B 

Electrical, Plastic, or 

Plumbing Fabrication 
· · · · · · · · P · P · · · ·  

Extractive Industry · · · · · · · · S · S · · · · 4.3.6.C 

Flex Space · · · · · · · P P P P · · P A 4.3.6.D 

Fuel Oil/Bottled Gas 

Distributor 
· · · · · · · · · · S · · · · 4.3.6.E  

Gas Energy 

Conversion 
· · · · · · · · · · S · · · ·  

General Industrial 

Services 
· · · · · · · S P P P · · S A  

Landfill · · · · · · · · · · S · · · · 4.3.6.F 

Makerspace  · · · · · P P P P P · P P A 4.3.6.G 

Manufacturing, 

Heavy 
· · · · · · · · S S P · · · · 4.3.6.H 

Manufacturing, Light · · · · · · · · P P P · · · A 4.3.6.H 

Metal Fabrication · · · · · · · · P P P · · · A  

Public Convenience 

Center/Transfer 

Station 

· · · · · · · · P · P · · · · 4.3.6.I 

Recycling Center · · · · · · · S P · P · · S A 4.3.6.J 

Research and 

Development 
· · · · · · · S P P P S · P A  

Salvage or Junkyard · · · · · · · · S · S · · · · 4.3.6.K 

Solar Farm · S · · · · · · S · P · · · A 4.3.6.L  

Truck or Freight 

Terminal 
· · · · · · · · S P P · · · A 4.3.6.M 

Warehouse, 

Distribution 
· · · · · · · · P P P · · · A 4.3.6.N 

Warehouse, Storage · · · · · · · · P P P · · P A 4.3.6.N 

Waste Composting · · · · · · · · S · S · · · ·  

Wholesale Sales · · · · · · · P P P P · · · A 4.3.6.O 

Wind Energy 

Conversion 
· S · · · · · S S S S · · · A 4.3.6.P 

AGRICULTURAL USE CLASSIFICATION 

Agriculture and 

Horticulture 
P P · · · · · · P · P · · · A 4.3.7.A  

Agricultural Support 

Services 
· · · · · · P P P · P · · · A 4.3.7.B 

Page 83

file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Contractor_Services/Yard
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Extractive_Industry
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Flex_Space
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Fuel_Oil/Bottled_Gas
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Landfill
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Makerspace
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Manufacturing
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Manufacturing
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Public_Convenience_Center/Transfer
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Recycling_Center
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Salvage_or_Junkyard
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Solar_Farm
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Truck_or_Freight
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Warehouse,_Distribution_or
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Warehouse,_Distribution_or
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Wholesale_Sales
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Wind_Energy_Conversion
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Agriculture_and_Horticulture
file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Agricultural_Support_Services
cfarrell
Stamp



TABLE4.2.3: PRINCIPAL USE TABLE 
A=Allowed (if listed in a PD master plan); P=Permitted subject to applicable use-specific standards; S=Requires 

approval of a special use permit and compliance with applicable use-specific standards; “·”=Prohibited 

USE TYPE 

[1] 

RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL MIXED USE 

U
S
E
-S

P
E
C

IF
IC

 

S
TA

N
D

A
R

D
S
 

[2
] 

R
1
 

R
2
 

R
4
 

R
6
 

R
M

F
 

N
C

 

G
C

 

H
C

 

LI
 

C
I 

H
I 

O
I 

D
TC

 

D
TP

 

P
D

 

Animal Husbandry P S · · · · · · · · S · · · A 4.3.7.C 

NOTES: 

[1] Some use types may be further limited in allowable zoning districts or may require a different 

procedure for establishment in accordance with Section 4.7, Prohibited Uses, or Section 3.8 Overlay 

Zoning Districts. 
[2] Uses are defined in Article 9, Measurement and Definitions. 

[3] Manufactured housing is only permitted on lots in the manufactured home overlay district. 

 

Page 84

file://///10.7.1.254/Planning/Planning_Department/LONG%20RANGE%20PLANNING/Unified%20Development%20Ordinance_UDO/2020%20UDO%20SAVE%20FILE/Chapters/Article%204%20Uses%2009.11.2023.docx%23_Animal_Husbandry
cfarrell
Stamp



  
STAFF REPORT 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 2024-02 
1800 SHEPARDS SCHOOL RD 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 
  

 

 

Topic:   PD 2024-03 1800 Shepards School Rd, Project Number: 
1292362 
Speaker:  Catherine Farrell CZO, Planner II 
From:   Catherine Farrell CZO, Planner II 
Prepared by:  Catherine Farrell CZO, Planner II 
 
Executive Summary: 
The Board of Commissioners will consider a Planned Development Rezoning for 1800 
Shepards School Rd (PIN# 2706337118). This is a legislative case. 

 
Background:  
The Town received a Planned Development request to develop a recreational vehicle 
park and campsite on 35.4 acres. The land is owned by Roger Honbarrier and is currently 
in the Town of Zebulon ETJ, and zoned R-2. 
 
Discussion: 
The Board shall consider the following questions to determine whether the rezoning is 
consistent with the intent  of the Unified Development Ordinance (Section 2.2.24.J): 

1.  Does the request advance the public health, safety, or welfare? 
2.  Is the request appropriate for its proposed location, and is consistent with the 

purposes, goals, objectives, and Town’s policies? 
3.  Is the request reasonable and in the public interest? 
4. Are there other factors which the Board of Commissioners determines relevant?   

 
Policy Analysis:  
Grow Zebulon: Comprehensive Land Use Plan (Land Use Plan): 
The Land Use Plan (adopted June 2021) designated this area “Suburban Residential”. 
This designations allow a mixture of product types, with increased open space to preserve 
an overall suburban character (Land Use and Development Page 13 & 14, Attached). The 
development does not align with the Future Land Use for the site.  
 
Grow Zebulon: Comprehensive Transportation Plan (Transportation Plan): 
The Transportation Plan calls for the construction of a 4-lane median divided arterial road 
section along Shepards School Rd. The development plans satisfy the requirements.  
 
Play Zebulon: Parks and Recreation Master Plan (Park Master Plan): 
The Park Master Plan does identify a greenways in this general vicinity. The applicant 
has proposed the addition of the greenway through the site as well as a trail head.  
 
Unified Development Ordinance (UDO): 
The UDO (Section 2.2.13) allows  flexibility from some standards in exchange  for a higher 
quality development more aggressively accomplishing other goals. The applicant has 
complied or gone above an beyond with most parts of the UDO. The applicant is not 
proposing the continuation of Logan Canyon Ln and Logan Creek Dr which currently stub 
to the property. This is inconsistent with section 6.10.7.H Street Connectivity of the UDO.  

Page 85

cfarrell
Rectangle

cfarrell
Text Box
3



  
STAFF REPORT 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 2024-02 
1800 SHEPARDS SCHOOL RD 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 
  

 

Fiscal Analysis: 
When complete, this development will have an economic impact as this is a new 
commercial use for a site that is currently as residential lot.  
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends accepting public comment and referring the matter to the Planning 
Board for consideration. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Application 
2. Site Plan 
3. Planned Development Narrative 
4. Utility Allocation Worksheet 
5. Traffic Count Letter 
6. Future Land Use and Character Map 
7. Aerial Map 
8. Zoning Map 
9. Site Pictures 
10. Public Hearing Notice Affidavit 
11. UDO Section 3.5.5 Planned Development  
12. Comprehensive Land Use Plan (Excerpts) 
13. Comprehensive Transportation Plan (Excerpts) 
 

Page 86

cfarrell
Rectangle

cfarrell
Text Box
3



Page 1 of 10 
 

 

 
 
 
 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION 
 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION: 
A Planned Development in accordance with Section 2.2.15 and 3.5.5 of the UDO is intended to provide flexibility 
by establishing site specific regulations including permitted uses, dimensional standards, phasing schedules and 
additional details to allow for a development that is better than what would otherwise be permitted under the strict 
interpretation of the UDO. All site-specific standards and conditions must be consistent with the objectives of 
these regulations, the adopted Comprehensive Land Use Plan, Transportation Plan, and Vision 2030 Strategic 
Plan. The review process established in this part provides for the accommodation of such uses by a reclassification 
of property into a Planned Development, subject to site-specific standards and conditions.  
 

INSTRUCTIONS: 
PRE-APPLICATION MEETING: A pre-application meeting with staff in accordance with Section 2.3.2 of 
the UDO to verify the application requirements, processes, and procedures regarding a proposed request.  To 
schedule a meeting, applicants must e-mail a pdf map, drawing, model, site or sketch plan to the Planning 
Department (Planning@townofzebulon.org) no later than five (5) working days prior to the desired meeting day. 
 

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING: Neighborhood meetings are required in accordance with Section 2.3.4 of 
the UDO prior to application submission. The applicant is required to notify property owners and any 
neighborhood association that represents citizens within that area within 750 feet of the subject property via first 
class mail a minimum of 10 days in advance of the neighborhood meeting. The applicant shall use their own 
return address on the envelopes as the meeting is a private meeting between the developer and the neighbors. The 
applicant shall submit the “Certified List of Property Owners” and “Neighborhood Meeting Packet” forms 
included in this application packet with their initial submittal.   
 

ANNEXATION REQUIREMENTS: If a property or portion thereof subject to this rezoning is outside the 
corporate limits and ETJ, an annexation petition is required to be submitted on the same day as this application 
in accordance with section 2.2.2 of the UDO.  
  

Town of Zebulon 
 

Planning Department 
 

1003 N. Arendell Avenue, Zebulon, NC  27597 
Phone: (919) 823-1810     Fax: (919) 887-2824 

www.townofzebulon.org 

Page 87

mailto:Planning@townofzebulon.org
cfarrell
Stamp



APPLICATION FOR 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

Page 2 of 10 
 

 
 

APPLICATION PROCEDURE – The applicant requesting a Planned Development must submit an 
application through the Town of Zebulon GeoCivix Web Portal. As noted below some materials must be brought 
in person to the Zebulon Planning Department to complete the application process. Access to GeoCivix can be 
found on the Town of Zebulon Website or through this link (https://townofzebulon.geocivix.com/secure/)  

• Materials to Submit through the Town of 
Zebulon GeoCivix Web Portal: 
o Completed Application Form 
o PDF Plan Set (See site plan checklist 
o Comprehensive Planned Development 

Document  
o One (1) Legal Description (metes and 

bounds) of subject property 
o Registered survey of subject property 
o Certified List of Property Owners within 

750 feet of subject property  
o Owner’s Consent Form  
o Neighborhood Meeting Packet  
o Utility Allocation Checklist  

Materials to Submit in Person with the Town 
of Zebulon Planning Department: 

o Stamped envelopes addressed to Certified 
List of Property Owners all the 
homeowners associations of those 
properties within 750 feet of the outer 
boundary subject property or properties. 
Affixed with the following return address: 

Town of Zebulon 
Planning Department 
1003 N. Arendell Ave 
Zebulon, NC 27597 

o Petition Fee (Please See Fee Schedule) 
(Can be paid online but applicants must let 
Planning Staff know prior to paying) 

 
PUBLIC HEARING PROCEDURE – Upon submittal of a complete application, the Planning Department 
will schedule the application for a joint public hearing before the Planning Board and the Board of 
Commissioners.  APPLICANTS ARE STRONGLY ENCOURAGED TO CONTACT PLANNING STAFF AS 
SOON AS POSSIBLE TO ADDRESS ANY QUESTIONS ABOUT THE PUBLIC HEARING.  Notices of the 
public hearing will be mailed to all adjacent property owners of the property being considered for a Planned 
Development Amendment.  At the public hearing, the applicant, proponents, and opponents will be given the 
opportunity to offer evidence in favor of or against the proposal.  After completion of the public hearing, the 
Planning Board will deliberate and forward its recommendation to the Board of Commissioners for final 
consideration.  Deadline dates and Joint Public Hearing dates can be found on the Town of Zebulon’s website. 
 
  

Page 88

https://townofzebulon.geocivix.com/secure/
cfarrell
Stamp



APPLICATION FOR 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

Page 3 of 10 
 

 
 

PART 1. DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST/PROPERTY 
Street Address of the Property:   

 
Acreage:     

              
Parcel Identification Number (NC PIN):   Deed Book:     Deed Page(s):     

                    
Existing Zoning of the Property: 

 
Proposed Zoning of the Property: 

    
  

                    
Existing Use of the Property: Proposed Use of the Property: 

Reason for rezoning to a Planned Unit Development:   

 

PART 2. APPLICANT/AGENT INFORMATION 
Name of Applicant/Agent:                 

                    
Street Address of Applicant/Agent: 

      
  

                    
City: 

   
State: 

 
  Zip Code: 

 
  

                    

Email of Applicant/Agent: 
  

Telephone Number of Applicant/Agent: Fax Number of Applicant/Agent: 
  

                 

Are you the owner of the property? Are you the owner's agent? Note:  If you are not the owner of the property, you must obtain the 

□ Yes □ No □ Yes □ No 
Owner's consent and signature giving you permission to submit this 
application. 

          

PART 3. PROPERTY OWNER INFORMATION 
Name of Property Owner:                 

                    
Street Address of Property Owner:       

 
      

                    
City: 

   
State: 

 
  Zip Code: 

 
  

                    

Email of Property Owner: 
  

Telephone Number of Property Owner: 
  

Fax Number of Property Owner: 
  

                    

I hereby state that the facts related in this application and any documents submitted herewith are complete, true, 
correct, and accurate to the best of my knowledge. 

Signature of Applicant:   Print Name:    Date:   
              

                    

Signature of Owner:   Print Name:    Date:   
              

                    

 

Page 89

cfarrell
Stamp



APPLICATION FOR 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

Page 4 of 10 
 

LEGISLATIVE CONSIDERATIONS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT  
The applicant shall propose site-specific standards and conditions that take into account the following considerations, which 
are considerations that are relevant to the legislative determination of whether or not the proposed planned development is 
in the public interest. Therese considerations do not exclude the legislative consideration of any other factor that is relevant 
to the public interest. Failure to adequately address the findings below may result in denial of the application. Please provide 
responses to the following standards as outlined in Section 2.2.15 of the Unified Development Ordinance.  
 
1. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Development advances the public health, safety, or welfare 

 

2. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Development is appropriate for its proposed location, and is consistent with 
the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies of the Town’s adopted policy guidance. 

 

3. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Development is reasonable and in the public interest. 

 

4. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development provides for innovative land planning and site design 
concepts that support a high quality of life and achieve a high quality of development, environmental sensitivity, energy 
efficiency, and other Town goals and objectives. 

 

5. Please provide details on how the proposed planned unit development provides improved means of access, open space, and 
design amenities;  

 

Page 90

cfarrell
Stamp



APPLICATION FOR 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

Page 5 of 10 
 

6. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development provides a well-integrated mix of residential and 
nonresidential land uses in the same development, including a mix of housing types, lot sizes, and densities; 

 

7. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development creates a system of incentives for redevelopment and 
infill in order to revitalize established areas; 

 

8. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development promotes a vibrant public realm by placing increased 
emphasis on active ground floor uses, pedestrian-oriented building façade design, intensive use of sidewalks, and establishment 
of public gathering areas; 

 

9. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development provides for efficient use of land resulting in smaller 
networks of utilities and streets and thereby lowering development and housing costs; and 

 

10. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development provides quality design and environmentally sensitive 
development that respects surrounding established land use character and respects and takes advantage of a site’s natural and 
man-made features, such as trees, estuaries, shorelines, special flood hazard area, and historic features. 

 

11. Other factors as the Board of Commissioners may determine to be relevant. 

 

  
Page 91

cfarrell
Stamp



APPLICATION FOR 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

Page 6 of 10 
 

OWNER’S CONSENT FORM 
 

Name of Project: _________________________________ Submittal Date: _______________ 
 
OWNER’S AUTHORIZATION 
I hereby give CONSENT to___________________________________________ (type, stamp or print clearly 
full name of agent) to act on my behalf, to submit or have submitted this application and all required material and 
documents, and to attend and represent me at all meetings and public hearings pertaining to the application(s) 
indicated above.  Furthermore, I hereby give consent to the party designated above to agree to all terms and 
conditions which may arise as part of the approval of this application. 
 
I hereby certify I have full knowledge the property I have an ownership interest in is the subject of this application.  
I acknowledge and agree that, pursuant to Section 2.2.15. of the Town of Zebulon Unified Development 
Ordinance, that lands subject to a Planned Development shall be subject to all the standards, conditions, and plans 
approved as part of that application. These standards, plans, and approved conditions are perpetually binding on 
the land as an amendment to this Ordinance and the Official Zoning Map and may only be changed in accordance 
with the procedures established in this Ordinance. Development located outside the Town of Zebulon’s corporate 
limits shall comply with all Town policies related to annexation and the extension of utilities. I understand that 
all other applicable standards and regulations of the UDO will remain applicable to the subject lands unless 
specifically listed as conditions or deviations as part of this request. I understand that any false, inaccurate, or 
incomplete information provided by me, or my agent will result in the denial, revocation or administrative 
withdrawal of this application, request, approval or permits.  I acknowledge that additional information may be 
required to process this application.  I further consent to the Town of Zebulon to publish, copy or reproduce any 
copyrighted document submitted as a part of this application for any third party.  I further agree to all terms and 
conditions, which may be imposed as part of the approval of this application. 
 

______________________________ ______________________________ _______________ 
Signature of Owner Print Name Date 

 
CERTIFICATION OF PROPERTY OWNER 
I hereby certify the statements or information made in any paper or plans submitted herewith are true and 
correct to the best of my knowledge.  I understand this application, related material and all attachments become 
official records of the Planning Department of the Town of Zebulon, North Carolina, and will not be returned. 
 

______________________________ ______________________________ _______________ 
Signature of Owner Print Name Date 

 
 

*Owner of record as shown by the Wake County Revenue Department (www.wakegov.com).  An option to purchase does not constitute 
ownership.  If ownership has been recently transferred, a copy of the deed must accompany this form. 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Page 92

cfarrell
Stamp



APPLICATION FOR 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

Page 7 of 10

CONCEPT PLAN REQUIREMENTS 
Every applicant requesting Planned Development approval shall submit 8 copies and 1 pdf (e-
mail or USB Drive) of a concept plan drawing with the application for a Planned Development. 
The concept plan shall contain sufficient information to adequately determine the type of 
development being proposed. The concept plan drawing shall include, at a minimum, the following 
features unless otherwise specified by the Planning Department:  

ITEM 

CHECK IF 
SUBMITTED 

1. Plot plan showing all existing and planned structures, building setback lines, perimeter
boundaries, and easements.

__________ 

2. Elevation drawings of all buildings indicating the proposed exterior finish materials. __________ 

3. Landscaping plan, lighting, fencing, screening, and walls, indicating all heights and
locations.

__________ 

4. Location of all ingress and egress. __________ 
5. Off-street parking and loading facilities, with calculations showing how the quantities

were obtained.
__________ 

6. All pedestrian walks and open areas for use by residents, tenants, or the public. __________ 

7. Proposed land uses indicating areas in square feet. __________ 
8. The location and types of all signs, including lighting and heights, with elevation

drawings.
__________ 

9. Existing and/or proposed street names. __________ 
10. Proposed potable or reuse water, wastewater connections, and storm sewer line;

proposed grading and drainage patterns; proposed water and sewer allocations.
__________ 

11. Such additional items and conditions, including design standards as the Planning Board
and Board of Commissioners deems necessary.

__________ 

12. Trip generation data and TIA if applicable in accordance with Section 6.13 of the
UDO.

__________ 

Page 93

cfarrell
Stamp



APPLICATION FOR 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

Page 8 of 10 
 

PROPOSED USES 
An application has been duly filed requesting that the property described in this application be rezoned from 
__________________________ to __________________________. It is understood and acknowledged that if the property 
is rezoned as requested, the property described in this request will be perpetually bound to the use(s) authorized and subject 
to such conditions as imposed, unless subsequently changed or amended as provided for in the Unified Development 
Ordinance. It is further understood and acknowledged that final plans for any specific development to be made pursuant to 
any such Planned Development shall be submitted for site or subdivision plan approval. Use additional pages as needed.  
 
The Rezoned Lands may be used for, and only for, the uses listed immediately below. The permitted uses are subject to 
the limitations and regulations stated in the Use Table and any additional limitations or regulations stated below. For 
convenience, some relevant sections of the Unified Development Ordinance may be referenced; such references do not 
imply that other sections of the Unified Development Ordinance do not apply. 
 
1.  25.  

2.  26.  
3.  27.  

4.  28.  
5.  29.  

6.  30.  
7.  31.  

8.  32.  
9.  33.  

10.  34.  
11.  35.  

12.  36.  

13.  37.  
14.  38.  

15.  39.  
16  40.  

17.  41.  
18.  42.  

19.  43.  
20.  44.  

21.  45.  
22.  46.  

23.  47.  
24.  48.  

  

Page 94

cfarrell
Stamp



APPLICATION FOR 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

Page 9 of 10 
 

 
 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS 
The applicant hereby requests that the Zebulon Board of Commissioners, pursuant to Section 3.3.5 of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, approve the Proposed Planned Development with above listed use(s), subject to the following 
condition(s), requested deviations, and proposed alternative means of compliance. (Attach additional pages as needed)  
 
 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________   

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________   

Page 95

cfarrell
Stamp



APPLICATION FOR 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

Page 10 of 10 
 

 

ADJACENT OWNERS  
Provide a certified list of property owners subject to this application and all properties owners within 750-feet feet of the 
subject property, and any HOA Contacts for developments which fall within 750-feet of the subject property.  
 

Parcel Address Parcel ID Number Owner’s Name 

   
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   
   

   

   

   

   

   

ng. Planning Department staff are available to advise you in the preparation of these materials. Call the 

HOA CONTACTS 

Development Name Contact Person Address 

   
   
   

 

Page 96

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 97

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 98

cfarrell
Stamp



S
R

 2
4

0
6

S
H

E
P

A
R

D
 S

C
H

O
O

L
 R

O
A

D

(
6

0
' 
P

U
B

L
IC

 R
/

W
 -
 P

A
V

E
D

)

B
M

 2
0

2
3

 P
G

 1
5

9

RAYMOND PACE

HEIRS

DB 5499 PG 935

JOE WAYNE TIPPETT

GARLAND LYN TIPPETT

MATTHEW DARRYL TANT

DB 18526 PG 2221

BM 2023 PG 159

TRACT 3

PIN #2706337118

35.397 ACRES PER MAP BOOK

SR
 2

342

TIP
P

E
TT R

O
A

D

(6
0' P

U
B

LIC
 R

/W
 - P

AVED
)

B
M

 2
023 P

G
 1

59

22

43 126

127

128

129

130

131

132

133

134

135

136

137

310

138

139

140

141

142

LOGAN CREEK DRIVE

(50' PUBLIC R/W - PAVED)

BM 2023 PG 1441

L
O

G
A

N
 C

R
E

E
K

 L
A

N
E

(
5

0
' 

P
U

B
L

IC
 R

/
W

 -
 P

A
V

E
D

)

B
M

 2
0

1
8

 P
G

 1
5

9
9

STARLIGHT HOMES

NORTH CAROLINA, LLC

DB 17906 PG 2469

SHEPARDS PARK

OWNER'S

ASSOCIATION, INC.

DB 17915 PG 22

SHEPARDS PARK

BM 2018 PG 1599

S
H

E
P

A
R

D
S

 P
A

R
K

P
H

A
S

E
 2

A
 B

M
 2

0
2

3
 P

G
 1

4
4

0

S
H

E
P

A
R

D
S

 P
A

R
K

P
H

A
S

E
 2

A
 B

M
 2

0
2

3
 P

G
 1

4
4

1

SHEPARDS PARK

OPEN SPACE

 BM 2023 PG 1441

302

JOE WAYNE TIPPETT

GARLAND LYN TIPPETT

MATTHEW DARRYL TANT

DB 18526 PG 2221

BM 2023 PG 159

tract 2

TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY

GENERAL NOTES:
1. BASIS OF BEARINGS: NAD 83 (2011), NORTH CAROLINA STATE

PLANE COORDINATES FOR THIS PROJECT WERE ESTABLISHED

BY THE VIRTUAL REFERENCING STATION (VRS) IN JULY 2023.

THE INITIAL STATE PLANE COORDINATES WERE SCALED FROM

THE XXXXXXX PROPERTY CORNER HAVING GRID COORDINATES

OF N: 763,136.58', E: 2,203,197.36', ELEV:286.96 ' AND HAVING

A COMBINED GRID TO GROUND SCALE FACTOR OF

1.0000823297.

2. ALL CONTOURS AND ELEVATIONS ARE REFERENCED TO NAVD

88.

3. ALL DISTANCES SHOWN HEREON ARE HORIZONTAL GROUND

MEASUREMENTS IN US SURVEY FEET, UNLESS OTHERWISE

NOTED.  AREAS ARE BY COORDINATE COMPUTATION.

4. NO GEODETIC MONUMENT WAS FOUND WITHIN 2000' OF THE

PROJECT LOCATION.

5. REFERENCES ON THE FACE OF THE MAP WERE ACQUIRED

FROM THE WAKE COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS.

6. THE SUBJECT PARCEL SHOWN HEREON LIES IN FLOOD ZONE

X (MINIMAL FLOOD RISK) AND FLOOD ZONE AE (1% ANNUAL

CHANCE) PER FEMA FIRM PANEL 3720270600K, EFFECTIVE

DATE 07/19/2022.

7. THE SUBJECT PARCEL IS UNDER JURISDICTION OF THE TOWN

OF ZEBULON, ZONED R-2 PER WAKE COUNTY GIS.

8. THE LOCATION OF THE UTILITIES AS SHOWN HEREON HAVE

BEEN COMPILED FROM VISIBLE STRUCTURES . THE

LOCATIONS OF ALL UTILITIES SHALL BE CONSIDERED

APPROXIMATE AND SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE OWNER PRIOR

TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.  THE SURVEYOR MAKES NO

GUARANTEES THAT THE UNDERGROUND UTILITIES SHOWN

COMPRISE ALL SUCH UTILITIES IN THE AREA, EITHER IN

SERVICE OR ABANDONED.  FURTHER, THE SURVEYOR DOES

NOT WARRANT THE UNDERGROUND UTILITIES SHOWN ARE IN

THE EXACT LOCATION INDICATED. PRIOR TO EXCAVATION,

UNDERGROUND UTILITY LOCATIONS SHOULD BE REQUESTED

BY CALLING THE NORTH CAROLINA 811.

9. WETLANDS WERE NOT INVESTIGATED AS PART OF THIS

SURVEY.

10.SANITARY SEWER MANHOLES (SSMH) DENOTED WITH * SHOW

INVERT ELEVATIONS ACQUIRED FROM WAKE COUNTY GIS DUE

TO INABILITY TO ACCURATELY FIELD MEASURE OR BOLTED

RIM.

11.THIS IS NOT A BOUNDARY SURVEY.  DASHED BOUNDARY IS

SHOWN PER BM 2023 PG 159 OF THE WAKE COUNTY

REGISTER OF DEEDS.

EOSPAIAL

ALLOWAY PLLC

INFORMATICS & SURVEYING
463 Second Street - Ayden - NC - 28513

252-565-2657 - NC FIRM # P-2153

CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY AND ACCURACY
I CERTIFY THAT THIS MAP WAS DRAWN UNDER MY SUPERVISION FROM AN ACTUAL FIELD SURVEY

UNDER MY SUPERVISION (DEED AND PLAT DESCRIPTIONS AS SHOWN ON THE FACE OF THIS

PLAT); THAT THE BOUNDARIES NOT SURVEYED ARE INDICATED BY DASHED LINES AS DRAWN

FROM INFORMATION AS SHOWN ON THE FACE OF THIS PLAT; THAT THE RATIO OF PRECISION OR

POSITIONAL ACCURACY IS 1:20,000+; THAT THIS MAP MEETS THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE

STANDARDS OF PRACTICE FOR LAND SURVEYING IN NORTH CAROLINA (21 NCAC 56.1600).

CLASS OF SURVEY: A

POSITIONAL ACCURACY: DOES NOT EXCEED 0.10 FEET

TYPE OF FIELD PROCEDURE: GPS (VIRTUAL REFERENCE STATION) AND CONVENTIONAL,

DATE OF SURVEY: 07/10   THRU 10/12  2023

DATUM/EPOCH: NAD83(2011)

GEOID MODEL: GEOID12B

COMBINED SCALE FACTOR: 0.999917677

UNITS: US SURVEY FEET

I, FURTHER, CERTIFY THIS IS A SURVEY OF AN EXISTING FEATURE, SUCH AS A BUILDING OR

OTHER STRUCTURE OR NATURAL FEATURE SUCH AS A WATERCOURSE.  WITNESS MY HAND AND

SEAL AS DATED.

   11/08/2023

CALE R. GALLOWAY, PLS #L-5352           DATE

1800 SHEPARD SCHOOL ROAD

ZEBULON, NORTH CAROLINA

LITTLE RIVER TOWNSHIP, WAKE COUNTY

ROGER HONBARRIER

Page 99

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE AE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
100 YEAR FLOOD LINE FROM FIRM

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. HOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. GRAVEL DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODSLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODSLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODSLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODSLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODSLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. BARN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOODWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOODWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CHICKEN COOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 40' CITY OF RALEIGH SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"X36" CONCRETE CULVERT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEC METER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOULDER OUTCROP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRUSHED/BROKEN 30" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRUSHED/BROKEN 30" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOULDER OUTCROP

AutoCAD SHX Text
28" DIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
18" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
15" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" CPP

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAINING WALL AT END OF ADJOINING ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
11' ASPHALT WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 20' CITY OF RALEIGH SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
15" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
15" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 16" DIP SANITARY SEWER LINE PER WAKE COUNTY GIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
VICINITY MAP (NOT TO SCALE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASIS OF BEARINGS NC GRID NAD83 (NSRS 2011)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Surveyed By

AutoCAD SHX Text
JLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Title Search

AutoCAD SHX Text
Survey Date(s)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Field Book

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
XXX

AutoCAD SHX Text
XX/XX/2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
2023060101

AutoCAD SHX Text
OCTOBER 13, 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 OF 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
Proj. ID

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED FOR:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE        DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
--/--/--

AutoCAD SHX Text
---

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
200

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
400

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE LOCATION:

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-5352

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEPARD SCHOOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIPPETT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANGUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROCTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEARCES

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEPARD ROCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
OGDEN POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGAN CANYON

AutoCAD SHX Text
JONES

AutoCAD SHX Text
LUCAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BERKLEY GLEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND Boundary Line Adjoiner Line Overhead Utility Line Iron Property Corner Existing Iron Pipe EIP EIP Existing Iron Stake EIS EIS No Point Set NPS NPS Set Iron Pipe SIP SIP Below Grade BG BG Above Grade AG AG Deed Book DB DB Map Book MB MB Page Number PG PG Right of Way R/W R/W Minimum Building Line MBL MBL Overhead Wire OHW OHW Drop Inlet DI DI Yard Inlet YI YI Catch Basin CB CB Invert INV INV Existing EX EX Sanitary SAN SAN San Sewer Manhole SSMH SSMH San Sewer Clean Out CO CO Fire Department Conn. FDC FDC Centerline C/L C/L Railroad RR RR Back of Curb BC BC Edge of Pavement EP EP Building BLDG BLDG Telephone Pedestal Water Meter Water Valve  Gas Valve Utility Pole Sign 

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHW

cfarrell
Stamp



1 
 

1800 SHEPARD SCHOOL ROAD 

CAMPGROUND AND RECREATIONAL VEHICLE PARK 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD) DISTRICT  

 

 

 

PROPERTY LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

BEING all of Tract 3 as shown on the Recombination and Subdivision for Joe Wayne Tippett & 

Garland Lyn Tant, Town of Zebulon, Wake County, North Carolina, recorded in Book of Maps 

2023, Page 159, Wake County Registry. 

 

Page 100

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 101

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 102

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 103

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 104

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 105

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 106

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 107

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 108

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 1 of 8 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

INSTRUCTION PACKET AND AFFIDAVIT FOR 
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS 

 

 
GENERAL INFORMATION: 
In accordance with Section 2.3.4 of the Unified Development Ordinance, the purpose of the neighborhood 
meeting is to inform landowners and occupants of nearby lands about a development application that is going to 
be reviewed under this Ordinance, and to provide the applicant an opportunity to hear comments and concerns 
about the development proposal prior to the public hearing process. The neighborhood meeting is proposed as a 
means of resolving potential conflicts and outstanding issues with nearby landowners, where possible, in a more 
informal context. 
 
WHEN IS A NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING REQUIRED?  

• Conditional Rezonings  

• Planned Developments 

• Site Plans in the Downtown Core or Downtown Periphery Zoning Districts 

• Special Use Permits; or  

• Zoning Map Amendments that establish a more dense or intense zoning district.  
 
INSTRUCTIONS  
Prior to submitting an application for the applications listed above the applicant must conduct at least one (1) 
Neighborhood Meeting. The applicant shall submit all forms included in this packet with the initial application 
submittal in accordance with Section 2.3.4 of the Town of Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance.  
 
The Neighborhood Meeting must be held in accordance with the following rules:  

• These groups and individuals must be invited to the meeting:  

• The applicant is required to notify the Planning Department, all property owners within 750 feet of the 
subject property, and any neighborhood association that represents citizens in the area via first class mail 
a minimum of 10 days in advance of the neighborhood meeting, not including the day of mailing. The 
applicant shall use their own return address on the envelopes as the meeting is a private meeting 
between the applicant and the neighbors.  

 
The applicant shall include with the meeting notice a vicinity map in addition to either the existing zoning map 
of the area or preliminary plans of the proposed development (see Handout requirements below).  

• The meeting must be held within specific timeframes and meet certain requirements:  

• The meeting must be held for a minimum of two (2) hours, Monday through Thursday, during the 5:00 
p.m. - 9:00 p.m. time period. The meeting cannot be held on a Town recognized holiday (which coincide 
with the State of North Carolina recognized holidays).  

• The meeting shall be held at a place that is generally accessible to neighbors that reside in close 
proximity to the land subject to the application.  

• A sign-in sheet must be used in order to verify attendance. Ensure each attendee signs in. Please note if 
any person(s) refuses to sign in. Note if no one attended.  
 

Town of Zebulon 
 

Planning Department 
 

1003 N. Arendell Avenue, Zebulon, NC  27597 
Phone: (919) 823-1810     Fax: (919) 887-2824 

www.townofzebulon.org 

Page 109

cfarrell
Stamp



INFORMATION PACKET FOR 

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS 
 

Page 2 of 8 
 

HANDOUT REQUIREMENTS:  
For any process requiring a legislative or quasi-judicial hearing, preliminary plans of the proposed development 
must be available at the meeting to help facilitate discussion. Neighbors may request emailed/mailed copies of 
the maps or plans from the applicant by checking the “send plans” box on the sign-in sheet; applicant shall provide 
reduced copies upon request.  
Printed copies must equal the number of notices required to be sent.  
Contact information for the applicant’s representative must be provided on the attached “Project Contact 
Information” form.  
“Common Construction Issues & Who to Call” sheet (attached) must be included as part of the handout.  
A copy of the handout must be included as part of the Neighborhood Meeting report.  
The agenda of the meeting shall include:  
Explanation of all processes the meeting is being held for (rezoning, subdivision, etc.).  
Explanation of future meetings (additional neighborhood meetings, Planning Board, Board of Commissioners, 
etc.).  
Explanation of development proposal – uses and conditions for rezonings, layout for subdivision and site plans, 
and builder/end user if known/public knowledge.  
Questions or concerns by attendees, and responses by the applicant, if any, must be noted. Provide blank comment 
sheets or notecards for neighbors to submit written comments. The applicant shall also include any questions and 
concerns received via written correspondence (such as email) or phone call along with responses provided by the 
applicant.  
The applicant shall be responsible for notifying any neighbors who check the “Send Plans & Updates” box on the 
sign-in sheet of any additional neighborhood meetings and the actual submittal date to the Town with a link to 
the Town of Zebulon’s Interactive Development Map.  
 
For accountability purposes, please submit the following with your application:  

• A copy of the letter mailed to neighbors and neighborhood organizations (use attached invitation 
template);  

• A list of those persons and neighborhood organizations invited to the meeting;  

• A copy of the sign-in sheet (use attached sign-in sheet template);  

• A summary of the meeting and a list of any changes made to the project as a result of the neighborhood 
comments (use attached meeting summary template);  

• The affidavit, signed, dated, and notarized (use attached affidavit template); and  

• One reduced copy of the maps and/or plans presented to the neighbors at the Neighborhood Meeting. 

  

Page 110

cfarrell
Stamp



INFORMATION PACKET FOR 

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS 
 

Page 3 of 8 
 

NOTICE OF NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING  
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the 
Town’s website or disclosed to third parties.  
 
Dear Neighbor: 
You are invited to a neighborhood meeting to review and discuss the development proposal at:  
 
________________________________________________  _________________________________________ 
(Address)               (Pin Numbers) 
 
in accordance with the Town of Zebulon Neighborhood Meeting procedures. This meeting is intended to be a 
way for the applicant to discuss the project and review the proposed plans with adjacent neighbors and 
neighborhood organizations before the submittal of an application to the Town. This provides neighbors an 
opportunity to raise questions and discuss any concerns about the impacts of the project before it is officially 
submitted. Once an application has been submitted to the Town, it may be tracked using the Interactive 
Development Map located on the Town of Zebulon website at https://www.townofzebulon.org/services/planning.  
 
A Neighborhood Meeting is requested because this project will include: 

□ Conditional Rezoning  
□ Planned Unit Development 
□ Site Plan within the Downtown Core or Downtown Periphery Zoning Districts 
□ Zoning Map Amendment (results in more intensive uses or increased density) 
□ Special Use Permit (Quasi-Judicial Hearing) 

*Quasi-Judicial Hearing: The Board of Commissioners cannot discuss the project prior to the public hearing. 

 
The following is a description of the proposed (also see attached map(s) and/or plan sheet(s)): 
________________________________________________________________________________________  
________________________________________________________________________________________  
________________________________________________________________________________________  
________________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Estimated Submittal Date: ___________________________ 
  

MEETING INFORMATION:  
Property Owner(s) Name(s)  _________________________________________________________________  

Applicant(s)  _____________________________________________________________________________  

Contact Information (e-mail/phone)  __________________________________________________________  

Meeting Address:  _________________________________________________________________________  

Date of Meeting:  _________________________________________________________________________  

Time of Meeting:  _________________________________________________________________________  

**Meetings shall occur between 5:00 p.m.-9:00 p.m. on a Monday through Thursday (excluding Town recognized holidays). If you have questions 
about the general process for this application, please contact the Planning Department at 919-823-1809. You may also find information about the 
Zebulon Planning Department and on-going planning efforts at https://www.townofzebulon.org/services/planning 
  

Page 111

https://www.townofzebulon.org/services/planning
cfarrell
Stamp



VICINITY MAP 

 

ZONING MAP 

 

Page 112

cfarrell
Stamp



INFORMATION PACKET FOR 

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS 
 

Page 4 of 8 
 

 

PROJECT CONTACT INFORMATION 
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third 
parties.  
 

Development Contacts:  
Project Name:  Zoning:  
Location:  
Property PIN(s):  Acreage/Square Feet:  
 
Property Owner:  
Address:  
City:  State:  Zip:  
Phone:  Email:  
 
Developer:  
Address:  
City:  State:  Zip:  
Phone:  Fax:  Email:  
 
Engineer:  
Address:  
City:  State:  Zip:  
Phone:  Fax:  Email:  
 

Builder (if known):  

Address:  
City:  State:  Zip:  
Phone:  Fax:  Email:  
  

Page 113

cfarrell
Stamp



INFORMATION PACKET FOR 

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS 
 

Page 5 of 8 
 

PROVIDING INPUT TO THE PLANNING BOARD OR BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS:  
Each Board of Commissioners meeting agenda includes a Public Forum time when anyone is permitted to speak 
for three (3) minutes on any topic with the exception of items listed as Public Hearings for that meeting. The 
Board of Commissioners meets on the 1st Monday of each month at 7:00 p.m. and Joint Public Hearings are 
scheduled for the 2nd Monday of every Month. (except for holidays, see schedule of meetings at 
https://www.townofzebulon.org/agendas-minutes. You may also contact Board of Commissioners at 
https://www.townofzebulon.org/government/board-commissioners.  
 
PRIVATE AGREEMENTS AND EASEMENT NEGOTIATION:  
The Town of Zebulon cannot enforce private agreements between developers and neighbors and is not a party 
to the easement and right-of-way negotiation that occurs between developers and neighboring property owners 
for easements or rights-of-way that are necessary to build the project.   
 
It is recommended that all private agreements be made in writing and that if a property owner feels it necessary, 
they should obtain private legal counsel in order to protect their interests in both private agreements and during 
easement negotiations. The only conditions that the Town of Zebulon can enforce are those conditions that are 
made a part of the conditional zoning of the property by agreement of the developer and the Town.  
As an example, if a developer offers to build a fence for a neighbor to mitigate some impact, the Town can only 
enforce the construction of the fence if the fence becomes a condition of the rezoning. This would occur by the 
developer offering the condition as part of their conditional zoning application package or at the Joint Public 
Hearing on the conditional zoning and the Town accepting it as a condition. Private agreements regarding a 
fence being constructed will not be enforced by the Town.  
 
To request that any agreement with a developer is made a part of the conditional zoning at the time of approval, 
you may ask at the public hearing if the agreement is included in the conditions. If it is not, you may request that 
the Board of Commissioners not approve the rezoning without the agreement being included in the conditions 
(note that it is up to Board of Commissioners whether to approve or deny the rezoning but they cannot impose 
conditions that the applicant does not agree to add). The developer’s proposed conditions can be viewed any time 
after a rezoning is submitted on the Town of Zebulon Interactive Development Map which can be found at:                       
https://www.townofzebulon.org/services/planning/whats-coming-zebulon.  
 
DOCUMENTATION:  
Neighbors to a requested new development and/or rezoning are strongly encouraged to fully document (such as 
through dated photographs) the condition of their property before any work is initiated for the new development. 
Stormwater controls installed on developed property are not designed to and will likely not remove 100% of the 
soil particles transported by stormwater runoff. As a result, creeks and ponds could become cloudy for a period 
of time after rain events. 
 
 
  

Page 114

https://www.townofzebulon.org/agendas-minutes
https://www.townofzebulon.org/government/board-commissioners
https://www.townofzebulon.org/services/planning/whats-coming-zebulon
cfarrell
Stamp



Page 115

cfarrell
Stamp



INFORMATION PACKET FOR 

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS 
 

Page 7 of 8 
 

SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION FROM THE NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING  
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third 
parties. 

Project Name:  ____________________________________________________________________________________  

Meeting Address:  _________________________________________________________________________________ 

Date of Meeting:  __________________________________________________      Time of Meeting:  ____________   

Property Owner(s) Names:  _________________________________________________________________________ 

Applicants:  _______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Please summarize the questions/comments and your response from the Neighborhood Meeting in the spaces below (attach 
additional sheets, if necessary). Please state if/how the project has been modified in response to any concerns. The response 
should not be “Noted” or “No Response”. There has to be documentation of what consideration the neighbor’s concern was 
given and justification for why no change was deemed warranted. 
 

Question/ Concern #1  _____________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________________________  

Applicant Response:  ______________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________________________  

 

Question/ Concern #2 ______________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________________________  

Applicant Response:  ______________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________________________  

 

Question/ Concern #3 ______________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________________________  

Applicant Response:  ______________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________________________  

 

Question/ Concern #4 ______________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________________________  

Applicant Response:  ______________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________________________  

  

Page 116

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 117

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 118

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 119

cfarrell
Stamp



1800 Shepard School Road
Neighborhood Meeting

January 23, 2024

Page 120

cfarrell
Stamp



Overview

• Property is 35.40 acres

• Current Uses: Residential

• Frontage along Shepard School Road

• Current Zoning: Residential Suburban (R2)

• Future Land Use: Suburban Residential (SR)

• Proposed Zoning: Planned Development District with Master Plan and 
Conditions

• Proposed Use: Vacation Recreational Vehicle Park and Campground as 
Shown on Master Plan

Page 121

cfarrell
Stamp



Estimated Timeline for Rezoning Process
• 1/17/24 – Pre-Application Conference Held with Town Staff
• 1/23/24 – Neighborhood Meeting Held
• 4/1/24 – Submittal Deadline for Rezoning Application, Master Plan and TIA
• 5/8/24 – TRC Comments (May Require Resubmittal)
• 7/15/24 – Final Plan Set Due for Staff Review (Staff will decide whether 

application is ready to move forward to public hearing phase)
• 8/12/24 – Joint Public Hearing with Planning Board and Board of 

Commissioners (6 PM)
• 8/19/24 - Planning Board Review and Recommendation (6 PM)
• 9/9/24 – Board of Commissioners Review and Final Decision (6 PM)
• 7-8 Months Total

Page 122

cfarrell
Stamp



Existing Conditions 

Page 123

cfarrell
Stamp



Existing Conditions 

Page 124

cfarrell
Stamp



Current Zoning

Page 125

cfarrell
Stamp



Future Land Use Map

Page 126

cfarrell
Stamp



Comprehensive Transportation Plan

Page 127

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 128

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 129

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 130

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 131

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 132

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 133

cfarrell
Stamp



Overview

• Property is 35.40 acres

• Current Uses: Residential

• Frontage along Shepard School Road

• Current Zoning: Residential Suburban (R2)

• Future Land Use: Suburban Residential (SR)

• Proposed Zoning: Planned Development District with Master Plan and 
Conditions

• Proposed Use: Vacation Recreational Vehicle Park and Campground as 
Shown on Master Plan

Page 134

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 135

cfarrell
Stamp



CERTIFIED LIST OF PROPERTY OWNERS WITHIN 750 FEET OF SUBJECT PROPERTY 

 

 

 

Page 136

cfarrell
Stamp



 

 

 

 

Page 137

cfarrell
Stamp



 

 

 

 

Page 138

cfarrell
Stamp



 

 

 

 

Page 139

cfarrell
Stamp



 

 

 

 

Page 140

cfarrell
Stamp



 

 

 

 

Page 141

cfarrell
Stamp



 

Page 142

cfarrell
Stamp



EDG PROJ. NUMBER

CHECKED BY

FILE NO.

APPROVALS:

SHEET

TITLE SHEET

ZEBULON CAMPGROUND
ROGER HONBARRIER & RYAN RIMMELE

WAKE COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA
30% CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS

 ISSUED:  AUGUST 12, 2024

T1.00

PROJECT LOCATION

SITE PLAN LEGEND

EXISTING PROPOSED INDEX OF DRAWINGS
TITLE SHEET T1.00

GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZC
O

VR
 2

3-
00

28
5-

02
0 

- 
8/

12
/2

02
4 

11
:5

7:
12

 A
M

LOCATION  MAP

PLANS PREPARED AND RECOMMENDED BY:

EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN V1.00

SITE LAYOUT PLAN - OVERALL SITE C1.00

SITE LAYOUT PLAN ENLARGEMENTS C1.01-C1.04

CAMPSITE ENLARGEMENTS C1.05-C1.06

SITE GRADING PLAN - OVERALL SITE C2.00

SITE GRADING PLAN ENLARGEMENTS C2.01-C2.04
SITE UTILITY PLAN - OVERALL SITE C3.00

SITE UTILITY PLAN ENLARGEMENTS C3.01-C3.04
C4.00-C4.01SIGNAGE AND PAVEMENT MARKING PLAN

UTILITY ALLOCATION EXHIBIT C5.00

SITE LANDSCAPE PLAN L1.00

LANDSCAPE PLAN DETAILS L1.02

LIGHTING PLAN E1.00

LIGHTING PLAN DETAILS E1.01

A1.00-A1.04ARCHITECTURAL PLAN ENLARGEMENT

DRAWN BY

CODE REQUIREMENTS AND REGULATIONS G1.00

SITE LANDSCAPE PLAN ENLARGEMENT L1.01

Page 143

cfarrell
Stamp



RAYMOND PACE
HEIRS

DB 5499 PG 935

JOE WAYNE TIPPETT
GARLAND LYN TIPPETT

MATTHEW DARRYL TANT
DB 18526 PG 2221

BM 2023 PG 159
TRACT 3

PIN #2706337118
35.397 ACRES PER MAP BOOK

22

43 126

127

128

129

130

131

132

133

134

135

136

137

310

138

139

140

141

142

STARLIGHT HOMES
NORTH CAROLINA, LLC

DB 17906 PG 2469
SHEPARDS PARK

OWNER'S
ASSOCIATION, INC.

DB 17915 PG 22

SHEPARDS PARK
BM 2018 PG 1599

S
H

E
P

A
R

D
S

 P
A

R
K

P
H

A
S

E
 2

A
 B

M
 2

0
2

3
 P

G
 1

4
4

0

S
H

E
P

A
R

D
S

 P
A

R
K

P
H

A
S

E
 2

A
 B

M
 2

0
2

3
 P

G
 1

4
4

1

SHEPARDS PARK
OPEN SPACE

 BM 2023 PG 1441

302

JOE WAYNE TIPPETT
GARLAND LYN TIPPETT

MATTHEW DARRYL TANT
DB 18526 PG 2221

BM 2023 PG 159
tract 2

EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN LEGEND

EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZD
EM

O
 2

3-
00

28
5-

02
0 

- 
8/

12
/2

02
4 

11
:5

7:
21

 A
M

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

EXISTING CONDITIONS
PLAN

CMR/SDK

SDK

V1.00
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

Page 144

cfarrell
Stamp



PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZN
O

TE
 2

3-
00

28
5-

02
0 

- 
8/

12
/2

02
4 

11
:5

7:
26

 A
M

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

CODE REQUIREMENTS
AND REGULATIONS

CMR/SDK

SDK

G1.00
----

REVIEW RESUBMITTAL1 08-12-2024

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

PARKING REQUIREMENTS

BENCHMARK REQUIREMENTS FOR SITE DEVELOPMENT

OPEN SPACE CALCULATIONS

RESTROOM AND SHOWER FACILITIES

Page 145

cfarrell
Stamp



RAYMOND PACE
HEIRS

DB 5499 PG 935

JOE WAYNE TIPPETT
GARLAND LYN TIPPETT

MATTHEW DARRYL TANT
DB 18526 PG 2221

BM 2023 PG 159
TRACT 3

PIN #2706337118
35.397 ACRES PER MAP BOOK

STARLIGHT HOMES
NORTH CAROLINA, LLC

DB 17906 PG 2469
SHEPARDS PARK

OWNER'S
ASSOCIATION, INC.

DB 17915 PG 22

SHEPARDS PARK
BM 2018 PG 1599

S
H

E
P

A
R

D
S

 P
A

R
K

P
H

A
S

E
 2

A
 B

M
 2

0
2

3
 P

G
 1

4
4

0

S
H

E
P

A
R

D
S

 P
A

R
K

P
H

A
S

E
 2

A
 B

M
 2

0
2

3
 P

G
 1

4
4

1

SHEPARDS PARK
OPEN SPACE

 BM 2023 PG 1441

JOE WAYNE TIPPETT
GARLAND LYN TIPPETT

MATTHEW DARRYL TANT
DB 18526 PG 2221

BM 2023 PG 159
tract 2

SITE LAYOUT PLAN - OVERALL SITE NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZL
AY

T 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
57

:3
6 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE LAYOUT PLAN -
OVERALL SITE

CMR/SDK

SDK

C1.00
----

REVIEW RESUBMITTAL1 08-12-2024

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

CAMPSITE LEGEND

SITE LAYOUT PLAN LEGEND

Page 146

cfarrell
Stamp



LAYOUT PLAN - ENLARGEMENT 1 NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZL
AY

T 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
57

:4
2 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

LAYOUT PLAN -
ENLARGEMENT 1

CMR/SDK

SDK

C1.01
----

REVIEW RESUBMITTAL1 08-12-2024

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE LAYOUT PLAN LEGEND

Page 147

cfarrell
Stamp



LAYOUT PLAN - ENLARGEMENT 2 NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZL
AY

T 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
57

:4
6 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

LAYOUT PLAN -
ENLARGEMENT 2

CMR/SDK

SDK

C1.02
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE LAYOUT PLAN LEGEND

Page 148

cfarrell
Stamp



LAYOUT PLAN - ENLARGEMENT 3 NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZL
AY

T 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
57

:5
7 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

LAYOUT PLAN -
ENLARGEMENT 3

CMR/SDK

SDK

C1.03
----

REVIEW RESUBMITTAL1 08-12-2024

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE LAYOUT PLAN LEGEND

Page 149

cfarrell
Stamp



LAYOUT PLAN - ENLARGEMENT 4 NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZL
AY

T 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
58

:0
6 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

LAYOUT PLAN -
ENLARGEMENT 4

CMR/SDK

SDK

C1.04
----

REVIEW RESUBMITTAL1 08-12-2024

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE LAYOUT PLAN LEGEND

Page 150

cfarrell
Stamp



PREMIUM RV BACK-IN CAMPSITE ENLARGED PLAN
(MINIMUM AREA: 1,500 SF PER CAMPSITE, AS SHOWN: 2,965 SF PER CAMPSITE)

PREMIUM RV BACK-IN REVERSE CAMPSITE ENLARGED PLAN
(MINIMUM AREA: 1,500 SF PER CAMPSITE, AS SHOWN: 3,230 SF PER CAMPSITE)

PREMIUM RV PULL-THROUGH REVERSE CAMPSITE ENLARGED PLAN
(MINIMUM AREA: 1,500 SF PER CAMPSITE, AS SHOWN: 2,830 SF PER CAMPSITE)

PREMIUM RV PULL-THROUGH CAMPSITE ENLARGED PLAN
(MINIMUM AREA: 1,500 SF PER CAMPSITE, AS SHOWN: 2,830 SF PER CAMPSITE)

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZL
AY

T 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
58

:1
1 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

CAMPSITE
ENLARGEMENTS

CMR/SDK

SDK

C1.05
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

Page 151

cfarrell
Stamp



TENTING ENLARGED PLAN
(MINIMUM AREA: 1,200 SF PER CAMPSITE, AS SHOWN: 2,400 SF PER CAMPSITE)

YURT CAMPSITE ENLARGED PLAN

PREMIUM ADA RV PULL-THROUGH REVERSE CAMPSITE ENLARGED PLAN
(MINIMUM AREA: 1,500 SF PER CAMPSITE, AS SHOWN: 2,830 SF PER CAMPSITE)

PREMIUM ADA RV PULL-THROUGH REVERSE CAMPSITE ENLARGED PLAN
(MINIMUM AREA: 1,500 SF PER CAMPSITE, AS SHOWN: 2,830 SF PER CAMPSITE)

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZL
AY

T 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
58

:1
6 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

CAMPSITE
ENLARGEMENTS

CMR/SDK

SDK

C1.06
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

NOTE

NOTE

Page 152

cfarrell
Stamp



22

43 126

127

128

129

130

131

132

133

134

135

136

137

310

138

139

140

141

142

302

SITE GRADING PLAN - OVERALL SITE NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZG
RA

D 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
58

:2
8 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE GRADING PLAN -
OVERALL SITE

CMR/SDK

SDK

C2.00
----

REVIEW RESUBMITTAL1 08-12-2024

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE GRADING PLAN LEGEND

·

·

·

PROPOSED SITE STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

SITE DESCRIPTION

Page 153

cfarrell
Stamp



SITE GRADING PLAN - ENLARGEMENT 1 NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZG
RA

D 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
58

:3
8 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE GRADING PLAN -
ENLARGEMENT 1

CMR/SDK

SDK

C2.01
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE GRADING PLAN LEGEND

Page 154

cfarrell
Stamp



SITE GRADING PLAN - ENLARGEMENT 2 NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZG
RA

D 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
58

:4
8 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE GRADING PLAN -
ENLARGEMENT 2

CMR/SDK

SDK

C2.02
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE GRADING PLAN LEGEND

Page 155

cfarrell
Stamp



SITE GRADING PLAN - ENLARGEMENT 3 NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZG
RA

D 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
58

:5
8 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE GRADING PLAN -
ENLARGEMENT 3

CMR/SDK

SDK

C2.03
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE GRADING PLAN LEGEND

Page 156

cfarrell
Stamp



SITE GRADING PLAN - ENLARGEMENT 4 NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZG
RA

D 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
59

:0
7 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE GRADING PLAN -
ENLARGEMENT 4

CMR/SDK

SDK

C2.04
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE GRADING PLAN LEGEND

Page 157

cfarrell
Stamp



S
R

 2
4

0
6

S
H

E
P

A
R

D
 S

C
H

O
O

L
 R

O
A

D

(6
0

' P
U

B
L

IC
 R

/
W

 - 
P

A
V

E
D

)

B
M

 2
0

2
3

 P
G

 1
5

9

RAYMOND PACE
HEIRS

DB 5499 PG 935

JOE WAYNE TIPPETT
GARLAND LYN TIPPETT

MATTHEW DARRYL TANT
DB 18526 PG 2221

BM 2023 PG 159
TRACT 3

PIN #2706337118
35.397 ACRES PER MAP BOOK

SR 2342

TIPPETT ROAD

(60' PUBLIC R/W - P
AVED)

BM 2023 PG 159

22

43 126

127

128

129

130

131

132

133

134

135

136

137

310

138

139

140

141

142

LOGAN CREEK DRIVE

(50' PUBLIC R/W - PAVED)

BM 2023 PG 1441

L
O

G
A

N
 C

R
E

E
K

 L
A

N
E

(5
0

' P
U

B
L

IC
 R

/
W

 - 
P

A
V

E
D

)
B

M
 2

0
1

8
 P

G
 1

5
9

9

STARLIGHT HOMES
NORTH CAROLINA, LLC

DB 17906 PG 2469
SHEPARDS PARK

OWNER'S
ASSOCIATION, INC.

DB 17915 PG 22

SHEPARDS PARK
BM 2018 PG 1599

S
H

E
P

A
R

D
S

 P
A

R
K

P
H

A
S

E
 2

A
 B

M
 2

0
2

3
 P

G
 1

4
4

0

S
H

E
P

A
R

D
S

 P
A

R
K

P
H

A
S

E
 2

A
 B

M
 2

0
2

3
 P

G
 1

4
4

1

SHEPARDS PARK
OPEN SPACE

 BM 2023 PG 1441

302

JOE WAYNE TIPPETT
GARLAND LYN TIPPETT

MATTHEW DARRYL TANT
DB 18526 PG 2221

BM 2023 PG 159
tract 2

SITE UTILITY PLAN - OVERALL SITE NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZU
TI

L 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
59

:1
9 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE UTILITY PLAN -
OVERALL SITE

CMR/SDK

SDK

C3.00
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE UTILITY PLAN LEGEND

Page 158

cfarrell
Stamp



SITE UTILITY PLAN - ENLARGEMENT 1 NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZU
TI

L 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
59

:2
7 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE UTILITY PLAN -
ENLARGEMENT 1

CMR/SDK

SDK

C3.01
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE UTILITY PLAN LEGEND

Page 159

cfarrell
Stamp



SITE UTILITY PLAN - ENLARGEMENT 2 NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZU
TI

L 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
59

:3
1 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE UTILITY PLAN -
ENLARGEMENT 2

CMR/SDK

SDK

C3.02
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE UTILITY PLAN LEGEND

Page 160

cfarrell
Stamp



BM 2023 PG 159

TRACT 3

PIN #2706337118

35.397 ACRES PER MAP BOOK

SITE UTILITY PLAN - ENLARGEMENT 3 NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZU
TI

L 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
59

:4
2 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE UTILITY PLAN -
ENLARGEMENT 3

CMR/SDK

SDK

C3.03
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE UTILITY PLAN LEGEND

Page 161

cfarrell
Stamp



SITE UTILITY PLAN - ENLARGEMENT 4 NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZU
TI

L 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

1:
59

:5
1 

AM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE UTILITY PLAN -
ENLARGEMENT 4

CMR/SDK

SDK

C3.04
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE UTILITY PLAN LEGEND

Page 162

cfarrell
Stamp



SIGNAGE AND PAVEMENT MARKING PLAN NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZS
IG

N
 2

3-
00

28
5-

02
0 

- 
8/

12
/2

02
4 

12
:0

0:
03

 P
M

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SIGNAGE AND
PAVEMENT MARKING

PLAN

CMR/SDK

SDK

C4.00
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SIGNAGE AND PAVEMENT MARKING PLAN LEGEND

Page 163

cfarrell
Stamp



PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZS
IG

N
 2

3-
00

28
5-

02
0 

- 
8/

12
/2

02
4 

12
:0

0:
08

 P
M

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

RI
M

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SIGNAGE AND
PAVEMENT MARKING

PLAN DETAILS

CMR/SDK

SDK

C4.01
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

ELEVATION

NAME
ADDRESS LINE ONE

ADDRESS LINE TWO

PHONE NUMBER

RUSTIC RIDGE ROAD

STOP

EXAMPLE TYPICAL SIGN FACE
SINGLE POST

TYPICAL SIGN FACE

ENTRY MONUMENT SIGN STREET/STOP SIGN POST SIGN SCHEDULE

Page 164

cfarrell
Stamp



UTILITY ALLOCATION EXHIBIT NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZX
H

BT
 2

3-
00

28
5-

02
0 

- 
8/

12
/2

02
4 

12
:0

0:
22

 P
M

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

UTILITY ALLOCATION
EXHIBIT

CMR/SDK

SDK

C5.00
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

MUNICIPAL UTILITY ALLOCATION POLICY

ID# BASE
POINTS LIST OF PREFERRED LAND USES AND REQUIRED CHARACTERISTICS

Page 165

cfarrell
Stamp



22

43 126

127

128

129

130

131

132

133

134

135

136

137

310

138

139

140

141

142

LOGAN CREEK DRIVE
(50' PUBLIC R/W - PAVED)

BM 2023 PG 1441

LOGAN CREEK LANE
(50' PUBLIC R/W - PAVED)

BM 2018 PG 1599

302

SITE LANDSCAPE PLAN LEGEND

SITE LANDSCAPE PLAN NOTES

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZL
SC

P 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

2:
00

:3
3 

PM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE LANDSCAPE PLAN

CMR/SDK

SDK

L1.00
----

REVIEW RESUBMITTAL1 08-12-24

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE LANDSCAPING SCHEMATIC DESIGN
·

·

·

SITE LANDSCAPE PLAN ENLARGEMENT
SEE SHEET L1.01

Page 166

cfarrell
Stamp



PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZL
SC

P 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

2:
00

:4
2 

PM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

SITE LANDSCAPE PLAN
ENLARGEMENT

CMR/SDK

SDK

L1.01
----

REVIEW RESUBMITTAL1 08-12-2024

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SITE LANDSCAPE PLAN ENLARGEMENT NOTES

SITE LANDSCAPE PLAN ENLARGEMENT LEGEND

Page 167

cfarrell
Stamp



PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZL
SC

P 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

2:
00

:4
3 

PM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

LANDSCAPE PLAN
DETAILS

CMR/SDK

SDK

L1.02
----

REVIEW RESUBMITTAL1 08-12-2024

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

TYPE D BUFFER- OPAQUE MODIFIED TYPE D BUFFER WITH EXISTING TREESMODIFIED TYPE C BUFFER SEMI-OPAQUE (OVERHEAD POWER)

ABBR. BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME

DECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING EVERGREEN TREE PLANTING SHRUB PLANTING 

PERENNIAL PLANTING TYPICAL TREE PROTECTION PLANTING BED METAL EDGING 

TYPE C BUFFER SEMI-OPAQUE

Page 168

cfarrell
Stamp



PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZE
LE

C 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

2:
00

:5
7 

PM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

LIGHTING PLAN

CMR/SDK

SDK

E1.00
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

LIGHTING PLAN LEGEND

Page 169

cfarrell
Stamp



PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZE
LE

C 
23

-0
02

85
-0

20
 -

 8
/1

2/
20

24
 1

2:
01

:0
3 

PM

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

LIGHTING PLAN
DETAILS

CMR/SDK

SDK

E1.01
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SINGLE ARM MOUNT POST (SA)

WALL MOUNT (WM)

CEILING MOUNT (CH)

MONUMENT SIGN SPOT LIGHT (SL) LGOOSE (LG) FLOOD LIGHT (FL)

Page 170

cfarrell
Stamp



POOL
TABLE

ADA/
FAMILY

RESTROOM
W/SHOWER

RESTROOM
W/SHOWER ADA/FAMILY

CHANGING
ROOM

JANITOR/
MECH RM

CANTILEVERED
COVERED PORCH

ENTRANCE
 & STORE

COVERED
PORCH

OPEN
OFFICE

POS &
RECEPTION

STORAGE

OFFICE/
CONF RM

STAFF
PATIO

COVERED
PATIO

LOADING
AREA

50'-0"

10'-0" 8'
-3

"
10

'-0
"

25
'-7

"

25'-0"

15'-0"

25'-0"

8'
-3

"

30'-0"

ADA/FAMILY
RESTROOM

ADA/FAMILY
RESTROOM

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZA
RC

H
 2

3-
00

28
5-

02
0 

- 
8/

12
/2

02
4 

12
:0

1:
18

 P
M

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

ARCHITECTURAL PLAN
ENLARGEMENT

CMR/SDK

SDK

A1.00
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

CLUBHOUSE FLOOR PLAN (+/- 2,750 SF WITH 1,000 SF PATIO)

ARCHITECTURAL PLAN ENLARGEMENT NOTES

Page 171

cfarrell
Stamp



WEST ELEVATION PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZA
RC

H
 2

3-
00

28
5-

02
0 

- 
8/

12
/2

02
4 

12
:0

1:
31

 P
M

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

ARCHITECTURAL PLAN
ENLARGEMENT

CMR/SDK

SDK

A1.01
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

CLUBHOUSE SOUTH ELEVATION

CLUBHOUSE WEST ELEVATION

ARCHITECTURAL PLAN ENLARGEMENT NOTES

Page 172

cfarrell
Stamp



EAST ELEVATION PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZA
RC

H
 2

3-
00

28
5-

02
0 

- 
8/

12
/2

02
4 

12
:0

1:
42

 P
M

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

ARCHITECTURAL PLAN
ENLARGEMENT

CMR/SDK

SDK

A1.02
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

CLUBHOUSE NORTH ELEVATION

CLUBHOUSE EAST ELEVATION

Page 173

cfarrell
Stamp



19
'-5

1 4"
5'

-0
"

3'-0" 3'-0"

JANITOR/
MECH RM

5'
-0

"

18'-6"

RESTROOM
ADA/FAMILY
RESTROOM
W/SHOWER

RESTROOM
ADA/FAMILY
RESTROOM
W/SHOWER

RESTROOM

18
'-7

"

ADA/FAMILY
RESTROOM
W/SHOWER

5'
-0

"

5'-0" 5'-0"2'-9"

STACKED
DRYER

STACKED
DRYER

STACKED
WASHER

STACKED
WASHER

11
'-2

"

LAUNDRY LAUNDRY
DETERGENT
VENDING

PROVIDE
LITE IN DOOR
FOR SAFETY

2'-9"

PET-WASHING
STATION

RESTROOM

ADA/FAMILY
RESTROOM
W/SHOWER

JANITOR/
MECH RM

3'
-0

"

14'-0"

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZA
RC

H
 2

3-
00

28
5-

02
0 

- 
8/

12
/2

02
4 

12
:0

2:
05

 P
M

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

ARCHITECTURAL PLAN
ENLARGEMENT

CMR/SDK

SDK

#####
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

EAST ELEVATIONNE T/SH HOUSE PLAN

SE T/SH HOUSE W/LAUNDRY & DOG WASH STATION PLAN

NORTH ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATION EAST ELEVATION

ARCHITECTURAL PLAN ENLARGEMENT NOTES

Page 174

cfarrell
Stamp



30
'-0

"

4'-0"

8'
-0

"

20'-0"

12'-0" 4'-0"

OPTIONAL
GRILL PAD

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE ISSUED:

OF

E:
\R

IM
M

EL
E,

RY
AN

\2
3-

00
28

5-
02

0 
ZE

BU
LO

N
 C

AM
PG

RO
U

N
D 

- 
30

% 
DE

SI
G

N
\C

AD
D\

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
E\

ZA
RC

H
 2

3-
00

28
5-

02
0 

- 
8/

12
/2

02
4 

12
:0

2:
19

 P
M

DESCRIPTIONDATE#

REVISIONS

DATE: __________________________

ZE
BU

LO
N

 C
AM

PG
RO

U
N

D

23-00285-020

RO
G

ER
 H

O
N

BA
RR

IE
R 

&
 R

YA
N

 R
IM

M
EL

E

2024/04/01

30% CDS

ARCHITECTURAL PLAN
ENLARGEMENT

CMR/SDK

SDK

#####
----

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

-- -

--
--

SOUTH ELEVATION EAST ELEVATIONSHELTER PLAN

Page 175

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 176



1 
 

1800 SHEPARD SCHOOL ROAD 

CAMPGROUND AND RECREATIONAL VEHICLE PARK 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD) DISTRICT  

MASTER PLAN 

 

Developer:  Roger Honbarrier Investments, Inc.  

Address:  10240 Durant Road 

   Raleigh, NC 27614  

Phone Number: 908.268.3043 

Attention:  Roger Honbarrier and Ryan Rimmele 

Email:   rbhinc@bellsouth.net and rrimmele@gmail.com  

 

Design Team : Environmental Design Group 

Address:  450 Grant Street 

   Akron, OH 44311 

Phone Number: 330.375.1390 

Attention:  Steven Kolaric and Stefanie Smith 

Email:   skolaric@envdesigngroup.com and ssmith@envdesigngroup.com 

 

Attorney:   Longleaf Law Partners 

Address:  4509 Creedmoor Road, Suite 302, Raleigh, NC 27612 

Phone Number: 919.780.5433 

Attention:  Jennifer Ashton 

Email:   jashton@longleaflp.com  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 177

cfarrell
Stamp



2 
 

1800 SHEPARD SCHOOL ROAD 

CAMPGROUND AND RECREATIONAL VEHICLE PARK 

MASTER PLAN NARRATIVE 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

This document and the associated plan sheets submitted herewith (collectively, the Master 

Plan) are provided pursuant to the Unified Development Ordinance for the Planned Development 

District for the 1800 Shepard School Road Campground and Recreational Vehicle Park 

development (the “Project”).  This project concerns the 35.40 acres located northeast of the 

intersection of Shepard School Road and Old Bunn Road, with a Property Identification Number 

of 2706337118.  The Master Plan proposes a mix of campground and recreational vehicle park 

uses and both uses are permitted uses in a planned development district pursuant to the Town 

Unified Development Ordinance (“UDO”) Article 4. Uses, Section 4.2.3. Principal Use Table. 

 

2. STATEMENT OF INTENT AND PLANNING OBJECTIVES FOR THE PD 

DISTRICT 

 

The proposed development meets the intent of the PD District set forth in UDO Section 

3.5.5.A. in multiple ways. First, the PD District allows the applicant to preserve open space and 

natural site features by developing the site with a campground and recreational vehicle park, which 

maintains the established rural land use of the site and requires less asphalt and impervious surface 

area than a residential development or higher-intensity commercial development. Second, the 

campground and recreational vehicle park use provides guests with a unique experience by 

allowing them to vacation and relax amongst the site’s natural and man-made features such as 

trees, hilly terrain, and ponds.  Third, the Project significantly reduces the number of daily and 

peak hour trips to and from the site compared to a single-family residential community developed 

under the Residential Suburban (R2) Zoning District, or some higher intensity residential or 

commercial zoning designation, which benefits the Town and its residents by maintaining levels 

of service on existing roads. Fourth, the intended development is responsible for widening Shepard 

School Road along its frontage to centerline in accordance with the Town’s Comprehensive 

Transportation Plan (CTP calls for Shepard School Road to be a 4-lane median divided road to 

accommodate future growth and traffic from surrounding areas). Fifth, the campground and 

recreational vehicle park development will dedicate land to the Town for an extension of the 

greenway trail along the northern boundary of the site, which integrates the site into the greenway 

trail system, and provides a necessary land to link from the existing greenway trail at the Shepard’s 

Park Subdivision to Shepard School Road. Sixth, the PD District allows the applicant to provide 

greater transparency and certainty to the public and surrounding residents regarding the location 

of buildings and campground/recreational vehicle park features and amenities. Seventh, the PD 

District allows the applicant to modify various UDO standards that better enable the applicant to 

develop a more environmentally-conscious project than would otherwise be possible without the 

modifications.  

 

 

 

 

Page 178

cfarrell
Stamp



3 
 

3. COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONFORMANCE 

 

The Future Land Use Map identifies the property as Suburban Residential.  While the 

intended campground and recreational vehicle park use is not a residential use, it is a less intense 

use than a residential subdivision, and maintains the existing rural character of the land. 

Additionally, the Project is consistent with certain policies contained in the Town’s 

Comprehensive Land Use Plan’s Suburban Residential designation.  Specifically, the Project 

allows more opportunity for natural and/or swale drainage by utilizing existing ponds for 

stormwater control.  Additionally, the Project promotes conservation design and provides for 

greater open space amenities than a traditional subdivision design would normally depict.  

Additionally, the Project is consistent with the Town’s Comprehensive Land Use Plan and Vision 

2030 Strategic Plan goals of revitalizing Downtown by providing visitors to the Town with a 

temporary place to stay while vacationing or visiting friends and family, which will assist in 

drawing visitors to Downtown Zebulon and nearby businesses. 

 

4. GENERAL DESIGN PRINCIPLES CONFORMANCE 

 

The Project complies with many of the General Design Principles set forth in UDO 

Sections 4.3.5.N. (Campgrounds) and 4.3.5.LL. (Recreational Vehicle Park).  For example, the 

Project shall not include permanent residences, except as necessary for caretakers. The Project is 

a vacation destination only. Additionally, the Project complies with the minimum campsite area 

and spacing requirements, as well as provides for a fifty-foot opaque buffer along its shared 

boundary with adjacent residential uses. Additionally, the Project complies with the UDO’s 

limitation of stay requirements so that no travel trailer or recreational vehicle shall remain within 

the park for more than 30 days during any six-month period.  

 

5. PHASING 

 

The Project shall be completed in one (1) phase. 

 

6. LAND USES & INTENSITY 

 

A. Proposed District.  The proposed district for the Project is the Planned Development 

District (PD). All principal and accessory uses that are Permitted, Limited, or Special 

Uses in the PD District, and as listed herein, shall be allowed on the Property in 

accordance with the Principal Use Table in UDO Section 4.2.3., and the Accessory Use 

Table in UDO Section 4.4.6.   

 

Proposed Principal Uses: 

Campground 

Recreational Vehicle Park 

 

Proposed Accessory Uses: 

Caretaker Residence 

Maintenance Barn 

Clubhouse and Pool 

Page 179

cfarrell
Stamp



4 
 

Dock 

Picnic and Gathering Shelters 

Playground 

Planting Pollinator Garden 

Decks/Patios 

Outdoor Kitchen/Grill Area 

Drinking Fountains 

Shower/Restroom Facilities 

 

B. Overall Maximum Development Intensity for Principal Uses.  The total amount of 

development on the Property shall not exceed the intensities for each principal use as 

set forth below: 

i. Campground – 8 Yurt Campsites; 11 Platform Tent Campsites; 3 Enlarged 

Glamping Campsites; and 13 Tent Campsites 

ii. Recreational Vehicle Park – – 5 Premium RV Back-In Campsites; 27 Premium RV 

Back-In Reverse Campsites; 8 Premium RV Pull-Through Campsites; and 10 

Premium RV Pull-Through Reverse Campsites  

 

TOTAL: 85 Campsites 

 

C. General Notes. 

i. References to principal land uses in this Section 6 shall have the meaning as 

ascribed in UDO Section 9.4. Definitions, which include: 

 

Campground: A commercial establishment containing two or more campsites or 

cabins available for overnight camping use whether by rental fee or short term 

lease. Campgrounds may include recreational facilities, a store for sale of food or 

camping supplies while on the premises, and facilities for the assembly of campers 

and guests. Campground does not include a summer camp, migrant labor camp, 

manufactured/mobile home park, or recreational vehicle/travel trailer park. 

 

Recreational Vehicle Park: A commercial establishment offering individual spaces 

or “sites” for short term rental to owners or operators of recreational vehicles or 

travel trailers. Such uses typically have shared or common restroom, showering and 

laundry facilities, and may also include recreational features and incidental sale of 

food, travel supplies, and recreational vehicle equipment. Rental of an individual 

site for a period of more than three continuous months, or uses that allow vehicles 

to be modified in ways that result in permanent, non-mobile structures are 

considered mobile home parks. 

 

*Please note that the Project shall comply with the limitation of stay 

requirement found in UDO Section 4.3.5.LL. (no travel trailer or 

recreational vehicle shall remain for more than 30 days during any six-

month period), rather than the limitation of stay contained in this definition. 

 

 

Page 180

cfarrell
Stamp



5 
 

D. Project Setbacks Per Sheet C1.00 on Project Plans. 

Front Setback Adjacent to 1617 Shepard School Rd (PIN 2706228986) – 50’ 

Front Setback Adjacent to Shepard School Road Frontage – 100’ 

Side Setback – 50’ 

Rear Setback – 50’ 

 

7. SHEPARD SCHOOL ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY IMPROVEMENTS 

 

The developer shall be responsible for one-half of a 4-lane median divided road section 

along the property’s Shepard School Road frontage as required by the Town’s 

Comprehensive Transportation Plan. The developer shall accomplish these improvements 

by either constructing them or providing fees-in-lieu, as determined by the Town, and such 

improvements shall include the following elements within the right-of-way: 

 

• Two 12-foot lanes 

• Standard 2.5-foot curb and gutter 

• 5-foot tree island 

• 5-foot sidewalk 

• One-half of a 12-foot median (6 feet of paving).  

 

It is the intent of the Town for the developer to pay a fee-in-lieu for the median 

construction, and to construct the remainder of the right-of-way improvements outlined 

above.  However, as the roadway is designed and the Town reviews the plans, the Town 

shall have the right to require the developer to pay fees-in-lieu instead of constructing those 

remaining improvements if needed to maintain public safety until the other half of Shepard 

School Road is constructed and the full right-of-way widening and realignment are 

completed. 

 

All fees-in-lieu shall be memorialized in a written agreement with the Town and such 

agreement and accompanying fees shall be due and payable at the time of construction 

drawing approval.  The methodology for calculating the fees-in-lieu shall be prescribed by 

state law. 

 

If right-of-way dedication is required for any of the above-mentioned improvements, that 

dedication shall occur at the time of construction drawing approval, or at the time of right-

of-way improvement acceptance, as determined by the Town Engineer and state law. 

 

8. MODIFICATIONS 

 

A. Opaque Screen – UDO Section 4.3.5.LL.4 provides that a “continuous opaque screen 

shall be provided along all park boundaries, except at entrances.” A Type D buffer has 

been provided along the southern boundary of the Project adjacent to the Shepard’s 

Park Subdivision, and Modified Type D buffers to accommodate existing tree canopy 

have also been provided along the eastern boundary of the Project adjacent to the 

Shepard’s Park Subdivision, and along a portion of the western boundary of the Project 

Page 181

cfarrell
Stamp



6 
 

adjacent to the residential use at 1617 Shepard School Road (PIN 2706228986).  A 

Type C buffer is shown on the northern boundary of the site.  This modified buffer is 

provided in this location due to the existing 20’ sanitary sewer easement as well as 

riparian setbacks.  Additionally, Modified Type C buffers have been provided along 

the Project’s frontage at Shepard’s School Road Right-of-Way. 

 

B. Sidewalks Adjacent to Internal Private Driveways – The Project provides for extensive 

walking paths throughout the site, connecting campsites to all amenities and the 

proposed greenway trail extension to the north.  The Project does not provide for 

sidewalks along the internal private driveways like those that would be required for 

public streets per UDO Section 5.3.2.E.1.f. and Section 6.10.3 given that these are 

internal private driveways for guest use only, and not public rights-of-way.  Further, 

the provision of sidewalks adjacent to internal driveways would be duplicative of the 

walking paths that already provide safe pedestrian ingress and egress to all necessary 

amenities.  See UDO Section 6.8.1.C.3 (sidewalks shall not be required where a 

pedestrian pathway provides an equivalent level of pedestrian circulation). Further, the 

provision of duplicative sidewalks will only add more impervious surfaces to the site, 

which increases stormwater runoff, and is contrary to the developer’s mission to create 

an environmentally sustainable development.  See attached Stormwater Management 

Letter from Dave McCallops, P.E. for further information regarding the stormwater 

plan for the Project. 

 

C. Curb and Gutter for Internal Private Driveways – The site contains existing large ponds 

that sit at low points on the property, meaning the site already has significant 

stormwater control measures in place that utilize sheet flow.  Based on the review by 

Dave McCallops, P.E., adding curb and gutter to the internal private driveways, which 

would be required if the private driveways were public roadways per UDO Section 

6.10.3., is unnecessary and could exacerbate erosion and interfere with the natural sheet 

flow that currently exists on site.  Therefore, the Project does not include curb and 

gutter along the internal driveways, but instead proposes the use of drainage ditches 

and sheet flow to provide for lower velocities of stormwater and less erosion, and also 

to provide for improved water quality.  See attached Stormwater Management Letter 

from Dave McCallops, P.E. for further information regarding the stormwater plan for 

the Project. This approach is consistent with the provisions of UDO Section 6.9.1.A., 

which provides: “To the extent practicable, all development shall conform to the natural 

contours of the land and natural and preexisting human-made drainage ways shall 

remain undisturbed.”  This approach further is consistent with the site’s Suburban 

Residential land use designation (and similarly in the Suburban Commercial 

designation), which provides that this type of site should allow for “more opportunity 

for natural and/or swale drainage (and storm water retention/absorption) relative to 

concentrated storm water conveyance in auto-oriented areas.” 

 

D. Internal Driveway Connectivity to Adjacent Subdivision Roadways – UDO Sections 

5.3.1.F.1.a and 6.10.H.1 provide that new streets should connect to streets on adjoining 

lands if there are opportunities for such cross-connections.  The Project does not 

propose full vehicular cross-connections with public streets located in the Shepard’s 

Page 182

cfarrell
Stamp



7 
 

Park Subdivision. First, the internal driveway proposed within the Project is not a 

public street, but is an internal access drive for guest-use only with a maximum speed 

limit of 8.5 MPH.  Therefore, the UDO Sections requiring cross-connectivity for public 

streets do not apply.   

 

Second, even if those UDO Sections do apply, cross-connections to the Shepard’s Park 

Subdivision in this case would be inappropriate for the following reasons: 

• The Project is intended to be gated access only to prevent campground traffic 

from entering adjoining residential subdivisions, and further to prevent 

residential traffic from entering a private campground/recreation area. This 

ensures the safety and security of campground guests and adjacent property 

owners alike.  See attached Stormwater Management Letter from Dave 

McCallops, P.E. for further information regarding the internal driveway access 

for the Project. 

• The internal driveway within the campground has a speed limit of 8.5 MPH 

given that guests will be at play. There is a significant concern that if the 

campground is open to general public traffic such as delivery vehicles, that 

speed limit will be violated, putting campers at risk.  Allowing general public 

traffic to access the private driveway also may make it difficult to obtain 

liability insurance for the Project due to these same safety concerns. 

• A full public vehicular cross-connection at Logan Canyon Lane at the south-

end of the project would result in a duplicative and parallel north-south roadway 

to Shepard Rock Drive, and would not provide any enhanced north-south 

connectivity for the Shepard’s Park Subdivision.  Additionally, a full public 

vehicular cross-connection at Logan Creek Drive at the east-end of the project 

would result in a road cutting right through the floodplain and the sensitive 

riparian buffer areas to the north, which adds more impervious surface area to 

the site and is unjustified from an environmental perspective. 

 

In lieu of full public cross-connections, the development proposes a cross-access point 

at the north-eastern portion of the site in order to connect the campground to Logan 

Creek Drive for emergency vehicle use only, which will be gated with a knox box. 

 

E. Sanitary Facilities – Per UDO 4.3.5.LL.8, the Project is required to provide 19 toilets, 

7 urinals, 13 lavatories and 13 showers for the 85 campsites. The National Fire 

Protection Association (NFPA) 1194 7.5 and 7.6 Standards for Recreational Vehicle 

Parks and Campgrounds requires the Project to provide 6 toilets, 0 urinals, 6 lavatories 

and 0 showers for the 85 campsites. The Project is providing 8 toilets, 0 urinals, 8 

lavatories and 4 showers, which exceeds the NFPA 1194 Standard. 

 

9. VEHICULAR TRIP GENERATION 

 

The trip generation for the Project was revised by Brittany Chase, P.E., Senior Traffic 

Engineer for Exult Engineering.  Based on her review, the Project is expected to generate 

129 daily trips, 18 AM peak hour trips (6 entering, 12 exiting), and 23 PM peak hour trips 

(15 entering, 8 exiting) when the Campground/Recreational Vehicle Park is at 100% full 

Page 183

cfarrell
Stamp



8 
 

occupancy, meaning all 85 campsites are rented.  It is anticipated that this 100% full 

occupancy condition will only occur in the peak summer months.  Therefore, the trip totals 

mentioned above are expected to represent a conservative estimate of traffic volume 

throughout the year. 

 

Additionally, when the expected trips for the Project are compared to the trips that could 

be generated under existing Residential Suburban (R2) zoning, there is a significant 

reduction in trips with the proposed campground and recreational vehicle park use as 

compared to a single-family residential development.  Specifically, the proposed 

campground/recreational vehicle use is expected to generate 599 fewer daily trips, 36 fewer 

AM peak hour trips, and 48 fewer PM peak hour trips than the 70 single family dwelling 

units that could be constructed on site under the R2 zoning designation.  The trip generation 

comparison is below: 

 

 
 

Per the Town’s UDO Section 6.13.3.A., a Traffic Impact Analysis is required for any new 

development project utilizing a development plan that can be anticipated to generate at 

least 50 vehicle trips in either the a.m. or p.m. peak hour, or exceeding 150 average daily 

trips (as determined by Institute of Transportation Engineers Standards).  Given that the 

Project does not meet these thresholds, a TIA is not required.  See attached letter from 

Brittany Chase, P.E. dated July 11, 2024 for the full analysis. 

 

10. EXHIBITS 

 

A. Project Plan Sheets 

B. 1800 Shepard School Road Topography Survey 

C. Recombination and Subdivision for Property 

D. Stormwater Management Recommendation Letter from Dave McCallops, P.E. 

dated March 7, 2024 

E. Vehicular Trip Generation Memo from Brittany Chase, P.E. dated July 11, 2024 

Page 184

cfarrell
Stamp



 

1800 SHEPARD SCHOOL ROAD 

CAMPGROUND AND RECREATIONAL VEHICLE PARK 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD) DISTRICT  

ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS 

(FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES) 

 

The following is provided for informational purposes to demonstrate the type of Campground and 

Recreational Vehicle Park that the applicant is envisioning: 

 

A. The Project shall have staff on-site 24 hours a day when registered 

campground/recreational vehicle park guests are present on the property. Additionally, 

the Project shall maintain a gated entry into the campground. 

 

B. The following rules and regulations shall be enforced by the Project Owner: 

 

CHECK-IN & CHECK-OUT TIMES: 

RV/Tent Sites 

• Check-In Time: 1 p.m. 

• Check-Out Time: 11 a.m. 

Yurts/Glamping Units: 

• Check-In Time: 3 p.m. 

• Check-Out Time: 11 a.m. 

 

QUIET HOURS: 

Quiet hours are from 10:00 p.m. to 8:00 a.m. Bright exterior lighting, generators, 

loud music, excessive noises, and/or other load noises or behaviors that may disturb 

guests, as determined by park staff in their sole and absolute discretion, are not 

permitted during quiet hours. 

 

OCCUPANCY: 

A maximum of 1 Camper/RV, 2 vehicles, 6 people and 2 pets are allowed per site. 

Extra guests/visitors must register at the Resort Office during office hours. Visitors 

must follow all rules and regulations. Registered guests are responsible for the 

behavior of visitors. 

 

SPEED LIMIT: 

The maximum speed throughout the park is 8.5 MPH. This is to ensure the safety 

of all guests. Failure to obey speed limits may result in removal from the property 

without refund. 

 

PETS: 

Pets must be on a leash at all times. Guests must clean up after their pet 

immediately. Excessive barking, growling or aggressive behavior, as to be 

determined by park staff in their sole and absolute discretion, will not be tolerated. 

 

Page 185

cfarrell
Stamp



SMOKING/VAPING: 

Smoking, vaping, and all forms of tobacco use is prohibited inside any resort 

building or rental unit. Smoking is allowed on your own site as long as it is done so 

in a way that does not directly or indirectly impact the experience of other guests, 

as determined by park staff in their sole and absolute discretion. 

 

ALCOHOL: 

Alcohol must be consumed responsibly and discreetly on your own site. 

Excessively loud, combative, belligerent, or disruptive behavior, as determined by 

park staff in their sole and absolute discretion, will not be tolerated. 

 

MOTORIZED TRANSPORTATION: 

Gas powered scooters, dirt bikes, ATV’s, golf carts or any other loud vehicles shall 

not be operated on site. Electric golf carts, scooters, and bikes are permitted during 

daylight hours at speeds not to exceed the maximum speed limit for the park. 

 

GARBAGE: 

All trash should be deposited in the dumpsters located throughout the property. 

Trash shall not be burned or dumped in firepits. 

 

CAMPFIRES: 

Campfires are permitted in designated fire pits only. Fires must be supervised at all 

times and fully extinguished when you leave the fire pit site. 

 

WASHING VEHICLES: 

Guests’ personal cars, RV’s and golf carts may not be washed or rinsed on property 

at any time. 
 

Page 186

cfarrell
Stamp



 

MUNICIPAL UTILITY ALLOCATION POLICY 
Statement of Purpose and Goals 

Introduction 
Drinking water supplies throughout the greater City of Raleigh distribution system are finite, subject to 

disruption by drought and/or other calamity and Zebulon’s allocation is contractually limited. The Town 

staff, the Planning Board, and the Board of Commissioners have given a great deal of thought and study 

as to the best utilization of this valuable resource to benefit current and future citizens. 

The Town of Zebulon’s municipal water and sewer capacity is a valuable resource that must be conserved 

and apportioned to new development projects that promote the Town’s policy of ensuring a diversified 

tax base and housing supply. Such an allocation policy will tend to promote diversity of housing available 

to a wide cross section of citizens of diverse socio-economic backgrounds and promote economic viability 

and sustainability by providing for retail and other commercial development within the Town of Zebulon. 

In order to preserve and enhance property values, manage its limited water supply as a vital natural 

resource, promote economic development, and incentivize smart growth practices, the allocation of 

Zebulon’s potable water capacity shall hereafter be in accordance with this policy. 

Land Use and the Tax Base 
The local government expense of providing fire and police protection, schools, parks, social services, water 

and sewage systems and other essential public services to residential neighborhoods is generally greater 

than the ad valorem tax revenue generated by such neighborhoods. On the other hand, the cost of 

providing services to commercial and industrial development is generally less than the tax revenue 

accruing to the local government. Having a predominantly residential tax base would require the Town of 

Zebulon over time to assess a higher tax levy to raise funds to provide essential services or to reduce the 

level of public services provided. This is one reason among many why local governments including Zebulon 

strive to achieve a balance of both residential and non-residential growth. 

Zebulon’s historical development is transitioning from industrial to residential, leading to a current tax 

base of approximately 40% residential and 60% commercial/industrial. The following table shows 

Zebulon’s tax base over the past five years 1 

Zebulon Tax Base (Past Five Years) 

Fiscal Year Commercial Residential 

2021-2022 60% 40% 

2020-2021 65% 35% 

2019-2020 72% 28% 

2018-2019 73% 27% 

2017-2018 71% 29% 

 

 
1 “Tax Base Components | Wake County Government,” Wake County North Carolina, 
https://www.wakegov.com/departments-government/tax-administration/data-files-statistics-and-reports/tax-
base-components 

Page 187

cfarrell
Stamp



 

As shown in the table above, the residential tax base has steadily increased proportionally over the past 

five years. This trend in the tax base data, combined with the vested planned residential development in 

the coming years, demonstrates the need for the Town to address this shift through policy. The Zebulon 

Board of Commissioners believes that it is fiscally responsible and otherwise in the public interest to 

promote and encourage non-residential development in the jurisdiction as an alternative to rapid 

residential development to keep the ratio between the two development types well balanced. A goal of 

maintaining a tax base of 60% residential and 40% commercial/industrial is hereby established. 

Development Goals for the Full Build-Out of Zebulon  
Communities without a wide variety of housing types and styles also put pressure on the Wake County 

Public School System which remains committed to having students of a wide range of socio-economic 

backgrounds attend each local school. In addition to the goal of maintaining a balanced tax base, the Town 

of Zebulon is committed to achieving a balance of housing types within its jurisdiction.  

This commitment is consistent with both the Town’s Strategic Plan and Comprehensive Plan. The Town of 

Zebulon: Vision 2030 Strategic Plan lists “Growing Smart” as one of its three focus areas, calling for the 

planning of appropriate land uses and affordability of the community. The Grow Zebulon Comprehensive 

Land Use Plan identifies six guiding principles for the town. Two of those principles are “Zebulon will be 

BALANCED” and “Zebulon will be PRUDENT.” A balance should be achieved for the Town’s tax base, its 

land uses, and its housing types to allow for an affordable community with employment and business 

opportunities that will help the community prosper. The achievement of balance in Zebulon will 

contribute to the Town being prudent. As stated previously, a local government’s cost of providing 

services to commercial properties is generally less than that of residential properties. Having a balanced 

tax base that is not proportionally over-saturated with residential properties will contribute to keeping 

the Town financially sound. 

Below are three development goals that are integral to the utility allocation policy and the future of the 

Town. These development goals apply to the entire, future Zebulon jurisdiction including the ETJ, short-

range and long-range urban service areas. 

 GOAL #1: Maintain 60%-40% ratio of residential to non-residential tax values. 
 

 

 

GOAL #2: Residential Housing Percentage Breakdown 

SFD|TH|MF – 75%|10%|15% (Note – Duplex counted as MF) 

 
GOAL #3: Encourage Mixed Use Development to improve pedestrian 

connectivity to non-residential activity.  

Upon Adoption-January 2021 

60% Residential - 40% Non-Residential 

Upon Adoption-January 2021 

80.5% | 0.5% | 19% 

Page 188

cfarrell
Stamp



 

Policy and Procedures 

Water Allocation 
All existing parcels of real property within the corporate limits of Zebulon, regardless of proposed acreage, 

shape, or location as of the adoption of this ordinance are entitled to 115 gallons per day of water 

allocation to build and sustain a single family or a limited business or commercial use. No additional water 

allocation will be awarded for proposed development except in accordance with the requirements of this 

policy. 

Wastewater Connection 
All projects considered for utility allocation must provide a wastewater system connection with adequate 

receiving capacity, as determined by the Wake County Health Department and/or City of Raleigh Public 

Utilities Department and approved by the Town of Zebulon Planning Director. 

General Conditions & Requirements 

• All proposed projects must be within the existing corporate limits or have filed a valid and 

complete petition for Voluntary Annexation. 

• All proposed projects under consideration must have a complete application submitted for the 

appropriate Master Plan, Subdivision, Site Plan, Special Use Permit, Conditional Zoning Request, 

Zoning Compliance Permit, Building Permit, or any other necessary approval. 

• All projects are subject to a Utility Allocation or Developer’s Agreement approved by the Town’s 

Board of Commissioners. If the Developer/Applicant fails to meet all terms of that agreement the 

unused allocation will be reclaimed, no new building permits will be issued, and no new 

connections to the water or wastewater systems will be permitted. Active building permits will 

have certificates of occupancy held until mitigating measures are agreed to by all parties. 

• Projects with proven vested rights upon adoption of this ordinance will be permitted to finish 

their projects as previously approved. 

• Public water may be utilized for irrigation purposes so long as the Primary Use associated with 

the site has previously gained water allocation through the Town. 

• Any third parties who buy land to build upon are bound by the approved Utility Allocation 

Agreement or Development Agreement for that property. If the agreement is not fulfilled, the 

above terms and conditions still apply regardless of who owns the land. 

Compliance Required 
This policy allocates municipal water in gallons per day for new development proposals, master plans, site 

plans, building plans, and/or structures seeking construction approval. Each phase of a phased 

development must comply with the terms and development schedule of an approved Utility Allocation 

Agreement before the next phase can begin or the development risks loss of previously reserved 

allocation. 

Previously dedicated but unused allocation can be reclaimed by the Town’s Board of 

Commissioners for: 

(1) the lack of compliance with any existing Utility Allocation or Developer’s Agreement; 

(2) violation of applicable town policy provision, ordinance standard, condition of approval; 

(3) violation of federal or state regulation; or 

(4) other good cause. 

Page 189

cfarrell
Stamp



 

Utility Allocation Application Process 
Upon receiving a new development proposal requesting water capacity, the Planning Staff shall direct the 

Developer/Applicant to demonstrate the project’s qualifications. A Developer/Applicant shall state on the 

appropriate application, and stipulate within an approved Utility Allocation Agreement, the use or uses 

proposed to be built as part of the project along with the construction design and materials. Town action 

on the request will be deferred until the application is complete and the requested information has been 

provided. 

Proposed projects shall complete the UTILITY ALLOCATION WORKSHEET according to its instructions to 

determine the total number of points achieved. The Utility Allocation Application package will be reviewed 

for completeness and compliance by the Technical Review Committee (TRC) in conjunction with the 

applicable development approval for the subject property (conditional rezoning, planned development, 

site plan, etc.). 

Qualification for water allocation is judged by:  

• The level of developer investment  

• Anticipated increases in the Town’s ad valorem tax base  

• Construction and dedication of public infrastructure  

• Provision of employment opportunities for Zebulon citizens  

• Provisions of diversified housing stock  

• Preservation of open space  

• Protection of existing tree canopy  

• Conservation of existing habitat  

• The provision of recreational amenities for current or future Zebulon residents 

Projects must be awarded 60 TOTAL POINTS or more to merit water allocation. 

Points are awarded in two categories, BASE POINTS and BONUS POINTS. BONUS POINTS are broken down 

into six categories. 

1. Nonconformity Abatement and Public Infrastructure Improvements 

2. Green Development Standards 

3. Gateway and Transit Improvements 

4. Amenities  

5. Affordable Housing 

6. Other 

Unless a project can gain all necessary BONUS POINTS from a single improvement identified in the 

approved list, improvements must be made from at least two of the categories of BONUS POINTS. 

All features and/or improvements that earn a projects BONUS POINTS must be clearly shown on a 

development plan for each application type. 

Page 190

cfarrell
Stamp



 

Expiration of Allocation Award 
A developer/applicant who has secured allocation according to this policy and hasn’t progressed in 

construction plan approval, building permit approval, or on-site construction for a period of 12 months 

will lose the award of allocation without benefit. 

Annual Review of Policy & Appeals 
This policy shall be reviewed in January of each year and, when appropriate, readjusted by the Town’s 

Board of Commissioners. The Town’s overall progress on policy goals will be considered and the 

multipliers and/or point thresholds readjusted accordingly. 

Appeals of any provision of this ordinance shall be decided upon by the Town’s Board of Commissioners 

upon receiving a recommendation from the Planning Board. 

BASE POINTS: List of Preferred Land Uses and Required Characteristics: 

The uses listed below have been determined to be the most desirable and important uses for the Town 

of Zebulon to promote and maintain economic and housing diversity. Only projects that completely 

meet the stated performance characteristics will be considered for utility allocation. Please select one of 

the following Base Point classifications.  

60 Base Points 
 

Single Family Homes (Expedited Subdivision or Recombination) 
Newly constructed Single Family Homes built upon new lots created via the minor 
subdivision, exempt subdivision, expedited subdivision (3 or fewer lots) or 
recombination process.  
 

60 Base Points 
 

Change of Use 
This category captures renovation, rehabilitation, up-fit or retrofit of existing 
buildings or portions of buildings that pre-date this policy and require a code 
summary sheet, change in building occupancy, certificate of occupancy, building 
permit and/or building inspections and do not increase the utility demand from 
the previous use of the building. 
 

45 Base Points 
 

Business Office/Finance/ Insurance / Professional Services Center - Large 
Qualifying projects must exceed 100,000 square feet of heated floor space and 
create at least 150 employment positions that exceed the average annual Wake 
County salary according to Wake County Economic Development or the 
Employment Security Commission. Employees perform professional, scientific, 
and technical services for others. Such services require a high degree of expertise 
and training and provide high salaried employment opportunities. Examples 
include software engineering, legal, medical, accounting, consulting, 
architectural, biomedical, chemical, research and development, and 
administrative services. Finance or Insurance Centers shall also pool financial risks 
by underwriting insurance and annuities. Some establishments support employee 
benefit programs. Examples include bank or credit union headquarters, 
brokerages, investments, insurance, financing, and data processing 
establishments. 
 

45 Base Points 
 

Manufacturing/Industrial Employment Center 
Manufacturing or Industrial establishments in this category exceed 200,000 
square feet of floor space located in plants, factories, or mills and employ power-

Page 191

cfarrell
Stamp



 

driven machines and materials-handling equipment. They may also employ 
workers who assemble or create new products by hand, without the 
characteristic machinery-intensive enterprise. Many manufacturing 
establishments process products of agriculture, forestry, fishing, mining, or 
quarrying as well as products of other manufacturing establishments. Most 
manufacturing establishments have some form of captive services (e.g., research 
and development, and administrative operations, such as accounting, payroll, or 
management) in conjunction on-site. 
 

45 Base Points 
 

Governmental Uses/Public Administration 
This category encompasses centers for all government functions; it includes 
federal, state, and local government agencies that administer, oversee, and 
manage public programs and budgets and have executive, legislative, or judicial 
authority. Establishments develop policy, create laws, adjudicate civil and criminal 
legal cases, and provide for public safety and national defense. 
 

40 Base Points 
 

Single Use Retail 
Newly constructed single use, stand-alone building used primarily for retail, 
restaurant, or similar commercial use. 
 

40 Base Points 
 

Hotels, Motels, or other Accommodation Service Establishments  
This category serves lodging and short-term accommodations for travelers. They 
may offer a wide range of services, from overnight sleeping space to full-service 
hotel suites. They may offer these services in conjunction with other activities, 
such as entertainment or recreation. Stays in these establishments are generally 
less than one month. This classification does not include boarding or rooming 
houses. 
 

40 Base Points 
 

Arts/Entertainment/Museums 
These establishments operate facilities or provide services for a variety of 
cultural, entertainment, and performing art functions. Establishments include 
those that produce, promote, or participate in live performances, events, or 
exhibits intended for public viewing; those that preserve and exhibit objects and 
sites of historical, cultural, or educational interest; and those that operate 
facilities or provide services to serve activities associated with the 
aforementioned. 
 

40 Base Points 
 

Amusement, Sports or Recreational Establishment 
Establishments in this category operate either indoor or outdoor facilities offering 
family activities (i.e. sports, recreation, or amusement) and provide services, such 
as facilitating amusement in places operated by others, operating recreational 
sports groups and leagues. Examples include golf courses, indoor sports venues, 
bowling alleys, miniature golf courses, athletic clubs, skating rinks and arcades. 
This category may be used in conjunction with a commercial or residential 
development as a mixed use development.   
 

40 Base Points Mixed Use Development (Transit Oriented) 
Newly constructed or substantially rehabilitated collection of vertically mixed 
retail, office and residential uses in multi-story buildings centered within a one-
half mile radius of an existing rail or bus transit station or the intersection of 

Page 192

Stefanie Smith
Rectangle

Stefanie Smith
Text Box
40

cfarrell
Stamp



 

Horton Street and North Arendell Avenue in Downtown Zebulon. In order to 
qualify as mixed use, developments must dedicate at least one-third of the total 
heated square footage to residential use and the remainder to a mix of retail and 
office uses. All three use types must be represented and at least 10% of the 
heated square footage must be dedicated to street level, storefront retail uses. 
 

40 Base Points 
 

Mixed Use Development (Urban Infill) 
Newly constructed or substantially rehabilitated collection of mixed retail, office 
and residential uses in a multi-story building on a previously developed parcel 
within the corporate limits. In order to qualify as mixed use, developments must 
dedicate at least one-third of the total heated square footage to residential use 
and the remainder to a mix of retail and office uses. All three use types must be 
represented and at least 10% of the heated square footage must be dedicated to 
street level, storefront retail uses. 
 

40 Base Points 
 

Mixed Use Development (Greenfield) 
Newly constructed collection of mixed retail, office and residential uses in a multi-
story building or buildings on a previously undeveloped parcel. In order to qualify 
as mixed use, developments must dedicate at least one-third of the total heated 
square footage to residential use and the remainder to a mix of retail and office 
uses. All three use types must be represented and at least 10% of the heated 
square footage must be dedicated to street level, storefront retail uses. 
 

35 Base Points Housing Services for the Elderly Establishments  
This category offers housing services for the aged, not requiring a license from 
the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, such as 
independent retirement housing, multi-unit assisted housing with services 
(MAHS), and continuing care retirement centers. All facilities must provide, but 
not necessarily be limited to, the following services/facilities: On-site laundry 
facilities, on site management, guaranteed transportation services at least four 
days per week, on-site exercise facilities, on-site computer access, and a 
clubhouse/common lounge area for all residents. 
 

35 Base Points 
 

Mixture of Use Development (Retail/Office-Institutional/Commercial) 
Newly constructed collection of horizontally arranged uses including retail, office-
institutional and commercial within a master planned project on a previously 
undeveloped parcel or parcels totaling at least 10 acres. Mixture of use projects 
must include at least two (2) use types with at least 25% of the space devoted to 
each use type included in the development. 
 

30 Base Points 
 

Retail/Commercial Center  
Newly constructed center of at least 50,000 square feet, typically containing an 
anchor such as a grocery store and other smaller spaces and/or outparcels for 
subordinate uses. Uses are entirely consumer-driven and include all manner of 
retail, service and office possibilities. 
 

30 Base Points Business Office/Finance/ Insurance / Professional Services Center – Medium  
Qualifying projects must exceed 50,000 square feet of heated floor space and 
create at least 75 employment positions that exceed the average annual Wake 
County salary according to Wake County Economic Development or the 

Page 193

cfarrell
Stamp



 

Employment Security Commission. Employees perform professional, scientific, 
and technical services for others. Such services require a high degree of expertise 
and training and provide high salaried employment opportunities. Examples 
include software engineering, legal, medical, accounting, consulting, 
architectural, biomedical, chemical, research and development, and 
administrative services. Finance or Insurance Centers shall also pool financial risks 
by underwriting insurance and annuities. Some establishments support employee 
benefit programs. Examples include bank or credit union headquarters, 
brokerages, investments, insurance, financing, and data processing 
establishments. 
 

30 Base Points Business Office/Finance/ Insurance / Professional Services Center – Small 
Qualifying projects 50,000 square feet of heated floor space or less. Employees 
perform professional, scientific, and technical services for others. Such services 
require a high degree of expertise and training and provide high salaried 
employment opportunities. Examples include software engineering, legal, 
medical, accounting, consulting, architectural, biomedical, chemical, research and 
development, and administrative services. Finance or Insurance Centers shall also 
pool financial risks by underwriting insurance and annuities. Some establishments 
support employee benefit programs. Examples include bank or credit union 
headquarters, brokerages, investments, insurance, financing, and data processing 
establishments. 
 

30 Base Points Multi-Tenant Retail Center  
Newly constructed center 50,000 square feet or less, typically containing a more 
than one tenant space within a single structure. Uses are entirely consumer-
driven and include all manner of retail, service and office possibilities. 

30 Base Points 
 

Single Use Office 
Newly constructed single use, stand-alone building used primarily for office and 
professional. 
 

30 Base Points Bungalow Court or Pocket Neighborhood 
Newly constructed Bungalow Court or Pocket Neighborhood per the standards of 
the Unified Development Ordinance. 

30 Base Points 
 
 

Distribution/Trucking Center 
Newly constructed center of at least 500,000 square feet where products and 
resources are transported to and delivered from via truck or rail. 
 

25 Base Points Warehouse 
Newly constructed center of at least 500,000 square feet where products and 
resources are stored. 
 

25 Base Points 
 

Religious Institutions 
Any facility such as a church, temple, synagogue, mosque or monastery used for 
worship by a non-profit organization and their customarily related uses. 
 

20 Base Points Intensive Industrial Uses: 
Uses classified as Special Land Uses within the Industrial Classification.  

Page 194

cfarrell
Stamp



 

20 Base Points 
 

Multi-Family Residential & Condo Units 

20 Base Points Major Subdivision 4- 25 Lots 
Any subdivision of land of four (4) – 25 Lots. 

10 Base Points 
 

Major Subdivision 26 lots or more 
Any subdivision of land of 26 or more lots. 

Board 
Determination 

All Other Uses Not Categorized 
This category of use captures all other uses not categorized elsewhere. 
Allocations for such uses are left to the discretion of the Town’s Board of 
Commissioners upon recommendation of the Planning Board and acted on a case-
by-case basis. 

 

  

Page 195

cfarrell
Stamp



 

BONUS POINTS 
Proposed projects can gain BONUS POINTS by agreeing to provide any of the following items over and 

above the UDO or Standard Specification requirements for their development proposal. 

NOTE: No bonus points are given for UDO requirements. 

CATEGORY 1 – Non-Conformity Abatement and Public Infrastructure Improvements  
 

Section 1A - Abatement of Nonconformities (Max - 3 points) 

 Abatement of any existing non-conforming structures 3 

 Abatement of any existing non-conforming use of land 2 

 Abatement of any existing non-conforming lots 1 

 

Section 1B - Roadway Infrastructure Not Warranted by TIA/UDO/CTP (Max - 10 points) 

 Construction of full cross section of existing off-site public street 5 

 Nearby intersection improvements 5 

 Traffic signal improvements 4 

 Signage or striping improvements 1 

 

Section 1C - Off-Site Public Greenway Improvements (Max - 10 points) 

 Construct more than 4000 linear feet of 10-foot-wide path 10 

 Construct more than 3000 linear feet of 10-foot-wide path 8 

 Construct more than 2000 linear feet of 10-foot-wide path 6 

 Construct more than 1000 linear feet of 10-foot-wide path 4 

 Construct 500 to 1000 linear feet of 10-foot-wide path 2 

 

Section 1D – Off-Site Bike-Ped Improvements (Max – 5 points) 

 Construction of off-site sidewalk improvements (Subject to TRC 
Approval) 

2 

 Construction of off-site bike lane improvements (Subject to TRC 
Approval) 

3 

 

CATEGORY 2. Green Development Standards/ Building & Site Design 
 

Section 2A - Conservation of Natural Habitat Meeting Active Open Space 
Requirements as Defined in the UDO 

(Max - 10 points) 

 One point per acre up to 10 acres 1 - 10 

 

Section 2B - Parking  (Max – 15 points) 

 Structured Parking Facilities - must reduce footprint by 20% 10 

 EV Charging Stations (two-port) 5 

 Provision of on-street public parking (1 point per stall up to 10 Max) 1 - 10 

 

Page 196

cfarrell
Stamp



 

Section 2C - Stormwater SCM’s (Max – 10 points) 

 Stormwater - Restored Riparian Buffer 10 

 Construct a fountain or other stormwater amenity within the 
BMP/SCM 
(as approved by Staff) 

4 

 Stormwater - Landscaped Green Roof 5 

 Stormwater - Underground capture system for on-site irrigation 5 

 Stormwater - Bioretention 5 

 Stormwater - Wetland 5 

 Exclusive use of porous pavement in parking areas where suitable 2 

 

Section 2D - Building/Site Design (Max - 20 points) 

 Compliance with residential design guidelines per Section 5.2 of the 
UDO 

10 

 Non-Residential building design that incorporates an active upper 
story. 

5 

 Pedestrian oriented and walkable site design which promotes 
alternatives to vehicular travel within the development. (Subject to 
TRC Approval) 

5 

 

Section 2E - Infill/Redevelopment (Max – 16 points) 

 Development or Redevelopment within DTC 10 

 Development or Redevelopment within DTP 6 

 Redevelopment of previously vacant building space over 20,000 
square feet 

6 

 Redevelopment of previously vacant building space under 20,000 
square feet 

5 

 

Section 2F - Historic Preservation  

 Historic Structure Preservation via Deed Restriction (Determined by 
TRC) 

10 

 Restoration of Historic Structure (Must be approved by TRC) 5 

 

Section 2G – LEED Certification (Max – 10 points) 

 LEED Certification for Neighborhood Development (LEED ND) 10 

 Platinum LEED Certification 10 

 Gold LEED Certification 8 

 Silver LEED Certification 6 

 Bronze LEED Certification 4 

 LEED Certified Certification 2 

 

CATEGORY 3 – Outdoor Enhancement and Transit Improvements 
 

Section 3A – Outdoor Enhancement (Max – 12 points) 

 Construction of a Parkway Street Section on a Collector level street 5 

Page 197

cfarrell
Stamp



 

 Construction or Preservation of Gateway Landscaping or Structure 
(Subject to Comprehensive Plan Consistency and TRC approval) 

5 

 Outdoor Display of Public Art (Subject to TRC Approval) 4 

 Public Facing Outdoor Mural (Subject to TRC Approval) 4 

 Maintenance of Roadside Gateway Plant Bed (requires maintenance 
agreement) 

3 

 Planting Pollinator Garden (225 Square Foot Minimum) 3 

 Exclusive use of xeriscaping techniques and drought tolerant species 3 

 Enhanced Roadside Landscaping (Subject to TRC Approval) 2 

 Enhanced Buffer Landscaping (Subject to TRC Approval) 2 

 Construction of a Parkway Street Section on a Local level street 2 

 Installation of Native Shade Tree Species (per Tree up to 10 Trees) 1 

 

Section 3B – Transit (Pursuant to location being adjacent to a planned or 
active transit route) 

(Max - 8 points) 

 Provision of more than 50 designated Park & Ride Stalls 8 

 Provision of 25 designated Park & Ride Stalls 5 

 Provision of 10 designated Park & Ride Stalls 3 

 Provision of mass transit easement w/ structure (bus stop with 
shelter & bench) 

2 

 

CATEGORY 4 - Amenities 
 

Section 4A - Private Greenway  (Max - 3 points) 

 Construction of more than 3000 linear feet private greenway 
meeting Town of Zebulon standards 

3 

 Construction of more than 2000 linear feet of private greenway 
meeting Town of Zebulon standards 

2 

 Construction of more than 1000 linear feet of private greenway 
meeting Town of Zebulon standards 

1 

 

Section 4B – Pool (Combinations may be approved by TRC) (Max - 8 points) 

 Olympic Pool and Aquatic Center 8 

 Junior Olympic Pool 5 

 Lap Pool (four lane minimum) 3 

 Resort Style Pool 2 

 Any Other Pool 1 

 

Section 4C - Outdoor Deck/Patio (Max - 3 points) 

 Deck/Patio - More than 3000 square feet 3 

 Deck/Patio - More than 2000 square feet 2 

 Deck/Patio - More than 1000 square feet 1 

 

Section 4D - Pool Amenities (Max - 2 points) 

Page 198

Stefanie Smith
Text Box
3

Stefanie Smith
Text Box
5

Stefanie Smith
Text Box
1

Stefanie Smith
Text Box
1

Stefanie Smith
Text Box
1

cfarrell
Stamp



 

 Jacuzzi/Hot Tub/Whirlpool 2 

 Water Playground with apparatus 2 

 Sauna/Steam room 2 

 

Section 4E - Clubhouse (Max - 10 points) 

 Commercial Coffee Shop with at least 10 designated public seating 
spaces.  

10 

 With full kitchen and over 4000 square feet of meeting space 10 

 With full kitchen and less than 4000 square feet of meeting space 9 

 Meeting space without kitchen more than 3500 square feet 8 

 Meeting space without kitchen 2500 - 3499 square feet 7 

 Meeting Space without kitchen 1500 - 2499 square feet 5 

 Meeting Space without kitchen less than 1500 square feet 4 

 No meeting space, bathrooms and changing rooms only 3 

 Outdoor Kitchen or Grills 2 

 

Section 4F - Additional Active Recreation (Max - 10 points) 

 Gymnasium (regulation size indoor basketball court) 10 

 Baseball/Softball Field (regulation size) 5 

 Football/Soccer Field (regulation size) 5 

 Skate Park 5 

 Tennis Courts (two regulation courts, fenced) 5 

 Multi-Use Hardcourt (two regulation basketball courts, street 
hockey, fenced) 

5 

 Pickleball Court (three regulation courts, fenced)  5 

 Pocket Park – 5,000 square feet 3 

 IPEMA Certified Playground Equipment 4 

 Lighted Field of Play for nighttime use 3 

 Electronic Scoreboard or Covered Dugouts or Bleachers 3 

 Community Garden – 15-foot by 15-foot, with water access and 
potting shed.  

3 

 

Section 4G – Additional Urban Open Space Enhancements (Within Non 
Residential Zoning Districts) 

(Max – 10 points) 

 Fountain 2 

 Canopy Including Fixed Permanent Seating 2 

 Drinking Fountain with Pet Fountain 2 

 Permanent Game Tables 1 

 Permanent Tables with Shade Cover 1 

 All Weather Bulletin Board 1 

 Covered or Internal Bicycle Parking 1 

 Artist-Design Bicycle Racks 1 

 Little Free Library 1 

 Drinking Fountain 1 

 Public Work Bike Stand With Tools 1 

 

Page 199

Stefanie Smith
Text Box
4

Stefanie Smith
Text Box
2

Stefanie Smith
Text Box
4

Stefanie Smith
Text Box
1

Stefanie Smith
Text Box
2

cfarrell
Stamp



 

CATEGORY 5 – Affordable Housing 

 
Inclusion of a percentage of the provided housing stock of a proposed 
development cost no more than 30% of a household income not exceeding 
80% of the Area Median Income (AMI) 

(Max – 10 Points 

 15% Affordable Housing 10 

 10% Affordable Housing 5 

 

CATEGORY 6 – Other 
(Max 5 Points) 

 Integrated public safety operation systems (EX. Flock Safety or others 
as approved by the Police Department) 

3 

 Smart Waste and Recycling Stations 2 

 

Page 200

cfarrell
Stamp



 

 

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM 

Date:   Thursday, July 11, 2024 

To:  Adam Culpepper 
Town of Zebulon Planning Department 
Senior Planner 

From:  Brittany Chase, P.E. 
  Senior Traffic Engineer 
  Exult Engineering 

Subject: Zebulon RV Campground 
  Trip Generation Comparison (Revised II) 

BACKGROUND 

Exult Engineering has been contracted to perform traffic engineering services for the proposed RV 
Campground located in Zebulon, North Carolina.  As shown on the Vicinity Map on Figure 1, the proposed 
35.4-acre site is located on the east side of Shepard School Road south of the Tippett Road intersection.  
As currently envisioned, the proposed development is to consist of approximately 85 campsites 
(approximately 50 RV sites, 11 glamping sites, 11 yurt sites, and 13 tent sites) as shown on the Proposed 
Site Plan on Figure 2.  The access for the proposed site consists of one full movement driveway on Shepard 
School Road. The proposed site is to be developed by summer of 2025.  The proposed development does 
require rezoning.   

The purpose of this letter is to discuss the trip generation of the proposed site and how this compares to 
the trip generation of the maximum allowable use under the current zoning.  This letter is a revised version 
of the previously submitted letters dated May 15, 2023 and March 14, 2024.  This letter has been updated 
to account for minor site plan changes in response to Town comments that resulted in a slight increase in 
the number of campsites. 

TRIP GENERATION  

The proposed Zebulon RV Campground is to consist of approximately 85 campsites comprised of 
approximately 50 RV sites, 11 glamping sites, 11 yurt sites, and 13 tent sites.  The trip generation for the 
proposed site was based on rates and equations published in the Institute of Transportation Engineers 
(ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition.  The current version of the NCDOT Congestion Management 
Rates vs. Equations spreadsheet was used for guidance.   

The ITE Trip Generation Manual provides rates and equations for the AM and PM peak hour trip 
generation of a campground but does not provide data for weekday trip generation.  Therefore, data 
available within the Base Camp – Eagle Traffic Impact Study (SGM, Inc., December 30, 2020) was used to 
supplement the rates and equations provided in the Trip Generation Manual.  Traffic count data was 
obtained from a similar campground site in Silt, Colorado (KOA Campground) to determine the rate used 
for the daily trip generation within the Base Camp – Eagle Traffic Impact Study.  At the time of traffic count 

Page 201

cfarrell
Stamp



Zebulon RV Campground  July 11, 2024 
Trip Generation Comparison (Revised II) 

2 
 

data collection, the KOA Campground consisted of 73 campsites and resulted in a rate of 1.51 daily trips 
per campsite during the weekday in the peak summer months.  The Base Camp – Eagle Traffic Impact 
Study is included as an Attachment to this letter. 

Applying the AM and PM peak hour rates and equations presented in the ITE Trip Generation Manual as 
well as the daily rate obtained for traffic count data collection, the proposed development is expected to 
generate 129 daily trips, 18 AM peak hour trips (6 entering, 12 exiting), and 23 PM peak hour trips (15 
entering, 8 exiting).   

The AM and PM peak hour trip generation presented in the table below is expected to represent a 
conservative estimate because the independent variable used to calculate the site trips is listed as 
“occupied campsites” within the ITE Trip Generation Manual rather than “total campsites.”  Therefore, 
trip generation presented herein for the AM and PM peak hours assumes 100% occupancy. 

It is important to note that because the proposed site requires rezoning, a comparison between the trip 
generation potential of the maximum allowable use under current zoning and the trip generation 
potential of the proposed development is required.  The site is currently zoned as Residential Suburban 
(R2) on the Town of Zebulon’s Official Zoning Map.  If the site were developed under current zoning 
designations, a maximum of 70 single family dwelling units would be permitted based on the allowable 2 
units/acre density.  Under current zoning, the development is expected to generation 728 daily trips, 54 
AM peak hour trips (13 entering, 41 exiting), and 71 PM peak hour trips (45 entering, 26 exiting).    

Table 1: Trip Generation for Zebulon RV Campground 

Land Use Daily AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit 

416: Campground/ 
RV Park 

85 Occupied 
Sites 129 18 6 12 23 15 8 

Total Proposed Site Trips 129 18 6 12 23 15 8 

Current Zoning: LUC 210 
Single Family Detached 70 d.u. 

728 54 13 41 71 45 26 

Additional Site Trips due to Rezoning -599 -36 -7 -29 -48 -30 -18 
References: Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers, September 2021 and Base Camp – Eagle 
Traffic Impact Study (SGM, Inc., December 30, 2020) 

Based on the trip generation potential presented in Table 1, the proposed site is expected to generate 
less trips when compared to the maximum allowable use under current zoning.  The proposed RV 
Campground is expected to generate 599 fewer daily trips, 36 fewer AM peak hour trips, and 48 fewer 
PM peak hour trips than the 70 single family dwelling units allowed under the R-2 zoning designation.   

As published in the Town of Zebulon’s Unified Development Ordinance, a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) is 
required for site plan approval if the proposed development is expected to generate 50 peak hour trips 
and for rezoning cases if the proposed development is expected to generate 150 peak hour trips.  The 
purpose of a TIA is to analyze the impact of the proposed site during the AM and PM peak hours.  The 
projected AM and PM peak hour site trips presented in Table 1 are well below the Town’s TIA threshold.  
With the proposed trip generation of the site being less than the Town’s TIA threshold for both site plan 
submittal and rezoning, a TIA is not necessary to determine impacts of the proposed site.    

 

Page 202

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 203

cfarrell
Stamp



Vicinity Map
Figure 1

Zebulon RV
Campground

SITE

Page 204

cfarrell
Stamp



Proposed
Site Plan

Figure 2

Zebulon RV

Campground

Page 205

cfarrell
Stamp



 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 

DATE:  February 25, 2019 
REVISED August 1, 2019 
REVISED December 30, 2020 
 
TO:  Tambi Katieb 
 
CC:  Shawn Colby 
 
FROM: Dan Cokley, PE, PTOE, SGM     
 
RE:  Traffic Impact Study 
  Base Camp – Eagle 
  Eagle County, CO 
 

This Traffic Impact Study addresses an Eagle County engineering request for a Traffic Impact 

Study (TIS) for this proposed Campground / RV Park to be located at 3220 Brush Creek Road, 

Eagle County, CO. The Eagle County Land Use Regulations Section 4-620.G require Traffic 

Impact Studies for proposed developments that are expected to generate more than four 

hundred (400) vehicle trips per day. This development will generate less traffic, but we are 

providing an abbreviated TIS that includes the following scope: 

• Existing Roadway Conditions 

• Existing Traffic Volumes 

• Sight distance analysis 

• Trip Generation and anticipated vehicle sizes 

• Directional Distribution/Traffic Assignment 

• Internal Circulation  

• Future Traffic Volumes 

• Anticipated non-vehicular traffic routes & connections to the Town of Eagle 

• Auxiliary turn lane analysis 

• Summary of Findings 

This study will provide recommendations for the development of a safe driveway access to 

Brush Creek Road. 

 
Existing Site and Roadway Conditions 
The proposed Base Camp Eagle will be located at 3220 Brush Creek Road, southeast of the 

Town of Eagle. The site is currently residential / agricultural use and shown shaded in red in the 

Google Earth image on the following page. 

w w w. s g m - i n c . c o m

GLENWOOD SPRINGS 118 West Sixth St, Suite 200 | Glenwood Springs, CO 81601 | 970.945.1004

12.30.20

Page 206

cfarrell
Stamp



 
 

2 

 

 
Figure 1. Project Area 

 
Access to the site will be provided using an improved access located slightly south of the 
existing driveway and aligned with the main driveway for the property across Brush Creek Road 
(Butter Crunch Farm second driveway). The access is located approximately 2.5 miles 
southeast of downtown Eagle.  No turn lanes or pedestrian facilities exist along Brush Creek 
Road at the access intersection.   
 
Brush Creek Road is a two-lane asphalt collector roadway, approximately 20-22 feet in width, 
with 1-2-foot gravel shoulders and a posted speed of 40 mph in the vicinity of the access. Brush 
Creek Road is classified as a Rural Major Collector per Eagle County Article 4. For the 
purposes of this study and application of the State Highway Access Code, it is classified as a 
rural highway, R-B using CDOT Access Category standards. 
 
Recent development applications within the Brush Creek Road corridor have resulted in several 
associated Traffic Impact Studies, the most recent being Frost Creek TIS by McDowell 
Engineering, latest revision 1/24/17. This study will use the Frost Creek TIS as a reference for 
existing and future traffic volumes. 

 
Existing Traffic Volumes 
Peak hour traffic volumes (2015) from the Frost Creek TIS were reviewed and estimated near 
the site access along Brush Creek Road. The peak hour two-way volumes are approximately 70 
vph AM, 75 vph PM, and 125 vph Saturday. Those values were obtained by interpolating 
between the Sylvan Lake Rd and Frost Creek Road intersections with Brush Creek Road, the 
volumes and the interpolation are provided in the Appendix. 
 
 

www. s gm - i n c . c om

Page 207

cfarrell
Stamp



 
 

3 

Existing Access Sight Distance 
The sight distance was analyzed for the access driveway intersection with Brush Creek Road. 
The analysis reviewed the access as one-way stop-controlled intersection and was based upon 
the guidance of AASHTO, A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets, 2018, 7th 
Edition, (Ch 9, Intersections). The Policy provides for guidance on decision point and 
construction of the sight triangle. Using Table 9-7 (Left Turn, Case B1) and Table 9-9 (Right 
Turn, Case B2), the sight distance requirements for the 40-mph posted speed are 445 ft and 
385 ft respectively. The current sight distance is at least 600 feet. 
 
The Policy states that the vertex of the sight triangle (decision point) should be located 14.5 ft 
from the edge of traveled way, the decision point typically represents the location of the driver’s 
eye (at a height of 3.5 ft) when stopped at a major road intersection. The driver should have the 
ability to see a 6” high object at the center of the travel lane. The sight triangle is constructed 
using these parameters, and objects that could obscure the driver’s vision should be located 
outside of this sight triangle. The sight distance in each direction at the access is documented 
below. 
 

 
Sight Access looking southeast 

 

www. s gm - i n c . c om

Page 208

cfarrell
Stamp



 

 

4 

 

Sight Access looking northwest 
 

Trip Generation 
The proposed campground development consists of 29 RV sites, 20 tent sites and 4 group tent 

sites (8 equivalent single tent sites) for a total of 57 camp sites as shown in the conceptual site 

plan provided below. The dump station shown in the site plan will be available to campground 

users only. 

 

 

 

ITE’s Trip Generation (10th Edition) provides trip generation rates for a Campground and RV 

Park facility (ITE Code 416) that have 3-6 associated studies for weekday AM and PM peak 

hour for locations in Rhode Island, Vermont, and Washington from 1990-2010.  

 

Local and more recent trip generation information, including weekend volumes are more useful 

and preferred for use in this study. It was determined that McDowell Engineering performed a 

local Trip Generation study at the KOA Campground in Silt, Colorado, located south and west of 

I-70 exit 97. The trip generation count was completed in July 2016 and consisted of counting 

RV’s, passenger vehicles and trucks / trailers, the generation rates are provided in Passenger 

Car Equivalents (PCEs). It is noted that there is no pedestrian connection between the KOA 

Campground and the Town of Silt, which is located to the north of the I-70 interchange. The 

www. s gm - i n c . c om

Page 209

cfarrell
Stamp



 
 

5 

diamond interchange has (2) 12-ft lanes and 1 ft paved shoulders. The raw data for this KOA 
study is provided as an attachment. 
 
The traffic type and use are similar, consisting of passenger vehicles and recreational vehicles, 
with trailers for boats, four-wheelers or campers. A vehicle and a trailer combination have a 
passenger car equivalent (PCE) of 2. The resulting trip generation is shown in the Table below.  
 

Average Average
Number ITE Saturday AM AM PM PM SAT SAT Saturday AM AM PM PM SAT SAT

Base Camp  of Sites Code Rate Entering Exiting Entering Exiting Entering Exiting Traffic IN OUT IN OUT IN OUT
Camp / RV 57 * 2.36 0.14 0.12 0.16 0.09 0.30 0.33 135 8 7 9 5 17 19

TOTAL TRIPS: 135 8 7 9 5 17 19

Directional Distribution 55% 45% 64% 36% 48% 52%
Average Rate (in PCE's) 0.26 0.26 0.25 0.25 0.63 0.63
*KOA Camground count 7/20/16 (Silt, CO)

SHAC - Vehicles or combination > 20 ft = 2 PCE's

TRIP GENERATION TABLE
Base Camp Eagle

Design Hour Rates Design Hour Traffic

 
 
Trip Distribution and Assignment 
The distribution and assignment of site generated trips are based upon the primary access and 
activities oriented toward Eagle, with the understanding users will maintain significant traffic 
toward Sylvan Lake and the National Forest for recreation.  Existing Saturday directional 
distribution is approximately 55% (N) / 45% (S) at Brush Creek Road and Sylvan Lake Road 
near the Town of Eagle, and 40% (N) / 60% (S) at Brush Creek Road and Frost Creek Road. 
The existing distributions are calculated from the existing traffic volume figure provided as an 
attachment. 
 
For this analysis, the trip distribution was conservatively split 60% (N) toward Eagle and 40% 
(S) toward Sylvan Lake.  The following Table shows the assignment of traffic PCE’s generated 
during the Design hour.  
 

Trip Distribution AM PM SAT
To/From Eagle (N) 60% 60% 60%
To/From Sylvan (S) 40% 40% 40%
Based primary access and activities toward Eagle

Turning Movement IN OUT IN OUT IN OUT
SB Left IN 5 5 10

WB Right OUT 4 3 11
WB Left OUT 3 2 8
NB Right IN 3 4 7

TOTAL PCE MOVEMENTS: 8 7 9 5 17 19

Design Hour Traffic PCE's

TRIP DISTRIBUTION TABLE
Base Camp Eagle

AM PM SAT

 
 
 
 
 

www. s gm - i n c . c om

Page 210

cfarrell
Stamp



 
 

6 

Internal Circulation 
Based upon the Trip Generation volumes, the proposed access can safely operate as a two-
way, two-lane access. The development is proposed to provide two-way internal traffic 
circulation to the restroom and dump station sites. Beyond that, generally to the north, the 
circulation is defined by one-way loops. Clear signage showing “Do Not Enter”, One-Way”, Two-
Way” will be provided to maintain safety within the sight. 
 
Future Traffic Volumes 
Peak hour traffic volumes (2035) from the Frost Creek TIS were reviewed and estimated near 
the site access along Brush Creek Road. The peak hour two-way volumes are approximately 
450 vph AM, 415 vph PM, and 500 vph Saturday. Those values were obtained by interpolating 
between the Sylvan Lake Rd and Frost Creek Road intersections with Brush Creek Road, the 
volumes and the interpolation are provided as an attachment. 
 
Anticipated non-vehicular traffic routes & connections to the Town of Eagle 
While separate non-vehicular connections to the property do not currently exist, the applicant 
and Town of Eagle have discussed proximity to both the existing Haymeadow and Wall trail 
systems.    
 
As discussed with the Planning Commission and Board of Trustees in pre-application meetings 
held in July 2019, it is the goal of the applicant to promote a “Park Once” guest preference to 
accessing amenities in Town via alternative means (hiking, biking, etc.) due to the planned 
connectivity to the campground and minor RV park.  To that end, management will actively 
discourage the use of Brush Creek Road for walking and biking. 
 
Further, the applicant has support for the project by the Haymeadow project team, where a 
number of future trails are planned and will also serve visitors at Base Camp Eagle.  
 
The applicant will continue working with Town and Haymeadow officials on timing of these 
connections to coincide with the opening of Base Camp Eagle. The proximity to downtown and 
Eagle Ranch (< 1mile) will further reduce vehicle trips to and from Eagle. The planned trail 
connections will provide trip reductions as traffic on Brush Creek Road continues to increase. 
Because many users are drawn to the Eagle area for mountain and road biking, the opportunity 
for trip reductions will be in the 5-10% range in the future. Those trip reductions are not 
considered in this analysis. 
 
Auxiliary Lane Requirements 
Auxiliary turn lane requirements for County Road accesses are typically analyzed using the 
CDOT State Highway Access Code based on the anticipated peak hour volumes, the speed 
limit and geometry of the highway adjacent to the access, and the classification of the highway.  
For analysis purposes, the Brush Creek Road speed limit adjacent to the site is 40 mph along 
an R-B highway.  Based on the State Highway Access Code (SHAC), 
 
Auxiliary Lane Requirements 
(8) Auxiliary turn lanes shall be installed according to the criteria below. 

a) A left turn deceleration lane with taper and additional storage length is required for any 
access with a projected peak hour left ingress turning volume greater than 10 vph. 

b) A right turn deceleration lane with taper is required for any access with a projected peak 
hour right ingress turning volume greater than 25 vph.  

c) A right turn acceleration lane with taper is required for any access with a projected peak 
hour right turning volume greater than 50 vph when the posted speed on the highway is 

www. s gm - i n c . c om

Page 211

cfarrell
Stamp



 
 

7 

45 mph or greater and the highway has only one lane for through traffic in the direction 
of the right turn. A right turn acceleration lane is not required on multi-lane highways of 
this category.  

d) A left turn acceleration lane with taper may be required if it would be a benefit to the 
safety and operation of the roadway or as determined by subsection 3.5. A left turn 
acceleration lane is generally not required where: the posted speed is less than 45 mph, 
or the intersection is signalized, or the acceleration lane would interfere with the left turn 
ingress movements to any other access. 

 
Based upon the SHAC and the trip distribution table provided above, auxiliary turn lanes are not 
required. The proposed intersection can safely operate as a two-way, two-lane access. 
 
Summary of Findings 
Brush Creek Road has a capacity at Level of Service C reportedly up to 7500 vpd without 
additional improvements. Base Camp Eagle is estimated to generate approximately 72 weekday 
and 113 Saturday vpd (in PCE’s), about 2% of the total roadway capacity.  
 
As a primary access to Brush Creek, Sylvan Lake, and the National Forest; Brush Creek Road 
experiences its heaviest volumes on summer weekends. Peak hour Saturday two-way volumes 
as interpolated from the Frost Creek Study are anticipated to increase from 80 vph in 2015 to 
450 vph near Base Camp Eagle. Saturday peak hour site-generated volume is estimated at 31 
vph. 
 
The proposed access driveway has adequate sight distance for entering the roadway and does 
not require turn lanes based upon the auxiliary lane requirements per the SHAC. The sight 
distance triangle discussed in this TIS should be implemented as part of the site access design. 
 
 
Attachments: 
• 2015 Traffic Volumes, reference Frost Creek TIS 
• 2035 Traffic Volumes, reference Frost Creek TIS 
• Comparable Campground Trip Generation Calculations, KOA Silt CO by McDowell Engineering 
• Base Camp Eagle – Project Location and Trail Access 
• Frost Creek TIS, 1/24/17 by McDowell Engineering 
 

www. s gm - i n c . c om

Page 212

cfarrell
Stamp



South Maryland Creek Ranch   Ranch Road (Game Trail Road)

N 
LEGEND : 

AM/PM/SAT Volumes     =     XX / XX / XX vph

Turning 
MovementsProject Number: M1158

Prepared By: KJS
Frost Creek, Eagle, Colorado January 11, 2017

4

28 / 19 / 24

61 / 36 / 50

34
 / 

17
 / 

15

23
 / 

50
 / 

58

25
 / 

20
 / 

18

22
 / 

24
 / 

32

Figure 5: Year 2015 Existing Traffic

9

0 / 0 / 1

1 / 3 / 5

11
 / 

12
 / 

16

8 
/ 1

1 
/ 4

4

1 
/ 1

 / 
2

5 
/ 1

2 
/ 2

6

10

0 / 0 / 1

1 / 1 / 1

2 
/ 2

 / 
2

6 
/ 9

 / 
43

5 
/ 1

2 
/ 2

7

4

9

10

Intersection Key: (Direction of Leg for Analysis)
4   Brush Creek Road (N/E) & Sylvan Lake Road (S)*
9 Brush Creek Road (N/S) & Frost Creek Drive (W)
10  Brush Creek Road (N/S) & South Site Access (W)

62
 / 

36
 / 

39
47

 / 
44

 / 
50

8 
/ 1

1 
/ 4

5

6 
/ 1

5 
/ 3

1
35

 / 
25

 / 
40

25
 / 

30
 / 

40

*INTERPOLATED

INTERPOLATED VALUES AT 3220 BRUSH CREEK ROAD*

Page 213

cfarrell
Stamp



South Maryland Creek Ranch   Ranch Road (Game Trail Road)

N 
LEGEND : 

AM/PM/SAT Volumes     =     XX / XX / XX vph

Turning 
MovementsProject Number: M1158

Prepared By: KJS
Frost Creek, Eagle, Colorado January 11, 2017

4

133 / 171 / 183

105 / 156 / 153
70 / 55 / 55

220 / 130 / 130

15
 / 

15
 / 

15

16
9 

/ 1
04

 / 
10

2

16
1 

/ 3
49

 / 
36

0

20
4 

/ 1
54

 / 
17

0
12

1 
/ 1

07
 / 

11
6

10
8 

/ 6
1 

/ 8
5

130 / 70 / 70

Figure 7: Year 2035 Background Traffic

9

1 / 1 / 1

71 / 69 / 88

51
 / 

93
 / 

95

27
 / 

34
 / 

93

1 
/ 1

 / 
1

18
 / 

38
 / 

63

10

1 / 1 / 1

1 / 1 / 1

1 
/ 1

 / 
1

25
 / 

31
 / 

93

1 
/ 1

 / 
1

19
 / 

39
 / 

66

4

9

10

Intersection Key:
4   Brush Creek Road (N/S) & Sylvan Lake Road (E/W)*
9 Brush Creek Road (N/S) & Frost Creek Drive (W)
10  Brush Creek Road (N/S) & South Site Access (W)

*The Brush Creek Road and Sylvan Lake Road intersection 
will be reconfigured with the Haymeadow development.  
Brush Creek Road changes to a (N/S) alignment, while 
Sylvan Lake Road is extended into the development in an 

30
2 

/ 2
75

 / 
28

5

43
3 

/ 3
42

 / 
27

1

*INTERPOLATD VALUES AT 3220 BRUSH CREEK ROAD

*INTERPOLATED

26
0 

/ 2
25

 / 
21

0

25
0 

/ 2
00

 / 
24

0
78

 / 
12

7 
/ 1

88

89
 / 

10
7 

/ 1
51

Page 214

cfarrell
Stamp



Pr
oj
ec
t N

um
be

r:
M
12

31
Pr
ep

ar
ed

 B
y:

KJ
S

Da
te
:

Re
vi
se
d:

Av
er
ag
e

Av
er
ag
e

W
ee

kd
ay

Sa
tu
rd
ay

IT
E 
Co

de
AM

 P
ea

k 
Ho

ur
PM

 P
ea

k 
Ho

ur
SA

T 
Pe

ak
 

Ho
ur

Av
er
ag
e 

W
ee

kd
ay

Av
er
ag
e 

Sa
tu
rd
ay

Tr
ip
s  
 

(v
pd

)
Tr
ip
s  
 

(v
pd

)
%
 T
rip

s
Tr
ip
s

%
 T
rip

s
Tr
ip
s

%
 T
rip

s
Tr
ip
s

%
 T
rip

s
Tr
ip
s

%
 T
rip

s
Tr
ip
s

%
 T
rip

s
Tr
ip
s

Ex
isi
ng

 La
nd

 U
se

Ca
m
pg

ro
un

d2
73

Un
its

0.
15

0.
15

0.
37

1.
51

2.
36

11
0

17
2

55
%

6
45

%
5

64
%

7
36

%
4

48
%

13
52

%
14

   
  #
 C
ar
s/
Pi
ck
up

s
2

1
4

0
6

2
   
  #
 La

rg
e 
Ve

hi
cle

s (
Ca

m
pe

rs
 o
r R

Vs
)

4
4

3
4

7
12

   
  T
ru
ck
s i
n 
PC

Es
2

8
8

6
8

14
24

   
  T
ot
al
 P
CE

s2
 a
t d

riv
ew

ay
0.
26

0.
25

0.
63

10
9

10
8

20
26

Tr
ip
 G
en

er
at
io
n 
Ra

te
s

Un
its

1  V
al
ue

s o
bt
ai
ne

d 
fro

m
 K
O
A 
Ca

m
pg

ro
un

d 
in
 S
ilt
, C

O
.

2 
Pa

ss
en

ge
r C

ar
 E
qu

iv
al
en

ts
 a
re
 b
as
ed

 u
po

n 
Se
ct
io
n 
2.
3(
4)
(e
) o

f t
he

 S
ta
te
 o
f C

ol
or
ad

o'
s S

ta
te
 H
ig
hw

ay
 A
cc
es
s C

od
e.

M
or
ni
ng

 P
ea

k 
Ho

ur
Ev
en

in
g 
Pe

ak
 H
ou

r
Sa
tu
rd
ay
 P
ea

k 
Ho

ur
In
bo

un
d

O
ut
bo

un
d

In
bo

un
d

O
ut
bo

un
d

In
bo

un
d

O
ut
bo

un
d

O
bs
er
ve

d 
Si
te
‐G
en

er
at
ed

 T
ra
ffi
c1

7/
20

/2
01

6

Ta
bl
e 
1 
‐ C

om
pa

ra
bl
e 
Ca

m
pg

ro
un

d 
Tr
ip
 G
en

er
at
io
n 
Ca

lcu
la
tio

ns
KO

A 
Ca

m
pg

ro
un

d
Si
lt,
 C
ol
or
ad

o

Page 215

cfarrell
Stamp



Ea
gl

e 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e

Ri
dd

le
 T

ra
il 

Tr
ai

lh
ea

d

Fu
tu

re
 T

ra
il 

Pr
oj

ec
t 

Lo
ca

ti
on

Brush Creek Valley Ranch 
& Open Space

Ea
gl

e 
R

an
ch

 P
U

D
 

H
ay

m
ea

do
w

 P
U

D

To
w

n 
of

 
Ea

gl
e

Br
us

h 
C

re
ek

 R
oa

d

Pr
op

er
ty

Ea
gl

e 
Ra

nc
h 

Ro
ad

B
as

e 
C

am
p 

Ea
gl

e:
 P

ro
je

ct
 

Lo
ca

ti
on

 a
nd

 T
ra

il 
A

cc
es

s

V
ic

in
it

y 
M

ap

Fu
tu

re
 T

ra
il 

Ex
ist

in
g  

Cr
ee

k 

Tr
ai

l
T

ra
il 

&
 B

ri
dg

e 
C

ro
ss

in
g

Br
us

h 
C

re
ek

 
Va

lle
y 

R
an

ch
 

&
 O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e

Te
rr

ac
e 

PU
D

C
BD

C
ap

ito
l C

BD

N
or

th
(N

T
S)

Page 216

cfarrell
Stamp



±
Future Land Use

Sh
ep

ar
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 R

d

N
os

ta
lg

ia
 L

n

Bouvardia
St

Jo
ne

s 
St

Pe
ar

ce
s

Rd

Logan Creek Dr

W
at

so
ni

a
D

r

M
an

gu
m

St

Sh
ep

ar
d 

Ro
ck

 D
r

Logan
Canyon Ln

Bunn St

Ke
ny

on
Sp

rin
g

D
r

Be
rk

el
ey

Gl
en

R
d

Be
rk

ele
y

Gl
en

RdProctor St

Ke
ny

on
Sp

rin
g

D
r

Crackling Ct

Lucas St

Moore
St Br

is
k 

D
r

Vi llage OfW

ake fie ld Dr

Gu
sty

Ln

Tu
rn

in
g

La
ke

Dr

Indian
Sum

m
er

St

Fo
st

er
St

Cider Mill W

ay

Olde Heritage

Ct

Moonlit
Pl

Heritage

Landing Ct

Gourd

St

Swift Park
Dr

M
irr

or
Po

nd
 D

r

Ed
di

ns
St

Pippin
Rd

Fauna

St

Fr
os

ty
 W

ay

Tippett R
d

Spiderlily

Ct

Br
ad

be
rry

Bu
sh

Ln

Arch
C

an
yo

n

Cir
Lit

tle

Pa
tc

h
St

R
ustling

W
ay

R
ift

Va
lle

y
Dr

O
g

den
Pond Pl

Debnam Rd

NC CGIA, Maxar, Microsoft

1800 Shepards School Rd

Parcels

Streets

Zebulon_FutureLandUse
Land Use/Character

Suburban Residential (SR)

General Residential (GR)

Residential Mix (RM)

Suburban Commercial (SC)

General Commercial (GC)

0 0.2 0.40.1 Miles

Page 217

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 218



±
Aerial Map

Sh
ep

ar
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 R

d

N
os

ta
lg

ia
 L

n

Bouvardia
St

Jo
ne

s 
St

Pe
ar

ce
s

Rd

Logan Creek Dr

W
at

so
ni

a
D

r

M
an

gu
m

St

Sh
ep

ar
d 

Ro
ck

 D
r

Logan
Canyon Ln

Bunn St

Ke
ny

on
Sp

rin
g

D
r

Be
rk

el
ey

Gl
en

R
d

Be
rk

ele
y

Gl
en

RdProctor St

Ke
ny

on
Sp

rin
g

D
r

Crackling Ct

Lucas St

Moore
St Br

is
k 

D
r

Vi llage OfW

ake fie ld Dr

Gu
sty

Ln

Tu
rn

in
g

La
ke

Dr

Indian
Sum

m
er

St

Fo
st

er
St

Cider Mill W

ay

Olde Heritage

Ct

Moonlit
Pl

Heritage

Landing Ct

Gourd

St

Swift Park
Dr

M
irr

or
Po

nd
 D

r

Ed
di

ns
St

Pippin
Rd

Fauna

St

Fr
os

ty
 W

ay

Tippett R
d

Spiderlily

Ct

Br
ad

be
rry

Bu
sh

Ln

Arch
C

an
yo

n

Cir
Lit

tle

Pa
tc

h
St

R
ustling

W
ay

R
ift

Va
lle

y
Dr

O
g

den
Pond Pl

Debnam Rd

NC CGIA, Maxar, Microsoft

1800 Shepards School Rd

Parcels

Streets

0 0.2 0.40.1 Miles

Page 219

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 220



±
Zoning Map

Sh
ep

ar
d 

Sc
ho

ol
 R

d

Jo
ne

s
St

Pe
ar

ce
s

Rd

Logan Creek Dr

W
at

so
n
ia

D
r

M
an

gu
m

St

Sh
ep

ar
d 

Ro
ck

 D
r

Logan

Canyon
Ln

Bunn St

Ke
ny

on
Sp

rin
g

D
r

Be
rk

el
ey

Gl
en

R
d

Be
rk

ele
y

Gl
en

Rd

Proctor St
Ke

ny
on

Sp
rin

g
D

r
Crackling Ct

Lucas St

Br
is

k 
D

r

Vi llage OfW

ake fie ld Dr

Gu
sty

Ln

Tu
rn

in
g

La
ke

Dr

Indian
Sum

m
er

St

Cide
r Mill

Way

H
er

ita
ge

La
nd

in
g

Ct

Gourd
St

M
irr

or
Po

nd
 D

r

Ed
di

ns
 S

t
Pippin
Rd

Fauna

St

Fr
os

ty
 W

ay

Q
ui

nc
y

Me
ad

ow
Av

e

Tippett R
d

Spiderlily
C
t

Ar
ch

Cany
on

Ci
r

Lit tle
Pa

tch

St

R
us

tli
ng

 W
ay

R
ift

Va
lle

y
Dr

O
g

den
Pond Pl

Debnam Rd

NC CGIA, Maxar, Microsoft

1800 Shepards School Rd

Parcels

Streets

  Zoning Districts
R2, Residential Suburban

R4, Residential Neighborhood

RMF, Residential Multi-Family

R-13 SUD, Residential 13 - Special Use Districts

GC, General Commercial

HC, Heavy Commercial

OI, Office and Institutional

CZ, Conditional Zoning

0 0.2 0.40.1 Miles

Page 221

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 222



 

1800 Shepard School Rd 

Page 223

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 224



Page 225

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 226

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 227

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 228

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 229

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 230

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 231

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 232

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 233

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 234

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 235

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 236



ARTICLE 3: DISTRICTS 
3.5. General Mixed Use Zoning Districts 3.5.5 Planned Development (PD) District 

 

 

Town of Zebulon 3-44 
Unified Development 

Ordinance 
 

3.5.5. PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD) DISTRICT 

A. PURPOSE AND INTENT 
The Planned Development (PD) districts are established and intended to encourage innovative land planning 
and site design concepts that support a high quality of life and achieve a high quality of development, 
environmental sensitivity, energy efficiency, and other Town goals and objectives by: 

a. Reducing or diminishing the inflexibility or uniform design that sometimes results from strict 
application of zoning and development standards designed primarily for individual lots; 

b. Allowing greater freedom in selecting the means of providing access, open space, and design 
amenities; 

c. Allowing greater freedom in providing a well-integrated mix of residential and nonresidential land 
uses in the same development, including a mix of housing types, lot sizes, and densities; 

d. Creating a system of incentives for redevelopment and infill in order to revitalize established areas; 

e. Promoting a vibrant public realm by placing increased emphasis on active ground floor uses, 
pedestrian-oriented building façade design, intensive use of sidewalks, and establishment of public 
gathering areas; 

f. Providing for efficient use of land resulting in smaller networks of utilities and streets and thereby 
lowering development and housing costs; and 

g. Promoting quality design and environmentally sensitive development that respects surrounding 
established land use character and respects and takes advantage of a site’s natural and man-made 
features, such as trees, estuaries, shorelines, special flood hazard area, and historic features. 

B. GENERAL STANDARDS FOR ALL PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS 

1. HOW ESTABLISHED 
A planned development is established in a manner similar to the establishment of a conditional zoning 
district in accordance with the procedures and requirements in Section 2.2.13, Planned Development. 

2. MASTER PLAN REQUIRED 
All development configured as a PD shall be subject to a master plan submitted and approved as part 
of the application to establish the district.  The master plan shall: 

a. Include a statement of planning objectives for the district; 

b. Describe the specific ways in which any modifications to the generally applicable standards in this 
Ordinance will result in a development of higher quality than would have otherwise resulted if the 
development was established without any proposed modifications to the standards in this 
Ordinance. 

c. Identify the general location of individual development areas, identified by land use(s) and/or 
development density or intensity; 

d. Depict the general configuration and relationship of the principal elements of the proposed 
development, including general building types;  

e. Identify for the entire district and each development area the acreage, types and mix of land uses, 
number of residential units (by use type), nonresidential floor area (by use type), residential density, 
and nonresidential intensity; 

f. Identify the general location, amount, and type (whether designated for active, passive, or urban) 
of open space;  

g. Identify the location of environmentally sensitive lands, wildlife habitat, and resource protection 
lands; 

h. Identify the on-site transportation circulation system, including the general location of all public and 
private streets, existing or projected transit service, pedestrian and vehicular circulation features, 
and how they will connect with existing and planned systems; 

i. Identify the general location of on-site potable water and wastewater facilities, and how they will 
connect to existing systems; 

j. Identify the general location of on-site stormwater management facilities, and how they will connect 
to existing public systems; and 

Page 237

cfarrell
Stamp



ARTICLE 3: DISTRICTS 
3.5. General Mixed Use Zoning Districts 3.5.5 Planned Development (PD) District 

 

 

Town of Zebulon 3-45 
Unified Development 

Ordinance 
 

k. Identify the general location of all other on-site public facilities serving the development, including 
but not limited to parks, schools, bus shelters, and facilities for fire protection, police protection, 
EMS, and solid waste management. 

3. COMPLIANCE WITH SUBDIVISION STANDARDS 
Planned developments that include the division of land into two or more lots shall be subject to the 
subdivision standards in Article 6: Subdivisions, and shall be subject to the requirements of Section 
2.2.14, Preliminary Plat, and Section 2.2.10, Final Plat, prior to the issuance of a building permit. 

4. SITE PLAN REVIEW 

a. The planned development master plan may take the form of a generalized concept plan for 
development that provides a general indication of building and site feature location, or may it may 
be configured to the level of detail associated with site plans and construction drawings depicting 
exact building placement, location and profile of public infrastructure, and configuration of site 
features like parking, landscaping, and similar elements. 

b. In cases where the master plan is more general or conceptual in nature, the development proposed 
in the planned development designation shall also undergo site plan review in accordance with 
Section 2.2.17, Site Plan. 

c. In cases where the master plan is detailed and meets the minimum requirements for a site plan in 
the opinion of the Board of Commissioners, the applicant shall request, and the Board of 
Commissioners may grant an exemption from subsequent site plan review.  

d. If a site plan review exemption is granted by the Board of Commissioners, the proposed 
development shall fully comply with the development configuration depicted in the planned 
development master plan.  Failure to comply with the approved master plan configuration shall 
require an amendment of the planned development application in accordance with Section 
2.2.17.I, Amendment. 

5. DENSITIES/INTENSITIES  
The densities for residential development and the intensities for nonresidential development applicable 
in each development area of a PD district shall be as established in the master plan, and shall be 
consistent with adopted policy guidance. 

6. DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS 
The dimensional standards applicable in each development area of a PD district shall be as established 
in the master plan.  The master plan shall include at least the following types of dimensional standards: 

a. Minimum lot area; 

b. Minimum lot width; 

c. Minimum and maximum setbacks; 

d. Maximum lot coverage; 

e. Maximum building height; 

f. Maximum individual building size; 

g. Floor area ratio; and 

h. Minimum setbacks from adjoining residential development or residential zoning districts. 

7. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

a. All development in a PD district shall comply with the development standards of Article 5: 
Development Standards, and the subdivision and infrastructure design standards of Article 6: 
Subdivisions, unless modified in accordance with this section.   

b. In no instance shall a planned development district seek to modify, waive, or reduce any of the 
following standards: 

i. Section 3.8, Overlay Zoning Districts; or 

ii. Section 6.5, Owners’ Associations. 

c. In cases where a planned development district is proposed as part of redevelopment of an existing 
site and the existing site does not comply with the standards in subsection (b) above, the 
development contemplated in the planned development shall not be required to achieve full 

Page 238

cfarrell
Stamp



ARTICLE 3: DISTRICTS 
3.5. General Mixed Use Zoning Districts 3.5.5 Planned Development (PD) District 

 

 

Town of Zebulon 3-46 
Unified Development 

Ordinance 
 

compliance, but shall not increase the degree to which the development fails to comply with the 
standards in subsection (b) above. 

8. CONSISTENCY WITH ADOPTED POLICY GUIDANCE 
The PD zoning district designation, the master plan, and the terms and conditions document should be 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and any applicable functional plans and small area plans 
adopted by the Town. 

9. COMPATIBILITY WITH SURROUNDING AREAS 
Development along the perimeter of a PD district shall be compatible with adjacent existing or proposed 
development.  Where there are issues of compatibility, the master plan shall provide for transition areas 
at the edges of the PD district that provide for appropriate buffering and/or ensure a complementary 
character of uses.  Determination of complementary character shall be based on densities/intensities, 
lot size and dimensions, building height, building mass and scale, hours of operation, exterior lighting, 
siting of service areas, or other aspects identified by the Board of Commissioners. 

10. DEVELOPMENT PHASING PLAN 
If development in the PD district is proposed to be phased, the master plan shall include a development 
phasing plan that identifies the general sequence or phases in which the district is proposed to be 
developed, including how residential and nonresidential development will be timed, how infrastructure 
(public and private) and open space will be provided and timed, and how development will be 
coordinated with the Town’s capital improvements program. 

11. CONVERSION SCHEDULE 

a. The planned development application may include a conversion schedule that identifies the extent 
to which one type of residential use may be converted to another type of residential use or one type 
of nonresidential use may be converted to another type of nonresidential use (i.e., residential to 
residential, or nonresidential to nonresidential).  These conversions may occur within development 
areas and between development areas, as long as they occur within the same development phase, 
as identified by the approved development phasing plan, and are consistent with established extents 
of conversion set down in the conversion schedule.   

b. In the event an applicant seeks to revise the development in accordance with an approved 
conversion schedule, the applicant shall provide a revised site plan depicting the proposed 
conversions to the TRC for review and approval prior to commencing any conversions. 

12. ON-SITE PUBLIC FACILITIES 

a. DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION 
The master plan shall establish the responsibility of the developer/landowner to design and 
construct or install required and proposed on-site public facilities in compliance with applicable 
Town, state, and federal regulations. 

b. DEDICATION 
The master plan shall establish the responsibility of the developer/landowner to dedicate to the 
public the right-of-way and easements necessary for the construction or installation of required and 
proposed on-site public facilities in compliance with applicable Town, state, and federal 
regulations. 

c. MODIFICATIONS TO STREET STANDARDS 
In approving a master plan, the Board of Commissioners may approve modifications or reductions 
of street design standards—including those for right-of-way widths, pavement widths, required 
materials, provision of public transit amenities, and turning radii, with NCDOT approval, on finding 
that: 

i. The master plan provides for adequate separation/integration of vehicular, pedestrian, and 
bicycle traffic;  

ii. Access for emergency service vehicles is not substantially impaired;  

iii. Adequate parking is provided for the uses proposed; and  

Page 239

cfarrell
Stamp



ARTICLE 3: DISTRICTS 
3.5. General Mixed Use Zoning Districts 3.5.5 Planned Development (PD) District 

 

 

Town of Zebulon 3-47 
Unified Development 

Ordinance 
 

iv. Adequate space for public utilities is provided within the street right-of-way. 

13. USES 
The uses allowed in a PD district are identified in Table 4.2.3, Principal Use Table, as allowed subject 
to a  master plan.  Allowed uses shall be established in the master plan.  Allowed uses shall be consistent 
with adopted policy guidance, the purpose of the particular PD district, and subject to any additional 
limitations or requirements set forth in Section 4.3, Use-Specific Standards, for the PD district. Nothing 
shall limit an applicant from seeking to modify an otherwise applicable use-specific standard in 
accordance with the standards in Section 3.5.5.B.2, Master Plan Required. 

C. PLANNED DEVELOPMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
The terms and conditions document shall incorporate by reference or include, but not be limited to:  

1. Conditions related to approval of the application for the PD zoning district classification; 

2. The master plan, including any density/intensity standards, dimensional standards, and development 
standards established in the master plan; 

3. Conditions related to the approval of the master plan, including any conditions related to the form and 
design of development shown in the master plan;  

4. Provisions addressing how transportation, potable water, wastewater, stormwater management, and 
other infrastructure will be provided to accommodate the proposed development; 

5. Provisions related to environmental protection and monitoring; and  

6. Any other provisions the Board of Commissioners determines are relevant and necessary to the 
development of the PD in accordance with applicable standards and regulations. 

D. AMENDMENTS TO APPROVED MASTER PLAN 
Amendments or modifications to a master plan shall be considered in accordance with the standards in 
Section 2.2.13, Planned Development. 

  

Page 240

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 241

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 242



£¤64

£¤64
;

£¤642

£¤64
96

97

96

n

n

n

n

9

!(

!(

!(

!(

!5

!5

!(Ó

!5

!5

!(

kj

W Judd St

W Horton St

W Franklin St

Stratford Dr

W North St

E Vance St

Wakelon St

W Glenn StW Lee St

E Barbee St

W Vance St

W Mciver St

E Sycamore St

E Mciver St

Old Bunn Rd

Debnam Rd

Pippin Rd

Shepard School Rd

Pe
arc

es
 Rd

Riley Hill Rd

Gree
n P

ace
 Rd

Po
ny 

Rd

Chamblee Rd

Wate
r P

lan
t R

d

Perry Curtis Rd

Cunningham Rd

Temple Johnson Rd

Tippett Rd

Moss Rd

Mack
 To

dd 
Rd

³

0 0.3 0.6
Miles

LEGEND
9 Town Hall

n School

!(
New Grade
Separation

!5
New
Interchange

kj
New
Roundabout

!(Ó
Intersection
Improvements

!5
Existing
Interchange

!(
Existing Grade
Separation
Priority
Intersection
Zebulon Town
Limits
Extraterritorial
Jurisdiction

4-Lane Divided
Widening /
Altering
4-Lane Divided
New Roadway
2-Lane Divided
Widening /
Altering
2-Lane Divided
New Roadway
2-Lane
Undivided New
Roadway
Greenway

Roads

Railroad

County Outline

CTP Study Area

Base Map: November 2020

CTP MAP - TOWN FOCUS

Innovative Way

Wo
rth

 H
int

on
 R

d

New Jack Mitchell Rd

TOWN OF ZEBULON
2045 COMPREHENSIVE

TRANSPORTATION PLAN

Page 243

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 244



  
STAFF REPORT 

TA 2024-05 
UDO LEGISLATIVE TEXT AMENDMENT UPDATES 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 
  

 

 

Topic:  TA 2024-05 UDO Legislative Text Amendment Updates 
Speaker:  Christopher M. Medina, Planner I    
From:   Christopher M. Medina, Planner I  
Prepared by:  Christopher M. Medina, Planner I  
Approved by:  Taiwo Jaiyeoba, Interim Town Manager 
 
Executive Summary: 
The Planning Board and Board of Commissioners will consider text amendment updates 
to multiple sections in the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) to come into 
compliance with legislative changes made within Chapter 160D of the North Carolina 
General Statutes. 

 
Background: 
These are the sections of legislative updates that are recommended for Planning Board 
and Board of Commissioner approval: triplex and quadplex standards, changed sewer 
and water connection language, modification of perpendicular parking space width, and 
the addition of a “sports wagering” use type.  
 
Discussion: 
The following will provide more detail as to what changes are suggested for the Planning 
Board and Board of Commissioner’s approval to the updated sections in the UDO: 

1) Sewer and water connection: This addition to Section 6.12.3.F of the UDO states 
that connection for lots to their nearest public potable water system is not required 
if the water pressure generated is not equal to the average of other connected 
customers within a quarter-mile radius. This Section also states that connection to 
the sewer system is not required if the cost to connect is greater than the cost to 
install an on-site wastewater system.  

2) Sports wagering: The requested addition of the use type of “sports wagering” will 
allow sports betting to transpire within restrictions on where and how this activity 
can occur.  

3) Triplex and quadplex standards: The triplex and quadplex language was added to 
the Design Guidelines Section located in 5.2 of the UDO. This change ensures 
that single family detached, duplex, triplex, and quadplex housing units comply 
with the UDO Design Guidelines standards 

4) Width of perpendicular parking spaces: The width of perpendicular parking spaces 
is requested to change from ten feet to nine feet from changes in Chapter 160D, 
Section 702 of the North Carolina General Statutes.    

Staff Recommendation: 
Staff Recommends accepting and consideration of public comment and referring the 
matter to the Planning Board for recommendation.  

 
Attachments: 

1. Draft Text Amendment 

Page 245



  
STAFF REPORT 

TA 2024-05 
UDO LEGISLATIVE TEXT AMENDMENT UPDATES 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 
  

 

2. 2023 North Carolina Legislative Related to Planning and Development Regulation 
3. Public Hearing Notification Affidavit 

Page 246



ARTICLE 6: SUBDIVISIONS 
6.12. Subdivision Standards 

6.12. SUBDIVISION STANDARDS 

6.12.1. SUBDIVISION NAME 
Every subdivision shall be given a name that shall not duplicate or be similar to that of any 

Wake County. 

6.12.2. REASONABLE RELATIONSHIP 
All required improvements, easements, and rights-of-way (other than required reservations) 
shall substantially benefit the development or bear a reasonable relationship to the need for 
public facilities attributable to the new development. 

6.12.3. LOT CONFIGURATION 

A. DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
1. The size, width, depth, shape, orientation, and minimum setback lines of lots shall be as 

required for the zoning district where located in accordance with the standards in Article 
3: Districts.  

2. All lots created after January 1, 2020, shall have sufficient area, dimensions, and access 
to allow a principal building to be erected on it in compliance with the requirements of 
this Ordinance. 

3. Lots intended for non-residential development shall be of an adequate size and shape to 
accommodate required off-street parking, loading, and on-site circulation features. 

B. SIDE LOT LINES 
Side lines of lots should be at or near right angles or radial to street lines. 

C. FLAG LOTS 
New flag lots may be established, subject to the following requirements: 

1. No more than two flag lots may be created from a parent parcel after January 1, 2020. 
2. New flag lots may only be established along existing streets.  
3.  lot shall maintain a minimum width of 

at least 30 feet. 
4. Use of a single driveway to serve an adjoining lot is encouraged. Wherever possible, the 

shared driveway shall be on the flag lot. 
5. 

adjacent to one another. 

D. DOUBLE-FRONTAGE LOTS 
1. 

separation of residential development from traffic arteries or to overcome specific 
challenges of topography and orientation.   

2. In cases where a double frontage lot abuts an arterial or collector street, access to the lot 
shall be provided from the street with the lowest average daily trips.  This requirement may 
be waived by the Planning Director in cases where compliance with this standard will likely 
result in dramatic increases in traffic within residential areas. 

3. A double frontage lot shall include an easement of at least ten feet in width across the 
rear of the lot which shall prohibit access to the abutting street. 

E. CORNER LOTS 
Corner lots shall be of sufficient size to ensure development may be configured in 
accordance with the standards in Section 5.1.7, Sight Distance Triangles. 

F. LOTS SERVED BY PRIVATE WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEMS 
1. Wake County Environmental Health shall evaluate proposed or existing sewer facilities on 

lots ten acres or less that are not served by governmental water and/or sewerage systems 
in accordance with the following: 

Page 247

cfarrell
Stamp



ARTICLE 6: SUBDIVISIONS 
6.12. Subdivision Standards 

a. New subdivision lots without existing sewer systems shall be evaluated by current state 
and county health department regulations.  

b. New subdivision lots with existing sewer systems shall be evaluated for visual 
malfunctioning by the appropriate county health department.  Malfunctioning 
systems shall be repaired prior to subdivision plat approval.  New property lines shall 
meet current minimum setback requirements or an easement for the sewer facilities 
must be shown on the plat.  

2. Lots that are located within 1,000 linear feet of an existing public potable water or public 
sanitary sewer line shall connect to these existing systems. 
a. If the potable water system will not generate water pressure that is equal to the 

average of connected customers within a quarter-
connection (as determined by a licensed professional engineer), then connection to 
the water system is not required. 

b. If the cost to connect to the sewer system is greater than the cost to install an on-site 
wastewater system (as determined by a licensed soil scientist, on-site wastewater 
contractor, or licensed plumbing contractor), then connection to sewer system is not 
required. 

G. LOTS SERVED BY PRIVATE WATER OR WASTEWATER SYSTEMS IN WATERSHED AREAS 
Lots in watershed areas that must have an individual (on site) water supply and sewage 
disposal system shall be evaluated by current State and county health department 
regulations and/or other requirements governing the protection of public water supplies.  

H. DRAINAGE AND FLOOD PREVENTION 
New subdivisions shall comply with the applicable requirements for drainage in Section 6.9, 
Soil Erosion & Sedimentation, stormwater management in Section 6.11, Stormwater, and 
flood prevention in Section 3.8.2, Flood Hazard Overlay (FHO) District. 

6.12.4. ACCESS TO LOTS 
A. All lots subdivided after January 1, 2020, shall be provided with access to an existing street 

that has been accepted for maintenance by the State of North Carolina or the Town of 
Zebulon. 

B. Streets providing access to lots shall be constructed in conformance with the standards and 
specifications of the  and/or the North Carolina 
Department of Transportation and dedicated in accordance with this Ordinance.   

6.12.5. MONUMENTS 
Monuments shall be included as part of any subdivision, and shall be configured in 
accordance The Standards of Practice for Land Surveying in North Carolina, as adopted by 
the North Carolina State Board of Registration for Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors, 
and the following:  

A. Markers shall be set at all lot corners, points of curvature, points of tangency, and at all points 
with a change in bearings.  

B. The location and type of all markers used shall be indicated on the final plat. 

6.12.6. EASEMENTS 
Easements for drainage or utilities may be required where necessary, and shall be provided 
in accordance with the following:   

A. LOCATIONS 
1. Such easements shall be placed along side or rear property lines where practicable.   
2. Easements shall center along or be adjacent to a common property line where 

practicable.  
3. Redesign of the lot arrangements may be required to meet extreme conditions.  

B. 2. UTILITIES 

1. POWER OR COMMUNICATIONS 
Page 248

cfarrell
Stamp



ARTICLE 6: SUBDIVISIONS 
6.14. Utilities and Infrastructure 

6.14. UTILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

6.14.1. UTILITY OWNERSHIP AND EASEMENT RIGHTS 
In any case in which a developer installs or causes the installation of water, sewer, electrical power, 
telephone or cable television facilities and intends that the facilities shall be owned, operated or 
maintained by a public utility or any entity other than the developer, the developer shall transfer to the 
utility or entity the necessary ownership or easement rights to enable the utility or entity to operate and 
maintain the facilities. 

6.14.2. LOTS SERVED BY GOVERNMENTALLY OWNED WATER OR SEWER LINES 
A. Whenever it is legally possible and practicable in terms of topography to connect a lot with 

a Town water or sewer line by running a connection line not more than 200 feet from the lot 
to the line, then no use requiring water or sewage disposal service may be made of the lot 
unless connection is made to the line. 

B. Connection to the water or sewer is not legally possible if, in order to make connection with 
the line by a connecting line that does not exceed 200 feet in length, it is necessary to run 
the connecting line over property not owned by the owner of the property to be served by 
the connection and, after diligent effort, the easement necessary to run the connecting line 
cannot reasonably be obtained. 

C. For purposes of this article, a lot is served by a Town-owned water or sewer line if connection 
is required by this section,. with the exception of:  

a. If the potable water system will not generate water pressure that is equal to the 
average of connected customers within a quarter-
connection (as determined by a licensed professional engineer), then connection to 
the water system is not required. 

C.b. If the cost to connect to the sewer system is greater than the cost to install an on-
site wastewater system (as determined by a licensed soil scientist, on-site wastewater 
contractor, or licensed plumbing contractor), then connection to sewer system is not 
required. 

6.14.3. SEWAGE DISPOSAL FACILITIES REQUIRED. 
A. Every principal use and every lot within a subdivision shall be served by a sewage disposal 

system that is adequate to accommodate the reasonable needs of the use or subdivision lot 
and that complies with all applicable health regulations. 

B. Primary responsibility for determining whether a proposed development will comply with 
these standards typically lies with a county or state agency rather than the Town, and the 
developer must comply with the detailed standards and specifications of another agency.  

C. Whenever applicable the developer must present the Planning Director with certification 
from the appropriate agency which regulate the type of sewage disposal facility being 
proposed that the facility complies with all standards and requirements. If a permit is 
required, the developer must present the Planning Director with a copy of the permit as well 
as any detailed drawings which were required prior to its issuance. 

6.14.4. WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM REQUIRED 
A. Every principal use and every lot within a subdivision shall be served by a water supply system 

that is adequate to accommodate the reasonable needs of the use or subdivision lot and 
that complies with all applicable health regulations. 

B. Primary responsibility for determining whether a proposed development will comply with 
these standards typically lies with a county or state agency rather than the Town, and the 
developer must comply with the detailed standards and specifications of such other 
agency.  

C. Whenever applicable the developer must present the Planning Director with certification 
from the appropriate agency which regulate the type of sewage disposal facility being 
proposed that the facility complies with all standards and requirements. If a permit is 

Page 249

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 250

cfarrell
Stamp



ARTICLE 4: USES 
4.4. Accessory Uses 4.4.7. Standards for Specific Accessory Uses 

 

Town of Zebulon 4-70 
Unified Development 

Ordinance 
 

TABLE 4.4.6: ACCESSORY USE TABLE [1] 
A=Allowed (if listed in a PD master plan); P=Permitted subject to applicable use-specific standards; 

S=Requires approval of a special use permit and compliance with applicable use-specific standards; 
 

USE TYPE 
[1] 

RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL MIXED USE 

A
C

C
. U

SE
-

S P
EC

IF
IC

 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S 
[2

] 

R1
 

R2
 

R4
 

R6
 

RM
F 

N
C

 
C

G
 

H
C

 
LI

 
IC

 
H

I
O

I 
D

TC
 

D
TP

 
PD

Storage of 
Unlicensed or 
Inoperable Vehicles 
or Trailers 

· P P P · · · · · · · · · · ·  

Play Equipment P P P P P P P · · · · P P P A 4.4.7.T 

Produce Stand P P P P P P P P · · · P P P A 4.4.7.U 

Solar Energy Systems P P P P P P P P P P P P P P A 4.4.7.V 

Stable (horses) P P · · · · · · · · · · · · A 4.4.7.W 
Swimming Pool/Hot 
Tub 

P P P P P P      P P P A 4.4.7.X 

Tool/Storage Shed P P P P P P P P P P P P P P A  
Underground 
Storage Tank 

· · · · · ·  S P P P · · · A 4.4.7.Y 

Wagering, Sports · · · · · · · P P P S · · P A 4.4.7.Z 
Wind Energy 
Conversion 

· P P P P P P P P P P P · · A 4.4.7.AA 

NOTE: 
[1] Unlisted accessory uses may be permitted in accordance with Section 4.4.3, Procedure for 
Establishment. 

4.4.7. STANDARDS FOR SPECIFIC ACCESSORY USES  
Standards for a specific accessory use or structure shall apply to the particular individual 
accessory use or structure regardless of the zoning district in which it is located or the review 
procedure by which it is approved, unless otherwise specified in this Ordinance. This section 
sets forth and consolidates the standards for all accessory uses and structures for which a 

- Table 
4.4.6:  Accessory Use Table. These standards may be modified by other applicable standards 
or requirements in this Ordinance. 

A. ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT  
An accessory dwelling unit (ADU) is permitted as accessory to a single-family detached 
dwelling, and shall comply with the following standards: 

1. No more than one ADU shall be located on a lot with a single-family detached dwelling. 
2. An ADU shall not exceed 35 percent of the total amount of finished floor area in the 

principal structure. 
3. An ADU shall not exceed one story, but nothing shall limit an ADU from being located on 

a second or third story provided the structure complies with the applicable maximum 
height limitations in the district where located. 

4. An ADU and the principal dwelling shall have the same street address and mailbox. 
5. An ADU shall not be subdivided or otherwise separated in ownership from the principal 

dwelling unit. 

Page 251

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 252

cfarrell
Stamp



ARTICLE 4: USES 
4.4. Accessory Uses 4.4.7. Standards for Specific Accessory Uses 

 

Town of Zebulon 4-76 
Unified Development 

Ordinance 
 

1. A SES may be roof-mounted, attached to a principle or accessory structure, be ground-
mounted, or placed over a parking or other hard-surface area. 

2. The footprint of a ground-mounted SES shall not exceed 50 percent of the floorplate of 
the principal structure, or one acre, whichever is less. 

3. An SES shall comply with the dimensional requirements for the district where located, as 
modified by Section 4.4.4, General Standards for Accessory Uses and Structures. 

4. An SES shall not obscure required sight distance triangles. 
5. A SES may be placed within a required landscaping area provided it does not 

compromise the screening objective of the landscaping. 
6. Ground-mounted SES facilities are exempted from the screening requirements in Section 

5.10, Screening.  
7. Ground-mounted SES facilities shall not exceed 20 feet in height above adjacent pre-

construction grade. 

W. STABLE (HORSES)  
Stables shall comply with the following standards: 

1. Stables are not permitted on land within the corporate limits. 
2. The land on which the facility is located shall be at least two acres in size.  
3. No stalls or stables shall be within 200 feet of any existing adjoining residential dwelling and 

100 feet from any adjoining well being used for human consumption. 
4. Stables must be operated and maintained in a healthy and safe manner. Healthy and 

safe is defined as, but not limited to: fences kept in good repair; potable water available 
on demand; protection from wind or rain; a sign posted indicating the name and phone 
number of the person to be contacted in case of emergency. 

X. SWIMMING POOL/HOT TUB  
1. Swimming pools built as accessory uses to a residential use shall be completely isolated 

from adjacent lands and streets by a fence or other structure having a minimum height 
of four feet and configured to prevent small children from gaining unsupervised access 
to the pool. 

2. Gates or doors opening into the area around the swimming pool from outside the dwelling 
shall have self-closing and self-latching devises for keeping the gate or door closed at all 
times when not in use. 

3. These standards shall apply to any built structure placed or constructed for the purpose 
of bathing or swimming with a depth of two feet or more.  

4. Swimming pools included as an accessory use to a single-family subdivision shall include 
one off-street parking space for every four persons of design capacity. 

Y. UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK  
Underground storage tanks shall comply with the following requirements: 

1. Underground storage tanks shall not be located within required setbacks, easements, or 
beneath public rights-of-way. 

2. Underground storage tanks shall be installed and operated only in accordance with the 
State Building Code(s) and all applicable Fire Code requirements. 

3. Underground storage tanks shall be depicted on site plans and as-builts. 

Z. WAGERING, SPORTS 
Sports wagering in compliance with Section 18C-901 through 18C-928 of the North Carolina 
General Statutes.  

Z.AA. WIND ENERGY CONVERSION 
Wind energy conversion uses shall comply with the following requirements: 

1. Limited to one per principal use; 
2. The facility shall not exceed 70 feet in height; 

Page 253

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 254

cfarrell
Stamp



ARTICLE 4: USES 
4.3. Use-Specific Standards 4.3.3. Residential Use Types 

 

Town of Zebulon 4-26 
Unified Development 

Ordinance 
 

3. SITE ACCESS 
Site access to single-family detached dwellings shall only be in accordance with the 
standards in Table 4.3.3.P.3:  Single Family Site Access Standards: 
 

TABLE 4.3.3.P.3: SINGLE-FAMILY SITE ACCESS STANDARDS 

LOT CONFIGURATION [1] 
ALLOWABLE VEHICULAR ACCESS 

POINT LOCATION (LOT LINE) [2] 
Lots With a Lot Width of 70 Linear Feet or 
More 

Front, Side, or Rear 

Lots with a Lot Width of Less than 70 Linear 
Feet 

Interior Lot: Rear 

Corner Lot: Side or Rear 

Cul-de-Sac Lots Front or Rear 

Lots in a Conservation Subdivision Front, Side, or Rear 

Lots in a Bungalow Court Front, Side, or Rear 

Lots in a Pocket Neighborhood 
Vehicular Access to Individual 

Lot not Required 
NOTES: 
[1] Standards may be  reduced  by up to 10 feet as part of a conditional 
rezoning application. 
[2] Lots obtaining vehicular access from a NCDOT-maintained street may be 
accessed from a location identified in a driveway permit from the NCDOT 
regardless of the standards in this table.  

 

4. DESIGN GUIDELINE COMPLIANCE ENCOURAGED 
Voluntary compliance with the standards in Section 5.2, Design Guidelines, is encouraged. 

Q. TRIPLEX/QUADPLEX  
Triplex and quadplex dwellings shall comply with the following standards: 

1. The dwelling shall face the street from which the dwelling derives its street address. 
2. If a parking lot is provided, it shall be located to the interior side or rear of the dwelling and 

not be located between the dwelling and the street. 
3. Voluntary compliance with the standards in All buildings containing dwelling units shall 

comply with the provisions in Section 5.2, Design Guidelines., is encouraged. 

R. UPPER-STORY RESIDENTIAL  
1. Upper-story residential dwelling units shall occupy the second or higher floor of a building 

with a nonresidential use on the ground floor. 
2. Upper-story residential units configured as condominiums shall comply with the standards 

in Section 4.3.3.O.5, Condominiums. 
3. Except for buildings used solely for industrial purposes, new buildings containing upper-

story residential uses shall comply with the standards in Section 5.3.2, Mixed-Use Design 
Standards.  Lawfully established building in place prior to January 1, 2020 shall comply with 
the standards in Section 5.3.2, Mixed-Use Design Standards, to the extent practical. 

  

Page 255

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 256

cfarrell
Stamp



ARTICLE 5: DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
5.2. Design Guidelines 5.2.1. Purpose and Intent 

 

Town of Zebulon 5-13 
Unified Development 

Ordinance 
 

5.2. DESIGN GUIDELINES 

5.2.1. PURPOSE AND INTENT 
These residential design guidelines are proposed as suggestions for ways to ensure that new 
single-family detached and duplex, triplex, and quadplex housing is high quality, 
aesthetically pleasing, and provides a wide variety of living options for Town residents.  More 
specifically, these guidelines are intended to: 

A. Ensure single-family detached and duplex, triplex, and quadplex  homes maintain consistent 
exterior materials and architectural treatments on the front and sides of buildings; 

B. Establish guidance regarding changes of exterior finishes and materials on individual 
facades; 

C. Avoid garage-dominated street fronts in residential neighborhoods; 
D. Encourage duplex, triplex, and quadplex  structures to appear as single-family homes; and 
E. Ensure an adequate level of variability in single-family home design so as to avoid 

monotonous streetscapes where every dwelling appears identical or very similar to its 
neighboring dwellings. 

5.2.2. APPLICABILITY 
A. Single-family detached, single-family attached, and duplex, triplex, and quadplex  dwellings 

shall comply with these guidelines in the following instances: 
1. When proposed development is subject to a signed statement of consent in accordance 

with Section 5.2.3, Statement of Consent; and 
2. When compliance with these guidelines is included as a condition of approval associated 

with a conditional rezoning (see Section 2.2.6, Conditional Rezoning). 
B. Single-family detached, attached, and duplex, triplex, and quadplex  dwellings not subject 

to a statement of consent are not required to comply with these guidelines, though 
conformance is strongly encouraged. 

5.2.3. STATEMENT OF CONSENT 
A. Compliance with the design guidelines in this section is voluntary and at the discretion of the 

applicant.  In cases where an applicant chooses to comply with the guidelines in this section, 
the applicant shall sign the following statement of consent and include it with the application 
for a preliminary plat, special use permit, site plan, or building permit, as appropriate. 

 
The single-family detached, attached, or duplex, triplex or quadplex dwellings depicted on 
the attached site plan, subdivision plat, or other development approval is subject to the 

-Family Residential Design Guidelines in place at the time the 
application for this development was determined to be complete.  I hereby voluntarily 
consent to the application of these design guidelines, this acceptance of which shall run 
with the land regardless of changes in ownership, and recognize that failure to comply with 
the applicable guidelines following approval is a violation of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
 
____________________________________                  _____________________ 
Landowner Signature     Date 

 
B. The signed statement of consent and the development approval shall be recorded in the 

office of the Wake County Register of Deeds prior to issuance of a building permit. 
C. Applicants seeking to establish single-family attached development may consent to 

complying with the multi-family design standard as an alternative to these provisions. 
  

Page 257

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 258

cfarrell
Stamp



ARTICLE 5: DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
5.8. Parking and Loading 5.8.5. Parking Lot Configuration 

 

Town of Zebulon 5-109 
Unified Development 

Ordinance 
 

5.8.5. PARKING LOT CONFIGURATION
Except for driveways credited towards these parking standards in Section 5.8.4.G, Driveways 
Used to Meet Parking Requirements, or parking areas subject to an approved alternative 
parking plan (see Section 5.8.11, Parking Alternatives) all parking lots shall comply with the 
following standards: 

A. GENERAL 
1. All required off-street parking spaces shall be located on the same lot as the principal use 

they serve, except as allowed in Section 5.8.11, Parking Alternatives. 
2. Required off-street parking shall be maintained for the duration of the principal use and 

shall not be reduced unless the principal use ceases or changes. 
3. Except where allowed by this Ordinance, off-street parking spaces shall be not be located 

in any required landscaping or stormwater management area. 
4. Off-street parking spaces shall not protrude into any street, fire lane, drive aisle, sidewalk, 

greenway, or pedestrian connection. 

B. DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS FOR PARKING SPACES AND AISLES  
Off-street parking spaces and drive aisles serving them shall comply with the minimum 
dimensional standards established in Table 5.8.5.B:  Dimensional Standards for Off-Street 
Parking Spaces, and Figure 9.3.11.F: Parking Space and Access Aisle Dimensions. 

 

TABLE 5.8.5.B: DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS FOR OFF-STREET 
PARKING SPACES 

TYPE OF PARKING 

SPACE [1] 
MINIMUM 

WIDTH (FEET) 
MINIMUM 

DEPTH (FEET) 
MINIMUM AISLE WIDTH (FEET) [2] 

ONE WAY TWO WAY [3] 
Parallel (0º) 9 20 13 19 

Angled (30º) 10 19 12 20 

Angled (45º) 10 19 13 21 

Angled (60º) 10 19 18 23 

Perpendicular (90º) 910 19 20 24 

Compact 8.5 18 20 24 
NOTES: 
[1] All off-street parking spaces shall remain unobstructed from grade level to a height of at least 

 
[2] Minimum aisle width shall be measured from edge-of-pavement to edge-of-pavement, and 
shall not include gutters or curbing. 
[3] The Town may require one direction of travel to maintain a wider width than the other 
direction. 

 

C. MINIMUM PARKING LOT STEM LENGTH 
All vehicular accessways serving off-street parking lots shall comply with the standards in 
Section 5.1.6.FMinimum Parking Lot Stem Length. 

D. PARKING SPACE ACCESS 
1. All off-street parking spaces shall be accessed directly from drive aisles or private 

driveways and not directly from arterial or collector streets. 
2. All off-street parking areas shall be designed with an appropriate means of vehicular 

access to a street or alley in a manner that allows for safe vehicular movements. 

E. VEHICLE BACKING 

Page 259

cfarrell
Stamp



ARTICLE 9: MEASUREMENT AND DEFINITIONS 
9.3. Rules of Measurement 9.3.12. Landscaping 

 

Town of Zebulon 9-18 
Unified Development 

Ordinance 
 

When the minimum number of off-street parking spaces is based on the number of 
employees, the computations shall be based on the number of employees on the largest 
shift. 

E. FLOOR-AREA BASED STANDARDS 
Where the minimum number of off-street parking spaces is based on square feet of floor 
area, all computations shall be based on gross floor area. The square footage shall include 
outdoor use area. 

F. PARKING SPACE AND ACCESS AISLE DIMENSIONS 
Figure 9.3.11.F, Parking Space and Access Aisle Dimensions, sets out the minimum off-street 
parking space dimensions and minimum widths of access aisles. 

 
FIGURE 9.3.11.F: PARKING SPACE AND AISLE DIMENSIONS 

 
 

9.3.12. LANDSCAPING 

A. DETERMINING TREE SIZE AT TIME OF PLANTING 

1. TREES UNDER FOUR INCHES IN CALIPER 
Minimum size at time of planting shall be determined by taking a measurement of the 
girth or circumference of the tree trunk, in inches, at a height of six inches above the 
bole, or the location where tree trunk meets the soil it is planted in.   

2. TREES OVER FOUR, BUT LESS THAN TWELVE INCHES, IN CALIPER 
Minimum size at time of planting shall be determined by taking a measurement of the 
girth or circumference of the tree trunk, in inches, at a height of 12 inches above the 
bole, or the location where tree trunk meets the soil it is planted in.   

 

 

Page 260

cfarrell
Stamp



© 2024. School of Government. The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 

1

PLANNING AND ZONING LAW BULLETIN NO. 33 | FEBRUARY 2024

Jim Joyce is an assistant professor of public law and government at the School of Government. Adam Lovelady 
is a professor of public law and government at the School of Government. Both specialize in land use planning 
and development regulation.

2023 North Carolina Legislation Related to 
Planning and Development Regulation
Jim Joyce and Adam Lovelady

CONTENTS

I. Checklist for Local Government Action . . . 2

II. Zoning and Land Subdivision . . . 3
A. Limit on Residential Design Standards . . . 3
B. Fire Access Roads in Residential Development . . . 3
C. Size of Parking Spaces . . . 4
D. Private-Driveway Design Standards . . . 4

III.  Development-Related 
Local Government Authority . . . 4
A. Limit Local Regulation of Online Marketplaces . . . 4
B. Transient Occupancy . . . 4
C. Electric Fences . . . 5

IV. Fees and Exactions . . . 5
A. System-Development Fees . . . 5

V. Infrastructure . . . 5
A. Required Connections . . . 5
B. Water Capacity for Charter Schools . . . 6
C. Wastewater Calculations . . . 6

VI. Local Environmental Regulation . . . 6
A. Wetlands . . . 6
B. Choice of Fee for Erosion and 

Sedimentation Control . . . 7
C. Transfer of Stormwater Permits . . . 7
D. Funds for Maintenance of 

Stormwater Facilities . . . 7
E. Redevelopment and Stormwater Rules . . . 7
F. Exclusion of Rights-of-Way from 

Impervious Surface . . . 8

G. Various Stormwater Changes . . . 8
H. Various Water-Quality Changes . . . 9
I. Additional Environmental Changes . . . 9

VII. Agricultural Uses . . . 10

VIII. Local Bills . . . 10
A. Maggie Valley Extraterritorial 

Jurisdiction and Moratoria . . . 11
B. Leland Annexation Authority . . . 11
C. Capitol-Area Zoning . . . 11
D. Dare County Affordable Housing . . . 11

IX. Building Code . . . 11
A. Changes to the Residential Code . . . 11
B. Commercial and Multifamily Building Projects, 

Expedited and Third-Party Permitting . . . 13
C. Other Building Code Changes . . . 15

X. Code Enforcement . . . 16
A. City Authority to Remove Abandoned Vessels . . . 16

XI. Renewable Energy . . . 16
A. Solar Decommissioning, S.L. 2023-58, H.B. 130 . . . 16
B. Disposal of Photovoltaics . . . 18
C. Renewable Clean Energy Portfolio Standards . . . 18

XII. Other Notable Legislation . . . 18
A. Sports Wagering . . . 18
B. Grants for Local Government 

Development Assets . . . 20
C. Proposed Legislation . . . 20

Page 261

https://www.sog.unc.edu/about/faculty-and-staff/james-jim-joyce
https://www.sog.unc.edu/about/faculty-and-staff/adam-lovelady
cfarrell
Highlight
A. Required Connections . . . 5

cfarrell
Highlight
A. Sports Wagering

cfarrell
Highlight
C. Size of Parking Spaces . . . 4

cfarrell
Highlight
A. Limit on Residential Design Standards . . . 3

cfarrell
Stamp



2 Planning and Zoning Law Bulletin No. 33 | February 2024

© 2024. School of Government. The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 

The 2023 “long session” was a long session indeed. The North Carolina General Assembly 
convened in January and notable work continued well into the fall, with the state budget adopted 
in September, election maps approved in October, and no-vote sessions scheduled through to 
spring of 2024, in case the General Assembly needs to take up additional matters.

Substantively, the session was notable. The legislature adopted Medicaid expansion and, with 
a veto-proof majority, the Republican-controlled General Assembly implemented many policy 
changes across a range of topics. With regard to planning and development regulations, notable 
changes included the creation of a new Residential Code Council and changes to building code 
standards and procedures, various changes to environmental standards and utility requirements, 
and more.

I. Checklist for Local Government Action
The following pages offer summaries of the notable bills from this session. This checklist is a 
quick-guide for the changes and action that may be needed at the local level.

• Ensure that any local design regulations do not apply to three-family or four-family 
dwellings, which are now subject to the Residential Code and cannot be regulated for 
building design elements.

• Ensure that local development regulations do not require fire access roads beyond what 
is required by the fire code for structures built to the Residential Code.

• Clarify size requirements for parking spaces to align with Chapter 160D, Section 702 of 
the North Carolina General Statutes (hereinafter G.S).

• Revise private-driveway standards, if necessary, to comply with North Carolina 
Department of Transportation (NCDOT) standards, and revise procedures to 
accept inadequate-pavement standards if sealed by a licensed engineer as required 
at 160D-804.

• Update water and sewer policies, including calculations of system-development fees, to 
align with S.L. 2023-55 (modeling and system development).

• Confirm that the public health department is aware of updates to on-site-wastewater 
regulations in S.L. 2023-77 and 2023-90, as well as changes in Section 16 of S.L. 2023-63.

• Note the updated exemptions from water- and sewer-connection requirements in 
Section 10 of S.L. 2023-90, and update connection policies accordingly.

• Review local wetlands protections for potential changes to come from reduction in state 
and federally protected wetlands.

• Update rules for review of erosion and sedimentation plans when other environmental 
permits are involved to conform to S.L. 2023-134, Section 12.10(c).

• Update riparian-buffer enforcement to comply with S.L. 2023-63, Section 11.1 (civil 
penalties for timber removal in riparian buffers).

• Update building-permit administration, if needed, to align with the broadened scope of 
the Residential Code (to include three-family and four-family dwellings).

• Update building-permit administration to accommodate expedited and third-party 
permitting for commercial and multifamily building projects.

• Ensure that building inspections align with various changes, including single permits 
for residential building projects, repealed energy-conservation rules, updated monetary 
thresholds for permits, and more.

Page 262

https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/PDF/2023-2024/SL2023-55.pdf
https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/PDF/2023-2024/SL2023-77.pdf
https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/PDF/2023-2024/SL2023-90.pdf
https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/PDF/2023-2024/SL2023-63.pdf
https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/PDF/2023-2024/SL2023-134.pdf
cfarrell
Stamp



2023 North Carolina Legislation Related to Planning and Development Regulation 3

© 2024. School of Government. The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 

• Recognize that the Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) will now administer 
a solar-decommissioning requirement; local governments may still have their 
own decommissioning.

• Anticipate new off-track-betting establishments for horse-racing and sports-betting 
places of public accommodation near professional-sports facilities, as allowed by 
S.L. 2023-42.

• Consider opportunities that might be available through the Megasites Fund;1 
parks-and-trails programs;2 and the Major Events, Games, and Attractions Fund.3

• For Dare County, the City of Raleigh, and Wake County, be mindful of new 
zoning exemptions.4

• For Buncombe, Cumberland, Durham, Forsyth, Guilford, Mecklenburg, and Wake 
Counties, and possibly Union County, anticipate the possibility that airports will seek to 
select a local sedimentation-and-erosion-control program.

II. Zoning and Land Subdivision

A. Limit on Residential Design Standards
The North Carolina zoning statutes already prevented local governments from regulating 
“building design elements” for structures subject to the North Carolina Residential Code for 
One- and Two-Family Dwellings. As discussed below, Section 9 of S.L. 2023-108 (H.B. 488) 
expands the scope of the Residential Code to include three-family (triplex) and four-family 
(quadplex) dwellings. Section 1.(d) of S.L. 2023-108 (H.B. 488) incorporates that change into 
G.S. 160D-702 and the limits on design standards. With this change, local governments may not 
impose restrictions on building-design elements on residential structures with up to four units 
(structures subject to the Residential Code).

B. Fire Access Roads in Residential Development
Over the last couple of legislative sessions, the General Assembly limited the extent to which 
fire access roads could be required under the state Fire Code. There was an open question 
of whether the same requirement could be imposed through local zoning and subdivision. 
Section 26 of S.L. 2023-137 (H.B. 600) makes clear that local development regulations must 
match to the building code requirements. The session law added the following language to 
G.S. 160D-702(c): Local development regulations may not “[r]equire additional fire apparatus 
access roads into developments of one- or two-family dwellings that are not in compliance with 
the required number of fire apparatus access roads into developments of one- or two-family 
dwellings set forth in the Fire Code of the North Carolina Residential Code for One- and 
Two-Family Dwellings.”

1. S.L. 2023-134, § 11.11.
2. Id., § 14.4, 14.6.
3. S.L. 2023-42.
4. S.L. 2023-134 (H.B. 259), § 24.8 (Dare County), 20.5 (Wake County and Raleigh).

Page 263

https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/PDF/2023-2024/SL2023-42.pdf
https://www.ncleg.gov/Sessions/2023/Bills/House/PDF/H488v8.pdf
https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/HTML/2023-2024/SL2023-137.html
cfarrell
Highlight
A. Limit on Residential Design Standards

cfarrell
Stamp



4 Planning and Zoning Law Bulletin No. 33 | February 2024

© 2024. School of Government. The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 

C. Size of Parking Spaces
Section 26 of S.L. 2023-137 (H.B. 600) cleans up G.S. 160D-702(c) to clarify that zoning 
ordinances may not require parking spaces larger than nine feet wide and twenty feet long, 
except for handicap, parallel, or diagonal parking.

D. Private-Driveway Design Standards
Local government authority to regulate private-driveway standards is limited. Section 3 of 
S.L. 2023-108 (H.B. 488) adds a new subsection (j) to G.S. 160D-804. The new language provides 
as follows.

Local government pavement design standards for new private driveways must not be more 
stringent than NCDOT’s minimum pavement design standards. Even if a local government 
has adopted driveway standards consistent with NCDOT, the local government must accept 
engineered-pavement design standards that do not meet minimum standards if the design 
is signed and sealed by a licensed engineer and meets vehicular traffic and fire apparatus 
access requirements. In the case of such driveways that do not meet minimum standards, the 
developer must provide disclosures to prospective buyers and the local government is discharged 
from liability.

This provision applies to “new privately owned driveways, parking lots, and driving areas 
associated with parking lots within a new development or subdivision that the developer 
designates as private and that are intended to remain privately owned after construction.” The 
new section does not limit local government or NCDOT authority “to regulate private roads, 
driveways, or street connections to a public system, or to regulate transportation and utilities.”5 
The provision was effective October 1, 2023.

III.  Development-Related Local Government Authority

A. Limit Local Regulation of Online Marketplaces
Section 27 of S.L. 2023-137 (H.B. 600) adds statutes to the municipal and county chapters 
(G.S. 160A-499.7 and G.S. 153A-461, respectively) to prevent local governments from regulating 
the operation of an online marketplace or from requiring an online marketplace to provide 
a user’s personally identifiable information (except by court order). An online marketplace is 
defined to be a person or entity that (1) provides a web-based platform through which a service is 
advertised or offered and (2) provides a payment system between users, communicates offers and 
acceptance between users, or provides the electronic infrastructure to bring users together. This 
legislation concerns regulating the operation of an online marketplace (the software platform); 
the legislation does not appear to limit local authority to regulate land uses that happen to use a 
software platform.

B. Transient Occupancy
Chapter 42 of the North Carolina General Statutes sets forth the landlord and tenant laws for 
the state. Among other things, that chapter provides standards for residential rental agreements, 
procedures for eviction, and procedures for summary ejectment. S.L. 2023-5 (S.B. 53) adds 

5. S.L. 2023-108, sec. 3.(a), § 160D-804(j).

Page 264

https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/HTML/2023-2024/SL2023-137.html
https://www.ncleg.gov/Sessions/2023/Bills/Senate/PDF/S53v4.pdf
cfarrell
Highlight
C. Size of Parking Spaces

cfarrell
Stamp



2023 North Carolina Legislation Related to Planning and Development Regulation 5

© 2024. School of Government. The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 

language to G.S. 42-14.6 to clarify that Chapter 42 does not apply to transient occupancies 
and that transient-occupancy agreements do not create tenancy or residential tenancy unless 
expressly stated in the agreement.

S.L. 2023-5 (S.B. 53) also adds to G.S. 72-1 a definition of transient occupancy: “For the 
purposes of this section, a ‘transient occupancy’ is the rental of an accommodation by an inn, 
hotel, motel, recreational vehicle park, campground, or similar lodging to the same guest or 
occupant for fewer than 90 consecutive days.”

The legislative change clarifies the nature of agreements between property owners and 
transient occupants. It does not appear to directly address local government authority to regulate 
related to inns, hotels, short-term rentals, or other transient occupancies.

C. Electric Fences
Section 44 of S.L. 2023-137 (H.B. 600) adds new statutes, G.S. 160A-194.1 and G.S. 153A-134.1, 
to limit local government authority to regulate battery-charged security fences, especially on 
nonresidential property.

IV. Fees and Exactions

A. System-Development Fees
In 2017 the North Carolina General Assembly authorized local government utility providers to 
charge system-development fees (impact fees) for water and sewer. The law, outlined in Article 8 
of G.S. 162A, sets forth specific procedures and calculations for establishing system-development 
fees, as well as substantive limits on the authority. There has been some ambiguity around 
the scope of authority for system-development fees, and the General Assembly has tweaked 
the statutes several times since 2017. And again this year, the General Assembly amended 
the authority.

S.L. 2023-55 (S.B. 673) amends the statutes authorizing system-development fees to address 
issues related to reserved capacity agreements and interlocal utility agreements. In particular, the 
new law grants clear authority for local governments to enter reserved capacity agreements and 
for local governments to recoup the costs of those agreements through system-development fees 
paid by new development.

For more details on the changes, see Kara Millonzi’s blog post, 2023 Updates to System 
Development Fee Law.6

V. Infrastructure

A. Required Connections
North Carolina municipalities and counties have authority, with limited exceptions, to 
require developed property to connect to public water and sewer under G.S. 160A-317(a) and 

6. Kara Millonzi, 2023 Updates to System Development Fee Law, Coates’ Canons NC Loc. Gov’t L. 
(Oct. 25, 2023), https://canons.sog.unc.edu/2023/10/2023-updates-to-system-development-fee-law/.

Page 265

https://www.ncleg.gov/Sessions/2023/Bills/Senate/PDF/S673v5.pdf
https://canons.sog.unc.edu/2023/10/2023-updates-to-system-development-fee-law/
https://canons.sog.unc.edu/2023/10/2023-updates-to-system-development-fee-law/
cfarrell
Highlight
A. Required Connections

cfarrell
Stamp



6 Planning and Zoning Law Bulletin No. 33 | February 2024

© 2024. School of Government. The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 

153A-284(a). Section 10 of S.L. 2023-90 (H.B. 628) and Section 12 of S.L. 2023-108 (H.B. 488) 
alter that authority in the following notable ways:

Counties may require a property owner to connect to a sewer line only “if the county has 
adequate capacity to transport and treat the proposed new wastewater from the premises at the 
time of connection.”7

Cities likewise may not require a property owner to connect to the city sewer system unless 
the system has adequate capacity.8

In addition, a city may not require sewer connection if the cost to connect to the system is 
greater than the cost to install an on-site wastewater system (as determined by a licensed soil 
scientist, on-site wastewater contractor, or licensed plumbing contractor).9

Finally, the city cannot require the property owner to connect to the water system if the 
system will not generate water pressure that is equal to the average of connected customers 
within a quarter-mile radius of the owner’s point of connection (as determined by a licensed 
professional engineer). The city also may not require the owner to install a larger meter and 
piping connection or impose an increased fee to achieve the required water pressure.10

B. Water Capacity for Charter Schools
Section 40 of S.L. 2023-137 (H.B. 600) adds a new statute, G.S. 115C-218.36, to give rules for 
reserving water and sewer capacity for charter schools.

C. Wastewater Calculations
Section 18 of S.L. 2023-137 (H.B. 600) modifies the calculations for wastewater design flow rates 
for dwelling units. Among other changes, wastewater flows will be calculated at 75 gallons per 
day per bedroom.

VI. Local Environmental Regulation

A. Wetlands
Potentially one of the most significant provisions of the 2023 farm bill, S.L. 2023-63 (S.B. 582), 
is Section 15, which limits wetlands that are waters of the state (and thus subject to state water-
quality laws) to those that are defined as waters of the United States. Previously, there was a 
small range of coastal wetlands that were not covered by federal regulations but were covered 
under state law. Those wetlands will no longer be covered under state law.

A contemporaneous decision by the United States Supreme Court in Sackett v. Environmental 
Protection Agency further limits the scope of regulated wetlands under both state and federal 
law. The federal Clean Water Act gives federal regulatory agencies jurisdiction over “waters of 
the United States.” This term includes certain wetlands, but the text of the Clean Water Act does 
not make clear which wetlands are covered. Regulators had been applying federal protections to 
wetlands that related to or affected surface-water bodies that qualified as “waters of the United 

 7. S.L. 2023-90, § 10.(b); S.L. 2023-108, § 12(b).
 8. S.L. 2023-90, § 10(a); S.L. 2023-108, § 12(a) (slightly different language with similar effect).
 9. S.L. 2023-90, § 10(a).
10. Id.

Page 266

https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/PDF/2023-2024/SL2023-90.pdf
https://www.ncleg.gov/Sessions/2023/Bills/House/PDF/H488v8.pdf
https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/HTML/2023-2024/SL2023-137.html
https://www.ncleg.gov/Sessions/2023/Bills/Senate/PDF/S582v8.pdf
cfarrell
Stamp



18 Planning and Zoning Law Bulletin No. 33 | February 2024

© 2024. School of Government. The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 

6. Financial Support
DEQ must identify existing incentive and grant programs to research module recycling and 
reuse and to support the module-recycling-and-reuse industry. Additionally, the law created the 
Utility-Scale Solar Management Fund, funded by fees imposed on project owners.

7. Effective Dates
The requirements for decommissioning and registration are effective November 1, 2025, and 
apply to all utility-scale solar projects constructed before or after that date. The requirements 
for decommissioning plans and financial assurance are effective November 1, 2025, but those 
requirements apply only to existing projects that are rebuilt or expanded, as defined, and new 
projects for which applications for certificates of public convenience and necessity are pending or 
submitted on or after June 26, 2023.

B. Disposal of Photovoltaics
Section 18 of S.L. 2023-137 (H.B. 600) amends G.S. 130A-309.1 to require that photovoltaic 
modules be disposed in industrial landfills or municipal solid-waste landfills. They must not be 
disposed in unlined landfills.

C. Renewable Clean Energy Portfolio Standards
S.L. 2023-138 (S.B. 678) changes utility regulations to allow nuclear energy to count toward 
required portfolio standards. What had been renewable-energy and energy-efficiency portfolio 
standards are now clean-energy and energy-efficiency portfolio standards, and nuclear energy is 
defined as a clean-energy resource.

In 2007, North Carolina became the first state in the Southeast to adopt renewable energy 
portfolio standards.22 The law set requirements for energy utilities to meet a certain percentage 
of energy needs through renewable-energy or energy-efficiency measures. Renewable energy 
resource was defined to include a range of sources, including solar power, wind power, 
hydropower, biomass, waste heat, and more. The term specifically excluded peat, fossil-fuel, and 
nuclear energy. S.L. 2023-138 (S.B. 678) changes that. The new clean energy portfolio standards 
allow nuclear to count toward required portfolio standards.

XII. Other Notable Legislation

A. Sports Wagering
House Bill 347, now S.L. 2023-42, legalizes wagering on sports in North Carolina, but with 
significant restrictions on where and how that activity can occur. The core of this session law is 
a new Article 9 (“Sports Wagering”) of Chapter 18C of the General Statutes. This new law allows 
individuals to place bets on sporting events, portions of sports events, and individual-participant 
statistics. It allows a variety of bets, including parlays, over-unders, in-game bets, moneyline bets, 
and beyond. These are described in more detail in the new G.S. 18C-901(19). The law also amends 
other gambling-related statutes in Chapters 14 and 16, as well as ABC statutes, to be consistent 
with the legalization of sports wagering in the state.

22. N.C. Util. Comm’n, Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency Standard (REPS), NCUPC.gov (last 
visited Jan. 7, 2024), https://www.ncuc.gov/Reps/reps.html.

Page 267

https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/HTML/2023-2024/SL2023-137.html
https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/PDF/2023-2024/SL2023-138.pdf
https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/SessionLaws/PDF/2023-2024/SL2023-42.pdf
https://www.ncuc.gov/Reps/reps.html
cfarrell
Highlight
A. Sports Wagering

cfarrell
Stamp



2023 North Carolina Legislation Related to Planning and Development Regulation 19

© 2024. School of Government. The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 

There are a number of exceptions to the sports-wagering system. It does not apply in any way 
to fantasy sports, and leaves open how those might be regulated (if at all) by other laws. It also 
explicitly prohibits wagering on youth sports, injury occurrence, penalty occurrence, and the 
outcomes of disciplinary proceedings or replay reviews.

The law creates an entire regulatory framework for sports wagering, including a licensing 
system, the use of revenues, who can be licensed, how wagering accounts must work, and similar 
topics. Those interested in the intricacies of those systems are encouraged to study the session 
law, as a complete analysis is beyond the scope of this publication.

This law will be effective January 8, 2024, but Section 11.8 of the appropriations act 
(S.L. 2023-134) gives the Lottery Commission permission to set a date between January 8 and 
June 15, 2024, for the actual beginning of authorized sports wagering.

Of most interest to land use regulation are the regulations around where betting can 
take place. The law limits betting to two types of location: “sports facilities” and “places of 
public accommodation.”

1. Sports Facilities
New General Statute 18C-901(17), as revised by Section 11.18 of the appropriations act (S.L. 2023-134), 
defines sports facility to include NASCAR tracks, hosts of major golf tournaments, and home 
facilities of professional sports teams at the highest level of competition.

2. Places of Public Accommodation
New General Statute 18C-926 allows permanent “places of public accommodation” (presumably 
sportsbooks or betting windows) to be established on the property of a sports facility. A golf 
tournament can also have a temporary place of public accommodation on site if it does not 
have a permanent one. The law also allows up to one place of public accommodation to be on 
other property owned or controlled by the owner or operator of the sports facility within a 
half-mile radius of a NASCAR or pro-team sports facility, and no more than one place of public 
accommodation within one and a half miles of a golf-tournament site.

A revision to the law included in the appropriations act (S.L. 2023-134, Section 11.18) also 
requires facility owners and operators to commit to working with a single wagering operator. 
Specifically, a sports wagering operator must enter into a “designation agreement” with a 
major-league pro sports team, the owner or operator of a NASCAR or pro-golf facility, a sports 
governing body that sanctions multiple NASCAR races per year, or a sports governing body that 
sanctions more than one professional golf tournament per year. If the wagering operator breaks 
its contract, it can lose its license. However, each team, track, course, or governing body may not 
enter into a designation agreement with more than one wagering operator.

The law also addresses horse racing and sets up a new fund to attract major events. Section 3 
of the law adds an Article 10 to General Statutes Chapter 18C to cover pari-mutuel wagers on live 
or simulcast horse races. It also requires the Lottery Commission to adopt rules governing horse 
racing in the state, including rules regarding bets on simulcast horse races. The statute does 
not appear to include the same location restrictions as apply to sports-betting places of public 
accommodation, although establishments must be licensed by the Lottery Commission.

Page 268

https://www.ncleg.gov/Sessions/2023/Bills/House/PDF/H259v7.pdf
cfarrell
Stamp



Page 269

cfarrell
Stamp



Page 270

cfarrell
Stamp



 
 

TOWN OF ZEBULON 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

ZEBULON PLANNING BOARD 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

FOLLOWING THE 6:00 PM JPH 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

 

II. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

 

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
a. February 12, 2024 

b. March 11, 2024 

 

IV. NEW BUSINESS  

 
a. RZ 2024-02 - 1616 Mack Todd Rd: Request from Seth Huntsinger, for a 

rezoning to the Residential Suburban (R2) zoning district from Wake County 

zoning R-40. 

b. RZ 2024-03 – 545 W Barbee St: A request by CSD Engineering on behalf of 

Ralph Rojas, for a rezoning to the Heavy Industrial (HI) zoning district from 

Residential Suburban (R2) zoning. 

c. PD 2024-03 – 1800 Shepards School Rd: A request by Longleaf Law Partners, 

for a rezoning to a Planned Development (PD) zoning district for the use of an 

RV Campground. 

d. TA 2024-05 – Legislative Update Text Amendment Package: A text 

amendment package in response to various updates Chapter 160D of the North 

Carolina General Statue. The updates include changes to the following: 

Triplex/Quadplex Standards, Sewer and Water Connection Requirements, Parking 

Space Size Requirement Reduction, and Addition of Sports Wagering as an 

accessory use. 

 

V. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Page 271



Page 272



 

 

Zebulon 

Planning Board 

Minutes 

February 12, 2024 
 

 
Present: David Lowry, Domenick Schilling, Laura Jenkins, Stephanie Jenkins, Michael Clark-

Planning, Adam Culpepper-Planning, Stacie Paratore-Deputy Town Clerk, Eric Vernon-Town 

Attorney 

 

David Lowry called the meeting to order.  

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

David Lowry asked to remove the Comprehensive Plan update discussion from the agenda.  

 

Stephanie Jenkins made a motion, second by Domenick Schilling to approve the agenda as 

amended. There was no discussion and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

A. PD 2024-01 Zebulon South  

Adam Culpepper presented the planned development request to develop 320 residential units on 

118.62 acres at 751 S. Wakefield Rd, 700 S. Arendell Ave., 0 S. Wakefield St., and 0 S. Arendell 

Ave.  

 

The standards under section 2.2.25.J for a planned development were: 

1. Health, safety and welfare 

2. Appropriate for location  

3. Reasonable in the public interest 

4. Other relevant factors  

 

The public hearing notification process was detailed. The aerial map, zoning map, future land use 

plan, timeline, and concept plan were shown. The applicant was proposing to dedicate a portion of 

the property for a proposed future fire station.  

 

Adam Culpepper explained the conditions that exceeded the UDO requirements: 

 

• All detached rear loaded homes shall have a sidewalk connection from the front door 

to the public sidewalk (Condition 7). 

• The clubhouse and pool shall be completed before the 150th Certificate of Occupancy 

(Condition 8). 

• Zebulon South will apply a maximum 35% impervious requirement (Condition 9). 

• Provide a minimum 15% Tree Save (Condition 10) 

• One bus stop area, including a shelter, a bench, a trash can, and at least 5 bicycle spaces 

shall be provided with the second phase of development (Condition 12). 

• A single family detached home shall be developed and donated as part of Built to 

Honor, Wounded Warrior Homes, Operation Coming Home, Operation Finally Home, 

or similar organization providing homes to veterans (Condition 14). 

Page 273



Planning Board 

Minutes 

February 12, 2024 
 

2 

 

The conditions meeting the UDO included:  
• All Road Improvements on a DOT road will be approved by NCDOT (Condition 11) 
•  Some of the following amenities will be included : 

• a minimum of two larger parking spaces designed for food trucks or delivery 
vehicles (mobile vendors), with an electrical outlet available;  

• one covered seating area with at least 10 designated public seating spaces will be 
provided adjacent to the Mobile Vendor spaces. 

• at least one outdoor grill will be provided adjacent to the covered seating area. 
• Greenway Alignment will be reviewed and approved by TRC during construction 

drawings.  
•  the grave site(s) located at 0 N Arendell Ave (PIN 2705513114) shall be relocated prior to 

approval of construction drawings 
 

The conditions deviating from the UDO included:  
• Minimum driveway stem length shall be 20’ (Condition 2). 
•  Single family detached rear load lots shall have a minimum lot size of 4,800 sf (Condition 

3) 
•  Single family detached front load lots shall have a minimum lot size of 6,000 sf (Condition 

4) 
•  Single family attached lots shall have a minimum lot size of 1,260 sf (Condition 5) 
•  The minimum lot width for front loaded lots shall be 50’ reduced from 70’ (Condition 6)  

 

The road improvements would include: 
• NC-96 / Site Access 1:  

• 50-foot southbound right-turn lane (with appropriate taper) 
• 100-feet IPS (Internal Protected Stem) along Site Access 1**  

•  NC-96 / Site Access 2: 
• 50-foot southbound right-turn lane (with appropriate taper)  
• 100-feet IPS along Site Access 2**  

• South Wakefield Street / Site Access 3: 
• 50-foot southbound left-turn lane (with appropriate taper)  
• 100-feet IPS along Site Access 3**  

 

The applicant received 68 points under the Town’s Utility Allocation Policy.  

 

Domenick Schilling asked about the revision to Perry Curtis Road. Adam Culpepper explained it 

was a minor revision and the correction would pull the traffic to a 90-degree angle to South 

Arendell. There was discussion about the road revisions and access points. 

 

Domenick Schilling stated he had concerns about traffic and the need for commercial 

development. Adam Culpepper explained commercial developers looked at rooftops and median 

household income of the area to bring in businesses.  

 

Domenick Schilling made a motion, second by Laura Johnson to recommend approval of PD 2024-

01 Zebulon South. There was no discission and the vote was split  2 to 2 with Laura Johnson and 

Domenick Schilling voting in favor and David Lowry and Stephenie Jenkins in opposition.  

 

David Lowry made a motion, second by Domenick Schilling to table PD 2024-01 Zebulon South 

to the March 11, 2024 Planning Board meeting. 

 

Page 274



Planning Board 

Minutes 

February 12, 2024 
 

3 

 

David Lowry explained he wanted more information about the graveyard relocation, traffic and 

the clarify matters with the Traffic Impact Analysis. Domenick Schilling wanted more information 

about the proposed fire station. Michal Clark explained the budget amendment request for the 

February 13 regular meeting would be for due diligence to assess if the site would be suitable for 

a future fire station.  

  

Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas spoke about the process of the cemetery relocation.  

 

There was no further discussion and the motion passed with a vote 3 to 1 with David Lowry, 

Laura Johnson and Domenick Schilling voting in favor and Stephanie Jenkins voting in 

opposition.  

 

B. RZ 2024-01 321 Hospital Road  

Adam presented the zoning map amendment request for 321 Hospital Road to rezone the .34 acres 

from Office Institutional (OI) to General Commercial (GC).  

 

The standards under section 2.2.25.J for a rezoning were: 

1. Health, safety and welfare 

2. Appropriate for location  

3. Reasonable in the public interest 

4. Other relevant factors  

 

The public hearing notification process was detailed. The zoning map and future land use plan was 

shown. 

 

Laura Johnson asked about the intended use for the property. Michael Germano stated the intended 

use would be an import logistics operation. Traffic would not be impacted by the business.  

 

Laura Johnson made a motion, second by Stephanie Jenkins to recommend approval of RZ 2024-

01 321 Hospital Road. There was no discussion and the motion passed unanimously.   

 

DEVELOPMENT UPDATES  

Michael Clark provided development updates. 

 

Laura Johnson made a motion, second by Stephanie Jenkins to adjourn. There was no discussion 

and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

Adopted this the 8th day of April 2024. 

 

 

                                 __________________________________ 

                                                                           David Lowry—Chair  

 

 

SEAL   

       ___________________________________ 

        Stacie Paratore, CMC—Deputy Town Clerk 

Page 275



Page 276



 

Zebulon 

Planning Board 

Minutes 

March 11, 2024 
 
Present: David Lowry, Domenick Schilling, Laura Jenkins, Stephanie Jenkins, Niya Moton, 

George Roa, Kyle Adams, Michael Clark-Planning, Adam Culpepper-Planning, Stacie Paratore-

Deputy Town Clerk, Sam Slater-Town Attorney 

 

David Lowry called the meeting to order.  

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Laura Johnson made a motion, second by Stephanie Jenkins to approve the agenda. There was no 

discussion and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR 

David Lowry made a motion, second by Stephanie Jenkins to nominate Domenick Schilling as 

vice-chair. There was no discussion and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

ADOPTION OF MINUTES  

Laura Johnson made a motion, second by Stephanie Jenkins to adopt the September 18, 2023, 

October 9, 2023 and December 11, 2023 minutes. There was no discussion and the motion passed 

unanimously. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

A. PD 2024-01 Zebulon South  

Adam Culpepper presented the planned development request to develop 320 residential units on 

118.62 acres at 751 S. Wakefield Rd, 700 S. Arendell Ave., 0 S. Wakefield St., and 0 S. Arendell 

Ave. The matter was tabled from the Planning Board’s February 12, 2024 meeting.  

 

The standards under section 2.2.25.J for a planned development were: 

1. Health, safety and welfare 

2. Appropriate for location  

3. Reasonable in the public interest 

4. Other relevant factors  

 

The public hearing notification process was detailed. The aerial map, zoning map, future land use 

plan, timeline, and concept plan were shown. The applicant was proposing to dedicate a portion of 

the property for a proposed future fire station.  

 

The conditions deviating from the UDO included:  
• Minimum driveway stem length shall be 20’ (Condition 2). 
•  Single family detached rear load lots shall have a minimum lot size of 4,800 sf (Condition 

3) 
•  Single family detached front load lots shall have a minimum lot size of 6,000 sf (Condition 

4) 
•  Single family attached lots shall have a minimum lot size of 1,260 sf (Condition 5) 

Page 277



Planning Board 

Minutes 

March 11, 2024 
 

2 

 

•  The minimum lot width for front loaded lots shall be 50’ reduced from 70’ (Condition 6)  
 

The road improvements would include: 
• NC-96 / Site Access 1:  

• 50-foot southbound right-turn lane (with appropriate taper) 
• 100-feet IPS (Internal Protected Stem) along Site Access 1**  

•  NC-96 / Site Access 2: 
• 50-foot southbound right-turn lane (with appropriate taper)  
• 100-feet IPS along Site Access 2**  

• South Wakefield Street / Site Access 3: 
• 50-foot southbound left-turn lane (with appropriate taper)  
• 100-feet IPS along Site Access 3**  

 

The applicant received 68 points under the Town’s Utility Allocation Policy. Only 60 points were 

required under the Town’s policy.  

 

Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas introduced those who were in attendance to answer any questions the 

Planning Board had. Information about the site was given and the significance of location to the 

downtown area. There were also details given about how the development met the Town’s future 

land use plan. Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas spoke about the changes made to meet the requests of 

the Board and Planning Board including 174 spaces for guest parking where only 80 were required, 

an HOA advisory Board, open active space, multi-use paths, dog waste stations along the trails, a 

bus pick-up location, 50% open space, 50% tree save, a green stormwater control mechanism, a 

pollinator garden, and a modified type D buffer on Arendell. It was stated the developer met and 

exceeded the design guidelines outlined in the Town’s UDO.  

 

There were details given about the donation of land for the fire station. Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas 

explained the condition was re-worded so the land would be dedicated to the Town for a permitted 

use under R-6.  

 

Domenick Schilling asked about the feasibility of the fire station. Adam Culpepper explained 

Chief Perry engaged the consultant to perform the full-scale analysis on the property to ensure the 

property was a good fit for a fire station.  

 

Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas gave details about the connector road from Arendell to Wakefield that 

the developer was providing with the project. 

 

Jeff Hochanadel with the Timmons Group spoke about the Traffic Impact Analysis (“TIA”) 

process and his report.  

 

George Road asked if the additional cars would impact the timing que. Mr. Hochandel explained 

the study further. Per the analysis there was adequate capacity. There was a question about those 

wanting to go north on Arendell out of the development. Mr. Hochandel explained there would be 

a stop sign at the exit of the development and adequate gaps available.  

Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas spoke about the state and county mandated process to relocate the four 

gravesites on the property. The archaeologist prepared a report answering the questions that were 

asked at the Joint Public Hearing.  

 

Page 278



Planning Board 

Minutes 

March 11, 2024 
 

3 

 

David Lowry asked if they had heard back from any of the 55 potential family members of the 

gravesites. Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas explained they had heard back from some, but it was mostly 

questions about geology research. Rob Rudloff spoke about the responses they had received. There 

were no objections to the relocation.  

 

Domenick Schilling asked about the developer’s plan for the gravesites if the relocation was not 

approved. Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas stated the area could be fenced off and made as an open 

space.  

 

Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas further reviewed the updates that were made since the Joint Public 

Hearing including language for land dedication, adding active recreation for teens, and addressing 

concerns of affordable housing.  

 

Niya Moton asked how the three affordable homes would be marketed. Rob Rudloff spoke about 

programs builders can work through for those looking for affordable housing.  

 

Stephanie Jenkins asked about the price point for all the homes. Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas 

explained the development was years away from build out and did not know what the prices would 

be at that time.  

 

Niya Moton had questions about the affordable home prices. Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas stated the 

price would be based on the HUD numbers at the time the homes were finished. Michal Clark 

further explained the affordable homes would be priced according to the HUD calculation for 

affordable housing.  

 

George Roa asked if there was a percentage requirement for affordable housing. Michael Clark 

stated a housing study was included in the FY 25 budget. Based upon the outcome of the study the 

results could drive text amendment changes. The developer was adding affordable homes on their 

own to bring to the new neighborhood. 

 

Stephanie Jenkins had a question about the square footage of the homes in the development. Rob 

Rudloff estimated the townhomes to be approximately 1,700 sq ft to 3,000 sq ft for single family 

homes.  

 

Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas explained a crosswalk and bump out was added to make the crosswalk 

safer for pedestrians crossing the road for the private trail.  

 

Niya Moton questioned if the HOA could regulate rentals. Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas explained 

the developer was unable to regulate occupancy in a zoning ordinance. A rental restriction could 

be added by the HOA Advisory Board if they chose to do so. The HOA Advisory Board would be 

established after 25% of the neighborhood was built.  

 

David Lowry asked about the garbage pickup for the attached homes. Adam Culpeper explained 

that would be determined by Public Works.  

 

Domenick Schilling made a motion, second by Laura Johnson to recommend approval of PD 2024-

01 Zebulon South. There was no discussion and the motion failed with a vote 3 to 4 with Domenick 

Page 279



Planning Board 

Minutes 

March 11, 2024 
 

4 

 

Schilling, Laura Johnson and David Lowry voting in favor and Stephanie Jenkins, George Roa, 

Niya Motion and Kyle Adams voting in opposition. 

 

George Roa stated he wanted to look more into the traffic study and information about the 

affordable homes.  

 

Ashley Honeycutt Terrazas spoke about the impact fees that the Town would receive to mitigate 

growth that was already coming. It was also explained how the development was also bringing 

more housing variety.  

 

George Roa stated he was pro-growth but had concerns about the wetlands on the property and the 

number of homes being placed on the property as well as the deviations in the conditions.  

 

David Lowry explained how the developer had agreed to all the requests that were made.  

 

Sam Slater stated the Planning Board’s job was to make a recommendation, but if one was not 

made within 30 days the Board of Commissioners could act without a recommendation.  

 

Stephanie Jenkins spoke about her concerns of homes being packed into the area and the increased 

traffic it would bring.  

 

Domenick Schilling explained in order to get the commercial growth wanted, the Town needed 

the residential communities like what was being proposed.  

 

George Roa made a motion, second by Stephane Jenkins to recommend denial of PD 2024-01 

Zebulon South.  

 

George Roa stated deviations from the UDO was his reason to recommend denial with the 

developer not meeting standard 4.  

 

There was no further discussion and the motion passed with a vote 4 to 3 with Stephanie Jenkins, 

George Roa, Niya Motion and Kyle Adams voting in favor and Domenick Schilling, Laura 

Johnson and David Lowry voting in opposition. 

 

DEVELOPMENT UPDATES  

Adam Culpepper provided development updates. 

 

Laura Johnson made a motion, second by Stephanie Jenkins to adjourn. There was no discussion 

and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

Adopted this the 12th day of August 2024. 

 

                                 __________________________________ 

                                                                           David Lowry—Chair  

 

SEAL   

       ___________________________________ 

        Stacie Paratore, CMC—Deputy Town Clerk 

Page 280


	Street Address of the Property: 1800 Shepard School Road
	Acreage: 35.40 Acres
	Parcel Identification Number NC PIN: 2706337118
	Deed Book: 019582
	Deed Pages: 01856-01861
	Existing Zoning of the Property: Residential Suburban (R2)
	Proposed Zoning of the Property: Planned Development District (PD)
	Existing Use of the Property: Residential
	Proposed Use of the Property: Campground/Recreational Vehicle Park
	Reason for rezoning to a Planned Unit Development: The applicant seeks to develop the property as a Campground and Recreational Vehicle Park, and believes a Planned Development District will allow for greater transparency and certainty to the public and surrounding residents regarding the location of buildings and campground/recreational vehicle park features and amenities. Additionally, a Planned Development District allows the applicant to modify various UDO standards that better enable the applicant to develop a more environmentally-conscious project than would otherwise be possible without the modifications. 
	Name of ApplicantAgent: Roger Honbarrier Investments, Inc. / Agent: Jennifer Ashton, Longleaf Law Partners
	Street Address of ApplicantAgent: 10240 Durant Road / Agent: 4509 Creedmoor Road, Suite 302
	City: Raleigh
	State: NC
	Zip Code: 27614 / Agent: 27612
	Email of ApplicantAgent: rrimmele@gmail.com / Agent: jashton@longleaflp.com
	Telephone Number of ApplicantAgent: 908-268-3043 / Agent: 919-780-5433
	Fax Number of ApplicantAgent: N/A
	Name of Property Owner: Roger B. Honbarrier
	Street Address of Property Owner: 6588 Wakefalls Drive
	City_2: Wake Forest
	State_2: NC
	Zip Code_2: 27587
	Email of Property Owner: rbhinc@bellsouth.net
	Telephone Number of Property Owner: 919-630-2806
	Fax Number of Property Owner: N/A
	Signature of Applicant: 
	Print Name: 
	Date: 
	Signature of Owner: 
	Print Name_2: 
	Date_2: 
	1 Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Development advances the public health safety or welfareRow1: The proposed Planned Development advances the public health, safety or welfare because a Campground and Recreational Vehicle Park use will cater to families and visitors to the Town of Zebulon who enjoy outdoor and nature activities and a healthy, active lifestyle.  It further advances the Town's economic development goals of bringing new visitors to Downtown and to surrounding businesses within the Town.  It further advances the Town's goals of widening Shepard School Road per the Comprehensive Transportation Plan, and provides for a dedication of land to complete the greenway trail connection from the Shepard's Park Subdivision to Shepard School Road.
	2 Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Development is appropriate for its proposed location and is consistent with the purposes goals objectives and policies of the Towns adopted policy guidanceRow1: The proposed Planned Development is consistent with the Town's Comprehensive Development Plan's Suburban Residential land use designation (and similarly the Suburban Commercial land use designation) given the Project allows more opportunity for natural and/or swale drainage by utilizing existing ponds for stormwater control.  Additionally, the Project promotes conservation design and provides for greater open space amenities than a traditional subdivision design would normally depict.  Additionally, the Project is consistent with the Town’s Comprehensive Land Use Plan and Vision 2030 Strategic Plan goals of revitalizing Downtown by providing visitors to the Town with a temporary place to stay while vacationing or visiting friends and family, which will assist in drawing visitors to Downtown Zebulon and nearby businesses.
	3 Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Development is reasonable and in the public interestRow1: The proposed Planned Development is reasonable and in the public interest as it provides visitors to the Town with a temporary place to stay while vacationing or visiting friends and family, which will assist in drawing visitors to Downtown Zebulon and nearby businesses.
	4 Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development provides for innovative land planning and site design concepts that support a high quality of life and achieve a high quality of development environmental sensitivity energy efficiency and other Town goals and objectivesRow1: The proposed development meets the intent of the PD District set forth in UDO Section 3.5.5.A. in multiple ways. First, the PD District allows the applicant to preserve open space and natural site features by developing the site with a campground and recreational vehicle park, which maintains the established rural land use of the site and requires less asphalt and impervious surface area than a residential development or higher-intensity commercial development. Second, the campground and recreational vehicle park use provides guests with a unique experience by allowing them to vacation and relax amongst the site’s natural and man-made features such as trees, hilly terrain, and ponds.  Third, the Project significantly reduces and diminishes the number of daily and peak hour trips to and from the site compared to a single-family residential community developed under the Residential Suburban (R2) Zoning District, or some higher intensity residential or commercial zoning designation, which benefits the Town and its residents by maintaining levels of service on existing roads. Fourth, the intended development will widen Shepard School Road along its frontage to centerline, in accordance with the Town’s Comprehensive Transportation Plan (CTP calls for Shepard School Road to be a 4-lane median divided road to accommodate future growth and traffic from surrounding areas). Fifth, the campground and recreational vehicle park development will dedicate land to the Town for an extension of the greenway trail along the northernmost boundary of the site, which integrates the site to the greenway trail system, and provides a necessary land to link from the existing greenway trail at the Shepard’s Park Subdivision to Shepard School Road. Sixth, the PD District allows the applicant to provide greater transparency and certainty to the public and surrounding residents regarding the location of buildings and campground/recreational vehicle park features and amenities. Seventh, the PD District allows the applicant to modify various UDO standards that better enable the applicant to develop a more environmentally-conscious project than would otherwise be possible without the modifications. 
	5 Please provide details on how the proposed planned unit development provides improved means of access open space and design amenitiesRow1: The proposed Planned Development provides improved access to the site through the widening of Shepard School Road along the property's frontage to meet the Town's CTP requirements, and through the dedication of land for the new greenway trail link at the north end of the site. Additionally, the Planned Development provides improved open space and design amenities to preserve the rural character of the site, and fully utilizes the existing natural resources on site such as the hilly terrain, trees, and ponds.
	6 Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development provides a wellintegrated mix of residential and nonresidential land uses in the same development including a mix of housing types lot sizes and densitiesRow1: The proposed Planned Development does not provide residential uses, except for a caretaker's residence.  Dwellings are prohibited within the Campground and Recreational Vehicle Park, except for such caretaker's residence.
	7 Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development creates a system of incentives for redevelopment and infill in order to revitalize established areasRow1: The proposed Planned Development provides visitors to the Town with a temporary place to stay while vacationing or visiting friends and family, which will assist in drawing visitors to Downtown Zebulon and nearby businesses. This new lodging option will assist in the Town's goals of revitalizing its Downtown.
	8 Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development promotes a vibrant public realm by placing increased emphasis on active ground floor uses pedestrianoriented building façade design intensive use of sidewalks and establishment of public gathering areasRow1: The Planned Development promotes a vibrant public realm through the dedication of land for the greenway trail extension at the north end of the site.  Additionally, the Planned Development will assist in widening Shepard School Road along its frontage per the Town's CTP, and such extension will include pedestrian improvements such as sidewalks.
	9 Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development provides for efficient use of land resulting in smaller networks of utilities and streets and thereby lowering development and housing costs andRow1: The Planned Development provides for efficient use of the land by significantly reducing the development intensity that could occur on site under the current Residential Suburban (R2) zoning designation.  This reduction in intensity results in a smaller demand for public utilities and the use of other public infrastructure such as roadways.
	10 Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development provides quality design and environmentally sensitive development that respects surrounding established land use character and respects and takes advantage of a sites natural and manmade features such as trees estuaries shorelines special flood hazard area and historic featuresRow1: The Planned Development seeks to utilize the existing topography and ponds for stormwater, which will assist in reducing erosion and increase water quality.  Additionally, the Planned Development is designed so as to respect and maintain the rural character of the land by retaining the existing ponds, hilly terrain and many of the existing trees.
	11 Other factors as the Board of Commissioners may determine to be relevantRow1: 
	Submittal Date: 
	undefined: 
	full name of agent to act on my behalf to submit or have submitted this application and all required material and: 
	Print Name_3: 
	Date_3: 
	Print Name_4: 
	Date_4: 
	Plot plan showing all existing and planned structures building setback lines perimeter:             X
	Elevation drawings of all buildings indicating the proposed exterior finish materials:             X
	Landscaping plan lighting fencing screening and walls indicating all heights and 1:             X
	Landscaping plan lighting fencing screening and walls indicating all heights and 2:             X
	Offstreet parking and loading facilities with calculations showing how the quantities 1:             X
	Offstreet parking and loading facilities with calculations showing how the quantities 2:             X
	undefined_2:             X
	The location and types of all signs including lighting and heights with elevation 1:             X
	The location and types of all signs including lighting and heights with elevation 2:             X
	undefined_3:             X
	Such additional items and conditions including design standards as the Planning Board: 
	Trip generation data and TIA if applicable in accordance with Section 613 of the:             X
	to: Residential Suburban (R2)
	It is understood and acknowledged that if the property: Planned Development District (PD)
	1: Campground
	25: 
	2: Recreational Vehicle Park
	26: 
	3: 
	27: 
	4: 
	28: 
	5: 
	29: 
	6: 
	30: 
	7: 
	31: 
	8: 
	32: 
	9: 
	33: 
	10: 
	34: 
	11: 
	35: 
	12: 
	36: 
	13: 
	37: 
	14: 
	38: 
	15: 
	39: 
	16: 
	40: 
	17: 
	41: 
	18: 
	42: 
	19: 
	43: 
	20: 
	44: 
	21: 
	45: 
	22: 
	46: 
	23: 
	47: 
	24: 
	48: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 1: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 2: Requested Deviations:
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 3: A. Deviation from UDO Sec. 4.3.5.LL.4--Modified Type D buffers have been provided along the Eastern Boundary and a portion of the Western Boundary adjacent to 1617 Shepard School Road to accommodate existing tree canopy.
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 4: Additionally, a Type C Buffer is provided along the northern boundary in lieu of the Type D buffer due to existing 20' sanitary sewer easement as well as riparian setbacks.
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 5: B. No provision of sidewalks along internal driveway given it is not a public street under UDO Sec. 5.3.2.E.1.f and Sec. 6.10.3
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 6: and given that the provision of sidewalks would be duplicative of the extensive internal walking paths provided on site, which serve
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 7: to provide an equivalent level of pedestrian circulation per UDO Sec. 6.8.1.C.3.
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 8: C. No provision of curb and gutter along internal private driveway given it is not a public street under UDO Sec. 6.10.3,
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 9: and given the provision of curb and gutter will increase erosion and not allow for the natural sheet flow into the retaining ponds
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 10: that currently exist on site.
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 11: D. No provision of full cross-vehicular and pedestrian connections to the Shepard's Park Subdivision (except through the greenway trail connection) given that the
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 12: campground/recreational vehicle park's internal driveway is not a public street, but is an internal drive for guest-use only
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 13: controlled by a main gate at the entrance.  It is intended that there will be no traffic from the campground into the 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 14: single-family neighborhood and vice versa, except for emergency vehicles, in order to ensure the safety and security of all parties.
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 15: E. Provision of 12 toilets for the 85 campsites in lieu of the requirements of UDO Sec. 4.3.5.LL.8 given that these
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 16: proposed facility numbers exceed the requirements set forth in the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA)
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 17: 1194 Standard for Recreational Vehicle Parks and Campgrounds. 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 18: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 19: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 20: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 21: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 22: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 23: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 24: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 25: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 26: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 27: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 28: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 29: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 30: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 31: 
	conditions requested deviations and proposed alternative means of compliance Attach additional pages as needed 32: 
	Parcel AddressRow1: See attached List
	Parcel ID NumberRow1: 
	Owners NameRow1: 
	Parcel AddressRow2: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow2: 
	Owners NameRow2: 
	Parcel AddressRow3: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow3: 
	Owners NameRow3: 
	Parcel AddressRow4: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow4: 
	Owners NameRow4: 
	Parcel AddressRow5: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow5: 
	Owners NameRow5: 
	Parcel AddressRow6: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow6: 
	Owners NameRow6: 
	Parcel AddressRow7: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow7: 
	Owners NameRow7: 
	Parcel AddressRow8: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow8: 
	Owners NameRow8: 
	Parcel AddressRow9: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow9: 
	Owners NameRow9: 
	Parcel AddressRow10: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow10: 
	Owners NameRow10: 
	Parcel AddressRow11: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow11: 
	Owners NameRow11: 
	Parcel AddressRow12: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow12: 
	Owners NameRow12: 
	Parcel AddressRow13: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow13: 
	Owners NameRow13: 
	Parcel AddressRow14: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow14: 
	Owners NameRow14: 
	Parcel AddressRow15: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow15: 
	Owners NameRow15: 
	Parcel AddressRow16: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow16: 
	Owners NameRow16: 
	Parcel AddressRow17: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow17: 
	Owners NameRow17: 
	Parcel AddressRow18: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow18: 
	Owners NameRow18: 
	Parcel AddressRow19: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow19: 
	Owners NameRow19: 
	Parcel AddressRow20: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow20: 
	Owners NameRow20: 
	Parcel AddressRow21: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow21: 
	Owners NameRow21: 
	Parcel AddressRow22: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow22: 
	Owners NameRow22: 
	Parcel AddressRow23: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow23: 
	Owners NameRow23: 
	Parcel AddressRow24: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow24: 
	Owners NameRow24: 
	Parcel AddressRow25: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow25: 
	Owners NameRow25: 
	Parcel AddressRow26: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow26: 
	Owners NameRow26: 
	Parcel AddressRow27: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow27: 
	Owners NameRow27: 
	Parcel AddressRow28: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow28: 
	Owners NameRow28: 
	Parcel AddressRow29: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow29: 
	Owners NameRow29: 
	Parcel AddressRow30: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow30: 
	Owners NameRow30: 
	Parcel AddressRow31: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow31: 
	Owners NameRow31: 
	Parcel AddressRow32: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow32: 
	Owners NameRow32: 
	Parcel AddressRow33: 
	Parcel ID NumberRow33: 
	Owners NameRow33: 
	Development NameRow1: See attached list
	Contact PersonRow1: 
	AddressRow1: 
	Development NameRow2: 
	Contact PersonRow2: 
	AddressRow2: 
	Development NameRow3: 
	Contact PersonRow3: 
	AddressRow3: 
	Check Box45: Off
	Check Box46: Yes
	Check Box47: Yes
	Check Box48: Off
	Address: 1800 Shepard School Rd
	Pin Numbers: 2706337118
	The following is a description of the proposed also see attached maps andor plan sheets 1: The applicant is seeking to rezone the parcel from Residential Suburban (R2) to a Planned Development District (PD). The proposed use is a Vacation RV Park and Campground.
	The following is a description of the proposed also see attached maps andor plan sheets 2: The proposed master plan will be discussed at the neighborhood meeting, and hard copies of the plan will be available for distribution.
	The following is a description of the proposed also see attached maps andor plan sheets 3: 
	The following is a description of the proposed also see attached maps andor plan sheets 4: 
	Estimated Submittal Date: February 1, 2024
	Property Owners Names: Joe Wayne Tippett, Garland Lyn Tant, and Matthew Darryl Tant
	Applicants: Jennifer Ashton, Longleaf Law Partners
	Contact Information emailphone: jashton@longleaflp.com; 919-780-5433
	Meeting Address: Zebulon Community Center - Classroom,  301 S. Arendell Avenue, Zebulon, NC 27597
	Date of Meeting: January 23, 2024
	Time of Meeting: 5:00 - 7:00 p.m.
	Check Box40: Off
	Check Box41: Yes
	Check Box42: Off
	Check Box43: Off
	Check Box44: Off
	Development Contacts: 
	Project Name: 1800 Shepard School Road Rezoning
	Zoning: From Residential Suburban (R2) to Planned Development District (PD)
	Location: 1800 Shepard School Road
	Property PINs: 2706337118
	AcreageSquare Feet: 35.40 Acres
	Property Owner: Joe Wayne Tippett, Garland Lyn Tant, and Matthew Darryl Tant
	Address_2: P.O. Box 204
	City#1: Zebulon
	State#1: NC
	Zip: 27597-0204
	Phone: 919-404-1405
	Email: dallas@dallaspearcerealty.com
	Developer: Roger Honbarrier Investments, Inc.; Attn: Roger Honbarrier and Ryan Rimmele
	Address_3: 10240 Durant Road
	City_2#1: Raleigh
	State_2#1: NC
	Zip_2: 27614
	Phone_2: 908-268-3043 
	Fax: N/A
	Email_2: rbhinc@bellsouth.net; rrimmele@gmail.com
	Engineer: Design Team Is: Environmental Design Group; Attn: Steven Kolaric and Stefanie Smith
	Address_4: 450 Grant Street
	City_3: Akron
	State_3: OH
	Zip_3: 44311
	Phone_3: 330-375-1390
	Fax_2: N/A
	Email_3: skolaric@envdesigngroup.com; ssmith@envdesigngroup.com
	Builder if known: Same As Developer Above
	Address_5: 
	City_4: 
	State_4: 
	Zip_4: 
	Phone_4: 
	Fax_3: 
	Email_4: 
	Project Name_3: 1800 Shephard School Road Rezoning
	Meeting Address_3: Zebulon Community Center - 301 S. Arendall Avenue
	Date of Meeting_3: January 23, 2024
	Time of Meeting_3: 5pm-7pm
	Property Owners Names_3: Joe Wayne Tippett, Garland Lyn Tant, and Matthew Darry Tant
	Applicants_3: Roger Honbarrier and Ryan Rimmele/Agent: Jennifer Ashton, Longleaf Law Partners
	Question Concern 1 1: Where are the proposed entrances and exits to the property? 
	Question Concern 1 2: 
	Applicant Response 1: Jennifer Ashton displayed on the draft site plan the proposed entrances to 
	Applicant Response 2: the site. She also explained Zebulon's future development plan to widen the roadway near the
	Applicant Response 3: property. 
	Question Concern 2 1: What does the potential traffic look like? 
	Question Concern 2 2: 
	Applicant Response 1_2: Jennifer Ashton shared the estimated additional daily trips when the site is at full capacity. 
	Applicant Response 2_2: She also explained what the traffic impact could be if a subdivision was to be developed by right and the   
	Applicant Response 3_2: difference in those two numbers.
	Question Concern 3 1: What is a yurt? 
	Question Concern 3 2: 
	Applicant Response 1_3: Roger Honbarrier explained what a yurt looks like and its function. He also
	Applicant Response 2_3: supplied pictures for the residents to view. 
	Applicant Response 3_3: 
	Question Concern 4 1: Where will the clubhouse be located on the site? 
	Question Concern 4 2: 
	Applicant Response 1_4: Jennifer Ashton showed the attendees where the proposed location is on the
	Applicant Response 2_4: draft site plan.
	Applicant Response 3_4: 


